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4 THE FEDERATION

the strife between parties was singularly intense and bitter.
When, in 1837, this strife reached the stage of an appeal to
arms, it was time for a larger-minded statesmanship to take
Canada in hand. The Earl of Durham was sent out from
Britain. He probed the situation to the bottom, found that
the chief enemy of peace was sectionalism, and proposed a
remedy. Henceforth there should be but one parliament ;
all Canada should be under a single legislature.

Thus it came about that the Union Act of 1841 was passed
by the imperial parliament. Canada had then but one
legislature. In it sat French and English, and they could
discuss their differences face to face. But the Union did not
work well. The two Canadas were united by act of parlia-
ment, but they were not united in any other sense. Each
section treasured its old ideals. Each party had even its
English and its French leader. The old sectional differences
remained. Parties were almost evenly divided. In the end
the machinery of the Union broke down, and then the new
task of the political leaders in Canada was to evolve a real
and workable union.

The new system was the federal system established in 1867.
Past failure had made wider vision necessary, and now the
Canadian leaders reached out to form a state greater than
the old Canada. In the East, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick,
and Prince Edward Island came into the union, though
Newfoundland stayed out. In the West, Canada secured
the mighty heritage of prairie and mountain that stretches
from the western borders of Ontario to the Pacific Ocean.
A petty colony had become continental in extent. This vast
territory might be made the home of a great nation, and to
work towards this goal has been the task of the leaders in
Canadian life since 1867. The history of Canada during this
momentous period is not a tale of courts and camps, of the
workings of diplomacy to avert or to lead to war, of the
struggles between those who cherish what is old and what they
think is good and those who dream of a new and better order.
The pomp of a stately and well-ordered society, movements
in art and literature, the menaces and friendships of other
nations, have but little place in the narrative. The story is
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one of internal organization, of trade policy, of the occupation
of land hitherto almost unpeopled, of the opening up of
communication and the building of railways and canals, of
the working of political institutions, of the disputes of the
central government in its relations with the provincial
governments and of the clear definition of their respective
powers. In one sense it is not a dramatic tale ; it has little
of the glitter and ceremonial of old-world movements. But,
none the less, it is a profoundly romantic story of the birth of
a nation and of its passing from neglected obscurity into a
conspicuous place. The Canadian statesmen of 1867, with
one of their chief problems that of contriving, somehow, to
build a railway from Quebec to Halifax, might well be
staggered before Canada's problem of to-day as to how she
can best discharge her duty in respect to world politics.

Two figures stand most conspicuous in this later history
of Canada ; they are Sir John Macdonald and Sir Wilfrid
Laurier. Since 1854 one or other of these leaders has been in
the forefront of the political battle. During this time Sir
John Macdonald was, in effect, if not always in name, prime
minister for nearly thirty years, and Sir Wilfrid Laurier for
half that period.

To hold the divergent elements in Canada together in
one state, and to enlarge this state so as to include the whole
of British North America, was the chief task which Macdonald
faced as prime minister in 1867. He was well qualified for the
work by his amazing skill and dexterity in managing men.
He was aided too by the times. The federated colonies had
just seen their mighty neighbour, the United States, fight
through a bloody civil war on the question of national unity,
and they had seen the forces of unity triumph. The lesson
was not lost on them. Skilful leadership had brought them
together, and the same skilful leadership now set to work to
forge them into one people.

In the first instance, at least, it was to be actual links of
steel that held the union together. A railway was soon built
to bind the Maritime Provinces to the older Canada, and a
greater railway was to stretch westward to link the far Pacific
with the Atlantic, across Canadian territory. There were
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fewer than fifty thousand people, other than native Indians,
west of Ontario, when Canada undertook to build a railway
for thousands of miles across far-spreading plains and through
towering mountains. No wonder many said that the thing
could not be done ; no wonder that governments rose and
fell on this issue. But the thing was done, and the Canadian
Pacific Railway stands to-day as the first great achieved
material task of the new Canada.

To run these two parallel lines of steel from ocean to ocean
may seem but a small thing for a people to achieve. It meant,
however, things greater than itself. In the older Canada, the
story of settlement is one of hewing step by step a painful
path inland from river and lake, of laborious warfare with the
enveloping forest, of a lifetime spent in winning green fields
from this forest’s encroaching strength. The rough wagon
road was then the symbol of advance ; the ox and the horse
were the motive power by which the advance was achieved.
In the newer Canada, the Canadian Pacific Railway led to a
different tale. The straight-driven line of steel, the long,
swiftly moving train, the mysterious, the almost incalculable,
power of steam are the symbols of its advance. It was long
before the new meaning of these agencies for settlement was
felt in Canada. The West grew but slowly, even after the
Canadian Pacific Railway had been built. But the pause was
only to gather strength for a greater effort. The line from
the East to the West had been completed by 1885, and ten
or twelve years later the movement westward was strong ;
in twenty years, that is by 1905, it had begun to attract
world-wide attention, and soon it became one of the wonders
of the world. With unprecedented rapidity towns and cities
spring up in the new West. Not one, but three lines of rail-
way are reaching out from the Atlantic to the Pacific, and a
great population will soon dwell in the once empty region
which Canada acquired after Confederation.

The commercial system under which the development
should be regulated has from the first been the subject of
acute controversy in Canada. Twelve years after Confedera-
tion was achieved, Canada turned its back definitely upon the
policy of a tariff for revenue only and adopted that of a
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protective tariff. It was Sir John Macdonald who led in
this policy, and it remains that of the conservative party.
The liberal party, while not definitely committed to free
trade, has aimed at preserving a low tariff. In pursuance of
this aim, Sir Wilfrid Laurier, who came into power in 1896
and remained prime minister until 1911, took two steps
towards freer trade. He gave a reduction of one-third of the
tariff to British manufactures, and he agreed to a limited
reciprocity in trade with the United States. The conservative
party opposed both measures and drove the liberals from
power in 1911 on the reciprocity issue. Thus one striking
phase of the development of Canada since Confederation is
represented by protection. The older Canada had a low
tariff ; the new Canada has a high tariff.

The federation of the Canadian provinces involved the
working of a new and as yet untried system. An essential
feature of federal government is the division of power between
the central federal authority and the local authority in each
province. The avowed aim of Sir John Macdonald was to
make the provincial governments subordinate to the federal
government at Ottawa. To carry out this policy he thought,
while still prime minister, of becoming a member of the
Ontario legislature at Toronto in order to keep the province
in line with the policy of his administration. The liberals
took strong ground on their policy of provincial rights, and
claimed that the provinces, within their assigned spheres,
were sovereign communities, in the same sense in which the
federal government was sovereign. Keen disputes followed.
The tribunal to which the ultimate appeal went was the
Judicial Committee of the sovereign’s Privy Council in
London, and after Confederation this body was frequently
called upon to interpret the meaning of the British North
America Act. The ordinary reader of history cannot be
expected to take a keen interest in the niceties of the con-
stitutional points involved. Yet the history of Canada since
Confederation is largely occupied with them. They are, too,
of vital moment. To the people of each province the degree
of authority which their legislature should have was of pro-
found concern. Did their legislature or did the federal govern-
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ment control the liquor traffic ? What were the rights of a
province like Ontario to the natural resources, the minerals
and timber, within its borders ? What control might the
provinces exert over fisheries ? More important than all this
perhaps was the question whether the provinces had complete
control of education.

This last problem has proved disturbing in Canadian
politics from the date of Confederation. Owing to certain
factors in its being, Canada is the land of compromise in
politics. Nearly two-fifths of its people adhere to the Roman
Catholic faith, and more than one-half of these Roman
Catholics are French in origin and speech. The Province of
Quebec, the oldest and the most coherently organized of the
provinces, is overwhelmingly Roman Catholic in faith and
French in speech and race. Its neighbour Ontario, the most
populous of the provinces, is overwhelmingly Protestant
in faith and English in speech and race. The key to much
of the history of Canada is to be found in the natural
antagonism between these provinces, and in the appeals
to religious and racial passions, which were made easy by
their contrasts. In each province the minority had certain
educational rights guaranteed under the constitution ; the
Roman Catholics of Ontario had the right to employ the
taxes paid by them for education in the support of their own
separate schools; the Protestants in Quebec had similar
rights. Naturally the Roman Catholic minority wished for
such rights in the other provinces. Under the terms of
federation education was left in the control of the provincial
legislatures ; but, at the instance of the Roman Catholics,
a clause was inserted in the bill giving the Dominion parlia-
ment the power under certain conditions to protect the
educational rights of minorities and to pass legislation that
might override provincial action. In 1890 the legislature of
Manitoba abolished the Roman Catholic separate schools.
At once an agitation began to force the Dominion government
to intervene. Since the leaders of the Roman Catholic
Church in Manitoba were chiefly French Canadians, their
allies in the Province of Quebec took up their cause. Protes-
tant Ontario ranged itself on the opposite side, and once again
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a question was raised which appealed to the old antagonism
between the two chief provinces.

The question broke the long tenure of power by the con-
servatives. In 1891, while the dispute was still unsettled,
Sir John Macdonald died, and the Manitoba School Question
proved a deadly heritage to his successors. At last Sir
Charles Tupper, the conservative leader, undertook to enact
legislation which should re-establish separate schools in
Manitoba. The liberal party united to oppose this overriding
of the authority of the province in respect to education. It
was the old liberal cry of provincial rights. The conservative
government fell on the issue. Wilfrid Laurier (afterwards Sir
Wilfrid) came into power and held office continuously for
fifteen years. He fell when he advocated greater freedom
of trade with the United States. It was destined that while
he held power new issues should arise in Canadian politics,
issues that mark the greater sense of independence and
responsibility, and the broader outlook, of a growing nation.

Any one who surveys the history of the older Canada will
find traces everywhere of what may be called the colonial
habit of mind. The younger states of the British Empire
grew up with a sense of dependence on the mother country.
She had occupied or conquered the territory which they held ;
she retained final authority in their affairs, and it was her
duty, they said, to protect them from danger; they were
children in the arms of the strong mother. As late as 1861,
when the Civil War broke out in the United States, this
attitude was much in evidence in Canada. The Trent affair
led to the possibility of war between Great Britain and the
United States, and it was certain that if war broke out the
chief aim of the United States would be to conquer Canada.
In Britain there was acute concern and alarm over this
prospect, and prompt steps were taken to throw a military
force across the sea. It was striking that, at the same time,
there was singular apathy in Canada at the prospect of war ;
the Canadians appeared to think that it was for Britain to
look after them, and they concerned themselves but slightly
over the affair. They had the colonial habit of mind.

A new outlook was bound to come in time, and it came
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during the ministry of Sir Wilfrid Laurier. In Canada a
growing consciousness of national life made the people restless
at being the mere wards of the parent state. The Canadians
felt that they must learn to take care of themselves. As a
result of this state of mind Canada undertook to provide for
her own defence on land and the garrisons of imperial troops
in Canada were withdrawn. The new problem to face was
that of defence on the sea. This issue was forced on the minds
of the Canadian people by a seeming menace to Britain’s naval
supremacy. Germany began to build a mighty fleet, and the
rivalry between her and Britain attracted universal attention.
Usually the Canadian farmer was little disposed to give
thought to the larger issues involved in foreign policy. He
had no conviction that Canada should play a part in naval
defence. He could hardly believe that there was any danger
to himself. But the constant discussion in the newspapers
led him to conclude that there was danger to Britain, and,
thoroughly British at heart, he felt that the time had come to
aid instead of being merely aided. It may be said with
truth that nothing has served more effectively to develop the
sense of national life in Canada than the naval question.
There is a long step between the days when Canada had to ask
imperial aid to build the Intercolonial Railway and the days
when she began to face the problem of becoming the partner
of Great Britain in national defence.

Such has been the evolution of Canada since Confederation.
Canadian politics have in some respects close parallels with the
politics of Britain. The struggle for Home Rule in Ireland
becomes in Canada the struggle for provincial rights. The
same principles which cause sharp strife in Britain over the
place of religion in education are expressed in Canada in the
struggle over separate schools in Manitoba. The problem of
tariff reform in Britain is in Canada this same issue between
free trade and protection. The problems of federal govern-
ment in Canada steadily attract more attention in Britain
as suggesting possible solutions of some of the difficulties of
the homeland. Britain, with its long history, naturally has
questions in regard to landholding and taxation from which
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infancy in Scotland. When he arrived in Upper Canada in
1820 the country was in the pioneer stage, and there was but
a fringe of population along the St Lawrence. Macdonald’s
father was poor, and when the lad left school at fifteen and
entered upon the study of the law, it was under an arrange-
ment which enabled him to earn his living, and perhaps to
help his family. He carried a musket against the rebels of
1837. One of his first briefs was for Von Shoultz, a Polish
gentleman, who was hanged for his part in the rebellion.

Macdonald first entered public life as conservative candi-
date in Kingston in 1844,  to fill a gap,’ as he afterwards said.
The legislature had been dissolved by Sir Charles Metcalfe,
Governor of Canada, as a result of his rupture with the
Baldwin-La Fontaine ministry. Broadly speaking, the issue
was self-government. This at least was what the reformers
contended for, while Sir Charles Metcalfe believed that in
resisting them he was fighting against forces that tended to
disintegrate the Empire. His attitude made him virtually
the leader of the conservative or tory party in Canada during
the election of 1844, and Macdonald in his election address
accepted his view.

But Macdonald’s demeanour in his early parliamentary
career showed that he was watching events and preparing to
take his own course. He spoke seldom, and observed and
studied much. One of his contemporaries says that he often
looked ¢ half careless and half contemptuous, sometimes in
the library while the assembly was in a tumult, often buried
in a study of constitutional history.” He took office in 1847
under William Henry Draper, who was Metcalfe’s chief
friend and adviser. He shared in the fate of the ministry in
1848. The triumph of the reformers marked the end of the
old order ; henceforth Macdonald was to take his part in the
new era of self-government.

The first signal evidence of his skill as a political architect
was given in the formation of the coalition government of
1854. His policy at this time, as described by his biographer,
Sir Joseph Pope, was to draw into the conservative ranks all
men of moderate political views, no matter under what name
they had previously been known, and to bring the French
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Canadians to a realization of the fact that their natural
alliance was with the conservative party. At this time the
party took the name of ‘Liberal Conservative.’” Robert
Baldwin, the distinguished leader of the reformers, who no
longer took an active interest in public affairs, in a letter to
Francis Hincks gave his benediction to the new combination,
and those who agreed with him were called ‘ Baldwin Re-
formers.” Macdonald was also successful in winning over
to his side the dominant party in Quebec, an alliance which
remained firm up to the time of Confederation and for some
years afterwards.

Until Confederation John A. Macdonald had not a strong
and sure hold upon Upper Canada. Poweralternated between
him and the reformers, of whom George Brown was the
real, though not always the titular, leader. Finally, in the
early sixties, came deadlock, which was broken only by
Brown's offer of co-operation with Macdonald for the purpose
of federating the provinces. Macdonald and Brown entered
a coalition administration under Sir Etienne P. Taché, whose
venerable and benign personality made him acceptable to
both. Soon after the death of Taché, Brown left the coalition,
and the undisputed leadership fell to Macdonald, whose
humour and urbanity gave him great personal charm, enabled
him to turn enemies into friends, and won him an immense
following. He was, however, much more than a clever
politician and a gay companion. He rose to his oppor-
tunities, and he made a greater and more dignified figure
in confederated Canada than in the smaller Union. He
was a typical conservative, disliking constitutional change
and holding aloof from popular agitation. Nearly all the
great movements with which he was associated were
begun by others, and in some cases opposed by him at
the outset.

He was never attracted by the idea of federalizing the
existing union of Upper and Lower Canada. Ultimately
Confederation appealed to him as a means of enlarging the
territory and increasing the strength of Canada. His
imperial sympathies were strong and genuine ; his hope, as
he said in a speech on Confederation, was that Canada should
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become not a mere dependent colony of England, but ‘a
friendly nation—a subordinate but still a powerful people—
to stand by her in North America, in peace or war.’

Although George Brown was not a member of the govern-
ment or of the first parliament, he occupies a large place in
the history of the time. Itdid not fall to his lot to administer
the government of the new Confederation, but he was one
of its architects, if not the chief architect. He had filled a
great place in Upper Canada, as tribune, journalist, agitator,
advocate of causes. Born near Edinburgh in 1818, he came
to New York with his father as a young man, had some
experience in journalism there, moved to Toronto in 1843,
founded first the Banmner as a champion of Free Church
Presbyterianism, and then the Globe as the advocate of
responsible government, taking sides with Robert Baldwin
and the reformers against the governor, Sir Charles Metcalfe.
This struggle over, and responsible government apparently
safe, he worked for the secularization of the clergy reserves
and generally for religious equality. He became a powerful
opponent of the influence of French Canada and of the
Roman Catholic Church in politics, and a champion of Upper,
as against Lower, Canada. At length he decided that justice
could be obtained for Upper Canada by giving it represen-
tation according to population, instead of continuing the
arrangement by which the two sections were equally repre-
sented. As Lower Canada resisted this change, it was
suggested that a solution might be found in federalizing the
Union, thus leaving to each section the enjoyment of its own
liberties and local laws. In order to carry out this arrange-
ment, Brown consented to join forces temporarily with
Macdonald, and was persuaded to enter a coalition govern-
ment with his political rival and personal enemy. Various
reasons were assigned for his leaving the coalition, but the
strongest real reason was that the two leaders were not
personally congenial, and neither would yield to the other.
Some of Brown’s most intimate friends had opposed his
entering the coalition. It was in the nature of things
temporary, and the first opportunity for ending it was
eagerly seized.
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William M¢Dougall first became prominent in public life
as one of the leading spirits of the ‘ Clear Grit ’ party, a radical
organization which, in the time of Baldwin and La Fontaine,
advocated the election of officials, universal suffrage, vote by
ballot, fixed dates for elections and for the assembling of the
legislature, free trade and direct taxation, the reduction of
lawyers’ fees and the abolition of the Court of Chancery. As
a ¢ Clear Grit ' and editor of the North American he came into
violent conflict with George Brown and the Globe, but his
paper was subsequently amalgamated with the Globe, of which
he became chief editorial writer. He played a prominent part
in the Reform Convention of 1859, which advocated the
federation of Canada, and he was one of the earliest advocates
of the union of the North-West Territories with Canada.
He was a lawyer as well as a journalist, and in the later years
of his life gave most of his time to his law practice. M¢Dougall
was a man of commanding presence, with a concise, impressive
delivery. His mind was at once radical and constructive,
and there can be little doubt that his adherence to the coalition
of 1864 was due to his desire to be connected with two great
constructive works, Confederation and the acquisition of the
West. When he was appointed lieutenant-governor of the
North-West Territories and was prevented by Riel from
entering on his duties, his political prospects were seriously
impaired ; but his fault on this occasion was merely failure
to execute an impossible task.

For some years there was an attempt to carry on govern-
ment by means of a coalition. Confederation had been
brought about by a truce between George Brown with his
Upper Canada followers, and Sir John Macdonald with the
conservatives. Brown’s party friends in Lower Canada had
held aloof, and many of the Upper Canadian reformers were
distrustful of the alliance and glad when Brown withdrew
from the coalition government.

As the first election under the new system drew near, it
was necessary to settle definitely the attitude of the reformers
of Upper Canada towards the coalition. On June 27, 1867,
a convention of the reformers of Upper Canada was held.
There were present at this gathering William M¢Dougall and
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William P. Howland, who had entered the ministry as
liberals. They upheld their right to remain in that position.
M¢Dougall argued that the old party issues were dead and
buried, and that the Dominion of Canada was beginning with
a clean slate: that the work designed by the framers of
Confederation was not finished, but only begun. He and
Howland defended their positions with skill and force, but
they were overwhelmed by George Brown, Alexander Mac-
kenzie, and the other opponents of the coalition. The con-
vention resolved that the coalition of 1864 could be justified
only on the ground of imperious necessity, as a means of
obtaining just representation for the people of Upper Canada,
and should end as soon as this measure was attained ; that
the temporary alliance between the reform and conservative
parties should cease; and that there should be an end to
government maintained by a coalition of public men holding
opposite principles.

11
THE COALITION GOVERNMENT

IR JOHN MACDONALD persevered in his attempt at
governing by coalition, and it may be convenient.at
this point to show how the experiment worked out.

The coalition government won the election of 1867. The
people practically identified support of the government with
support of Confederation. Hence the vote of Nova Scotia
was hostile to Confederation as well as to the government,
while in Ontario, formerly a stronghold of reform, the govern-
ment was sustained by a large majority, and George Brown
himself was defeated in the riding of South Ontario.

Evidently, therefore, a considerable number of Ontario

reformers were willing to go a little farther in support of the
coalition than the reform convention had resolved. They
stood midway between Brown and M¢Dougall. Once the
new system of government had been firmly established they
returned to their old party allegiance. The reformers would
not accept as leader any of the liberals with whom Macdonald
allied himself. Some of these leaders retired from public
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life ; some, like Sir Leonard Tilley, went over to the con-
servative party. Before the first parliament had expired all
trace of the composite character of the ministry had dis-
appeared. It had become conservative. During the same
time the coalition government established by the influence of
Sir John Macdonald in Ontario under the leadership of John
Sandfield Macdonald was defeated and its place taken by a
liberal ministry.

Curious questions arose as to the composition of the
coalition government of Canada. At first there were three
liberals and two conservatives from Ontario, but when the
conservatives won a majority of the Ontario seats in the
election of 1867, it was contended that the proportions should
be reversed. Sir John Macdonald was attacked by both
liberals and conservatives, each alleging that their opponents
were favoured. He can hardly have deplored the change
which eventually surrounded him with his own party friends,
but there is no reason to suppose that this result was mainly
due to his design. He loved power, but he cared more for
its substance than for the name of the instrument by which
it was wielded. By temperament he was conservative ; but
he moved in a different plane from many of his zealous
partisans. He was capable of dissociating himself from
party prejudice, if he deemed this necessary for the promotion
either of personal ambition or of the public service. Hence
his attempts at forming coalitions, which failed mainly because
the people did not want them, because the energetic and
aggressive men of the parties were too strong for them; and
this was especially true of the reformers of Ontario.

The construction of the first ministry illustrates some of
the political difficulties to be solved. Party politics, religion,
race and locality had each to be considered. The ministry must
be composed in almost equal proportions of liberals and
conservatives. Each province was to be represented accord-
ing to population. There must be so many French-Canadian
representatives of Quebec, and also a special representative of
the English minority in that province. There must be so
many Protestants and so many Roman Catholics, and of the
Roman Catholics one must be Irish. At length the delicate
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task was completed, and the ministry was formed as
follows :

Conservatives

Jonn A. MACDONALD, minister of Justice and attorney-
general,

GEORGES E. CARTIER, minister of Militia and Defence.

ALEXANDER T. GALT, minister of Finance.

ALEXANDER CAMPBELL, postmaster-general.

JEAN CHARLES CHAPAIS, minister of Agriculture.

HEecToR L. LANGEVIN, secretary of state for Canada.

EpwaArp KENNY, receiver-general.

Liberals

WiLL1AM M¢DoOUGALL, minister of Public Works.
WiLrLiam P. HOWLAND, minister of Inland Revenue.
Apawm J. F. BLAIR, president of the Privy Council.
SAMUEL L. TILLEY, minister of Customs.

PETER MITCHELL, minister of Marine and Fisheries.
Apams G. ARCHIBALD, secretary of state for the Provinces.

Writs were issued for the first general election in August
1867, and the elections were held during August and Sep-
tember. The government won a decisive victory in every
province except Nova Scotia.

The first parliament assembled on November 6, 1867.
The speech from the throne declared that the Act of Union
conferred upon parliament the right of ‘ reducing to practice
the system of government which it has called into existence,
of consolidating its institutions, harmonizing its administra-
tive details, and of making such legislative provisions as will
secure to a constitution in some respects novel, a full, fair
and unprejudiced trial.” Legislation was enacted for the
management of the revenue and the establishment of various
departments of government : public works, the post office,
militia and defence, justice, customs, inland revenue, secretary
of state, marine and fisheries, and for the organization of the
civil service. A banking act and a railway act were passed.
Provision was made for building the Intercolonial Railway,
and resolutions were adopted for the admission of Rupert’s
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Land and the North-West Territories into the Dominion.
The indemnity of members was fixed at $600 for the session.

The first public accounts showed a revenue of $13,687,000,
an expenditure of $13,486,000, and a net debt of $75,728,000.
The exports of Canadian products were $45,543,177, of which
$17,905,808 went to Great Britain, $22,387,846 to the
United States, and $5,249,523 to other countries. Imports
were $67,000,000, of which $37,600,000 came from the United
States and $23,600,000 from Great Britain. It was the day of
small things.

The session was held in two parts, one from November 7
to December 21, and the other from March 12 to May 22.
The interval was for the purpose of allowing the provincial
legislatures to be organized, and this necessity arose from the
system of dual representation under which the same person
might sit in the Dominion parliament and in a provincial
legislature at the same time. John Sandfield Macdonald,
the first prime minister of Ontario, was also a member
of the Dominion parliament. Pierre Chauveau, the prime
minister of Quebec, Blake, Cartier, Dunkin, Langevin and
other members were in a similar dual position. The dual
system was not abolished until several years after Con-
federation.

One of the leading members of this government and parlia-
ment was Georges Etienne Cartier. His public career began
in storm. As a law student, twenty-three years of age, he
took part in the Rebellion of 1837, and was compelled to flee
to the United States and to remain there until an amnesty
was proclaimed. In the struggle for responsible government
from 1844 to 1848 he supported La Fontaine. He entered
parliament in 1849, and in 1855 became a member of the
Taché-Macdonald government. He was thus associated with
Macdonald at about the time of the formation of the liberal-
conservative coalition. In a few years he was the leader of
the Lower Canada conservatives and Macdonald’s chief ally.
In 1855 Cartier was ranked as a liberal, and insisted that in
joining hands with MacNab and Macdonald he was not giving
up his liberal principles.

Cartier advocated with energy the construction of railways
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and the deepening of the St Lawrence, and used the expression,
* Our policy is a policy of railways.” He was one of the Fathers
of Confederation, and to him was chiefly due the support
which the Province of Quebec gave to that measure. While
Macdonald’s preference was for legislative union, Cartier
was a strong federalist and insisted upon the constitution
taking that form. He frankly championed the special interests
of Quebec, and tried to organize a solid vote from that
province. Energy, audacity, and boundless optimism were
his leading characteristics.

Alexander Tilloch Galt was a son of John Galt, the
distinguished novelist, and one of the chief promoters of
settlement in Western Ontario. Galt entered public life in
1849, was an opponent of Baldwin and La Fontaine, voted
against the Rebellion Losses Bill, and signed the annexation
manifesto. He was not a tory of the type of Sir Allan
MacNab, but belonged rather to the class of Canadians
referred to by Lord Durham, who declared that ‘ in order to
remain English they would cease to be British,’ that is, they
would take up annexation with the United States as a refuge
from French domination. He was always a staunch champion
of the Protestant minority in Quebec. His annexation ideas
were short-lived, and in 1858 he appears as an advocate of
Confederation. His scheme was remarkably well thought
out, and closely resembled that which was adopted several
years afterwards. He was also, as minister of Finance of
old Canada, the author of a protective tariff, and he stoutly
and ably vindicated Canada’s right to impose duties on
British imports. He was one of the authors of Confederation,
and at the various conferences acted as the chief representa-
tive of the Protestant minority of Quebec, and did his best to
have their rights protected in the British North America Act.
Although he was chosen as the first minister of Finance after
Confederation, he remained only a few months in the govern-
ment. His independence made him little amenable to party
discipline. When he was knighted in 1869 he stipulated that
the acceptance of the honour should not be regarded as a
disavowal of his opinion that Canada should be an independent
nation.
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Alexander Mackenzie, like Macdonald and Brown, was
of Scottish birth. He learned his trade of stone-cutting in
Scotland, and in 1842, when he was twenty years of age,
emigrated to Canada. Here he worked first as a journeyman,
afterwards as a builder and contractor, and in a few years he
was one of the leading citizens of Sarnia, where his business
was carried on. He was the typical religious Scotsman,
grave rather than emotional in his religion, having a strong
sense of responsibility for the spending of every hour of his
life, occupying his leisure in study. Soon he began to take
part in public life as a reformer and a devoted follower of
George Brown. His platform style was effective. It was said
that he built a speech as he built a wall ; the sentences were
compact, the points driven home with force, and often with sar-
casm and dry humour. He carried into politics his habits of
unflagging industry, and made himself master of every question
with which he had to deal. His courage was unflinching.

Mackenzie had a deep distrust of coalitions. He advised
Brown not to enter a government with Macdonald in 1864,
and he was an uncompromising opponent of the combinations
formed by Macdonald at Ottawa and at Toronto in 1867.
Both were destroyed by his sledge-hammer blows and those
of Edward Blake—a formidable combination Mackenzie
was for a short time Provincial Treasurer of Ontario, and in
the early seventies he was an aggressive leader of the opposi-
tion at Ottawa. He had neither the diplomatic skill of
Macdonald nor the intellectual subtlety of Edward Blake ;
simplicity, directness, force, courage, were the outstanding
features of his character.

Edward Blake entered public life in 1867, when he was
elected to the House of Commons for West Durham and to
the Ontario legislature for South Bruce. In the legislature he
became leader of the opposition against the Sandfield Mac-
donald government, was one of the chief instruments in its
defeat, and was called upon to form a ministry. He held the
premiership of Ontario for only about a year, and was suc-
ceeded by Oliver Mowat, who at Blake’s suggestion resigned
the vice-chancellorship of Ontario to re-enter public life.
Blake then devoted his energy to federal politics and became
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one of the most powerful assailants of the government, taking
a leading part in the debates which culminated in the defeat
of the administration on the Pacific Scandal question. Blake
was the leader of the Equity bar of Ontario and a brilliant
advocate. In intellectual force and range of thought he
ranks perhaps first among the public men of Canada. His
political triumphs in the early seventies were almost sensa-
tional. With the accession of the liberals to power in 1873
he showed a tendency to break away from party ties, and he
was for some time regarded with hope by the Canada First or
National party. The bent of his mind was towards constitu-
tional questions, and he gave powerful aid to the Ontario
government in its fight for provincial rights.

From Nova Scotia the most notable figures were Joseph
Howe and Dr Charles Tupper. Howe was of the type which
in the United States is called a favourite son. He sprang into
fame some thirty years before Confederation as the champion
of self-government for Nova Scotia, and from that time his
position as chief tribune of the people was unassailed. He had
the temperament of the popular orator and idol; he was
eloquent and not afraid to use impassioned language ; he was
warm-hearted, free and familiar in his intercourse with the
people. Confederation, which brought fame to some public
men, was full of unhappy results for Howe. He opposed the
movement, but it was too strong for him. His acceptance of
an office in the Macdonald government was an unfortunate
step, weakening his prestige and his hold on the friendship of
Nova Scotia. After his death the old love and admiration
resumed their sway, and his place as one of the heroes of
Nova Scotia is safe.

To Dr Tupper, on the other hand, Confederation was a
great opportunity. He brought Nova Scotia into the federal
union by sheer force of will. He quickly adapted himself to
the wider field, and became Sir John Macdonald’s most
powerful ally. His party loyalty was unswerving, and his
force and aggressiveness were greater than those of his chief.
After Confederation and the settlement of the Nova Scotia
difficulty we do not find him assigned to any part worthy of
his courage and energy until he became minister of Railways
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and chief advocate of the bargain with the syndicate which
built the Canadian Pacific Railway. With his stalwart
frame, square jaw, deep, powerful voice, and strong rather
than graceful oratory, he was the type of the fighter. He
was of inestimable value to his party, ever ready to go any-
where and meet any opponent.

A tragic event of the first session was the murder of
D’Arcy M¢Gee. Mc¢Gee was an Irishman who in early life
had attached himself to the Young Ireland party, and had
fled to America on account of his connection with Smith
O’Brien’s insurrection. After spending some years in the
United States he went to Montreal, founded a newspaper
there and entered the legislature in 1857. His opinions
gradually underwent radical change, and from an enemy of
Great Britain he became an ardent imperialist. He was
attached first to the reform party, but afterwards formed a
personal friendship and a political alliance with Sir John
Macdonald. He was eloquent, witty and of a most kindly
disposition. In 1865 he visited Ireland and spoke strongly
against Fenianism, and to these speeches his assassination is
attributed. On the morning of April 7, 1868, all Canada was
horrified by the news that he had been assassinated at Ottawa
while entering his lodgings after the adjournment of the
House. His funeral at Montreal was attended by more than
twenty thousand people. Patrick James Whelan was tried
and found guilty of the murder and executed.?

In Nova Scotia a serious question was raised. The result
of the general election of 1867 was an evidence of determined
hostility to union with Canada. The same feeling was shown
by the election for the legislature, in which only two out of
thirty-eight members were for the union. The newly elected
legislature passed an address to the queen, praying for the
repeal of the union. The agitation was led by Joseph Howe,
and he and three others were sent to England to press for
repeal. The mission, however, was foredoomed to failure.
The British government was determined that the federal
union should be accomplished, and had done all in its power
to promote the measure. The imperial parliament had

1 Many hold that Whelan was not M¢Gee’s murderer.
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passed the Confederation Act with a sigh of relief over the
settlement of the troublesome Canadian question, and was
resolved that it should not be reopened. John Bright’s
motion for a commission of inquiry was lost by two to one.
The decision of the imperial parliament did not end the
agitation. Violent speeches against Confederation were made
in the legislature of Nova Scotia. At length Macdonald
resolved to win Howe over to the cause of union, hoping with
his aid to quell the storm of opposition. Dr Tupper, the vigor-
ous leader of the Confederation party in Nova Scotia, had
accompanied Howe to England, holding a ‘ watching brief’
for the government of Canada. Tupper sought out Howe,
told him that he expected him to do all in his power to repeal
the union, but that if he failed he would achieve nothing
further by persistent antagonism. If Howe would go back
to Nova Scotia and ask for a fair trial for the union, the
government of Canada would make all reasonable concessions
to Nova Scotia and would, as a guarantee of fair treatment,
make Howe a minister. Howe showed a conciliatory spirit,
and on his return to Canada entered into negotiations with
Macdonald, and accepted the office of president of the Privy
Council and afterwards of secretary of state for the Provinces.
Howe's position then became difficult and painful. He
knew that after the decision of the British government, repeal
was a lost cause. Nova Scotia could not fight the Empire,
and annexation to the United States was an alternative ab-
horrent to a man of Howe's staunch British feeling. But it
was hard for him to dissociate himself from his pastas an advo-
cate for repeal. Among the irreconcilables in Nova Scotia were
many of his old admirers. His waning popularity, the cold,
averted looks of old friends, were sources of keen pain to one
who was intensely human and who loved to be loved by his
fellow Nova Scotians. ‘He might have yielded to destiny,
but he should hardly have gone into the government,’ is
Goldwin Smith’s summary. Keeping clear of this entangling
alliance, he could have told his old friends frankly that
further resistance was useless. The agitation would have
died out. The federal members for Nova Scotia were becom-
ing reconciled to the new conditions. The irreconcilable
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members of the legislature could not have gone on for ever
fulminating against Confederation. Their combativeness
would have found vent in fighting for provincial rights. As
an independent member of parliament, protesting against the
methods by which Nova Scotia had been forced into the union,
yet accepting the situation, Howe would have occupied a
dignified position. By accepting office he became a minor
minister instead of an unrivalled tribune of the people. He
not only lost friends in Nova Scotia, but he became a target
for the opposition at Ottawa, who were bitterly opposed to the
coalition, and regarded all men of reform antecedents in the
ministry as traitors to the party.

In 1869 the ‘better terms’ intended to placate Nova
Scotia were enacted. They increased the debt of Nova
Scotia to be assumed by the Dominion from $8,000,000 to
$9,186,756, and otherwise improved the financial position of
the province. These terms were strongly opposed by the
liberals. They contended that the British North America
Act settled the financial relations of Canada and the provinces,
that parliament had no right to change the basis of union ;
that if parliament could increase a provincial subsidy it
could reduce one ; that it might alter any other part of the
Confederation Act and destroy Confederation itself. Mac-
donald justified the legislation simply on the ground of
necessity, as the only means of saving Confederation.

Prince Edward Island still held aloof, and it was not until
July 1, 1873, that the consolidation of Eastern Canada was
completed by the entrance of the island province into the
federal union.

I11

THE INTERCOLONIAL RAILWAY

ETWEEN the more thickly settled parts of Quebec
and of the Maritime Provinces there was a long
stretch of sparsely settled country which had to be

traversed by a railway if the union were to be complete.
The Intercolonial Railway was a project conceived long
before Confederation. During the Rebellion of 1837 attention
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was drawn to the need of a military highway between Halifax
and Quebec. In 1848 Canada, Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick had surveys made by Major Robinson and other
imperial officers. Major Robinson reported on several
possible lines from Halifax to Quebec giving preference on
military grounds to the longest and most costly route farthest
from the frontier of the United States. The colonies objected
that this line would pass through a country little settled, and
would not pay. The British government admitted the justice
of this objection and offered a guarantee of the interest on
the bonds on condition that the line was built wholly within
British territory. This arrangement fell through on account
of a disagreement as to the extension of the guarantee to a
railway from New Brunswick to the United States. Military
considerations and commercial necessities were continually
coming into conflict. Portions of the railway, afterwards
forming parts of the Intercolonial, were built between 1853
and 1867. In 1867 the success of the project was assured by
making it a part of the scheme of Confederation. The
resolutions adopted by the conference of provincial delegates
in London in 1866 provided for the immediate construction
of the railway by the government of Canada. The imperial
government was to guarantee a loan of £3,000,000. The
Confederation Act provided that the railway should be
commenced six months after the union.

When, in the first session of the new parliament, the bill
providing for the construction of the railway was introduced,
the controversy as to the route was renewed. Antoine Aimé
Dorion, a leading French-Canadian liberal, asked that the
route should not be determined without the consent of parlia-
ment. The ministry objected that this would imperil the
imperial guarantee, which was conditional on the approval of
the route by the secretary of state for the Colonies.

The northern or Robinson route by the Chaleur Bay was
preferred by the imperial government for military reasons,
and it was also strongly supported by the Hon. Peter Mitchell
of New Brunswick, and by Sir Georges Cartier and his Quebec
following. The majority of the ministry were for the more
direct line from Rivieére du Loup to St John. Cartier, by
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absenting himself from cabinet meetings, practically threatened
to resign unless his favourite route were accepted. Macdonald
called in Sandford Fleming, an eminent engineer, who saved
the situation by deciding for the northern route on both
military and commercial grounds.

Iv
EXPANSION WESTWARD

ANNEXING THE GREAT WEST

HE union with Canada of the region lying between the
Great Lakes and the Rocky Mountains had been
advocated many years before Confederation. But a

fresh impulse was given to the movement by the political
reconstruction which freed Canada from political paralysis and
endowed her with a more flexible instrument of government
and with ampler resources. The British North America Act
provided means for the admission into the union of Rupert’s
Land and the North-West Territory, and in the first session
of the new parliament resolutions were adopted asking that
the power should be exercised. In view of the difficulty
which afterwards arose, it should be noted that these resolu-
tions evinced an inclination to deal fairly with the people of
the West. They were to have political institutions bearing
analogy, as far as circumstances would admit, to those which
existed in the provinces of the Dominion. Similar good
intentions were shown in the agreement with the Hudson's
Bay Company, which provided that the rights of Indians and
half-breeds should be respected, and in the instructions given
by Howe as secretary of state to William M¢Dougall, when
the latter was appointed lieutenant-governor of the new
country. Unhappily these good intentions were not soon
enough conveyed to the little community dwelling by the
Red River. When Adams G. Archibald, afterwards lieutenant-
governor of Manitoba, was a member of parliament, he
described that community as secluded from the rest of the
world, uninformed of what was happening around it, and
alarmed by the sudden bursting of the barrier which separated
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it from the rest of the world and by the entrance of strangers.
‘Is it any wonder,” he asked, ‘that these fears should be
raised, should be traded upon by demagogues ambitious of
power and place ?’' By a series of misfortunes, blunders
and accidents the inhabitants were kept in ignorance of the
real intentions of Canada.

The extinction of the legal title of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany to the western lands was comparatively simple and easy.
By agreement between the company, the imperial govern-
ment and the Canadian government, it was arranged that
Canada should pay the company £300,000 for the transfer of
the country, and the extinction of the company’s exclusive
trading, fishing and other privileges. At the same time the
company retained the land immediately around the trading
posts and two sections in every township. The land thus
reserved amounted to about one-twentieth of the newly
acquired territory.

The prime mistake was that while these negotiations were
being carried on with the company in England, no one was
treating with the inhabitants of the country. Their consent
to the momentous change was taken for granted. Again, an
act for the temporary government of the country, passed by
the parliament of Canada in 1869, was criticized because it did
not recognize the political rights of the people and their right
to a voice in the formation of the government. That this
charge was well founded was afterwards admitted by William
Mc¢Dougall, one of the chief actors in the drama.

On the banks of the Red River, in what is now the Province
of Manitoba, dwelt some twelve thousand settlers, ten thou-
sand of whom were half-breeds or Métis, partly of Indian and
partly of Scottish or French blood. They had been living
under the government of the Hudson’s Bay Company. The
governing body was called the Council of Assiniboia. Its
head was the governor of the company—at this time William
M¢Tavish. The people subsisted by fishing, hunting and a
little farming. Their farms ran back from the river in long
strips, such as may now be seen in the Province of Quebec.
Fort Garry, the site of the present city of Winnipeg, was the
centre of government.
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RED RIVER INSURRECTION

By a series of errors and misfortunes the settlement drifted
into anarchy. The authority of the Hudson’s Bay Company
was passing away, that of Canada was not yet established.
Canada had itself only recently emerged from the condition
of a group of weak and distracted provinces. One of the
sayings that touched the heart of the Red River Settlement
was that it would not submit to be ‘ the colony of a colony.’
Before attempting to take possession, there should have been
a conference between representatives of Canada and repre-
sentatives of the Red River Settlement. Unfortunately the
inhabitants derived their first impressions of the new order
from surveying parties and from newcomers spying out the
land.

‘A knowledge of the true state of the case and of the
advantage they would derive from union with Canada had
been carefully kept from them, and they were told to judge
of Canada generally by the acts and bearing of some of the
unreflective immigrants who had denounced them as cumberers
of the ground, who must speedily make way for the superior
race about to pour in upon them.” So wrote Donald A. Smith
(afterwards Lord Strathcona) in reporting upon the mission
to the Red River which he undertook in January 1870. He
added that in various localities adventurers had marked off for
themselves large and valuable tracts of land, impressing the
existing inhabitants with the belief that they were about to be
supplanted by the stranger. The settlers were fearful and
perplexed, and, lacking other guidance and control, they fell
under the influence of Louis Riel, a man of considerable
ability and education, but vain, ambitious, and ill-balanced.
He was the son of a half-breed miller who had some years
before headed a successful revolt against the Hudson’s Bay
Company.

Several unfortunate circumstances tended to aid Riel’s
ascendancy. The local officers of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany, who worked under a profit-sharing arrangement, were
dissatisfied because they believed they would be defrauded
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out of their share of the £300,000 paid for the extinction of the
company’s rights, and would be turned adrift without com-
pensation. Governor M°¢Tavish was ill and nearing his end.
Bishop (afterwards Archbishop) Taché, who was a trusted
spiritual leader of the people, was absent in Rome.

Joseph Howe, who was in the country in the early part of
October 1869, when surveying operations were stopped by
Riel, was in some ways qualified to act a conciliatory part.
He was afterwards accused of disloyalty to Canada and of
intriguing against M¢Dougall. What seems more probable
is that he failed to perceive the gravity of the situation. He
thought he saw in the Red River Settlement a struggle for
self-government, such as he had witnessed in Nova Scotia,
and he naturally took the side of the inhabitants. He did not
see the danger of anarchy, dictatorship and violence lurking
in the situation; hence his failure to convey any warning
of serious trouble to William Mc¢Dougall, who had been
appointed lieutenant-governor.

While Howe was in the settlement Riel called upon
Colonel John Stoughton Dennis, who was in charge of the
federal survey, and asked him to explain the meaning of his
operations. He was assured that no injustice was intended,
and he went away apparently satisfied. Buta few daysafter-
wards Riel forbade the surveyors to continue their work,
organized the Métis and forced M¢Dougall across the Ameri-
can border to Pembina. On November 1 he marched in
through the open gates of Fort Garry, billeted his followers on
the inhabitants, and armed them with the rifles stored in the
fort. To the Hudson’s Bay official who remonstrated some-
what feebly against this step, he explained that he had come to
guard the fort against ‘ a danger.” Riel was now master of the
situation.

Reports of hostile movements on the part of the Métis had
been conveyed to M¢Dougall at several points on his way from
St Paul to Pembina. At Pembina, close to the Canadian
border, he was met by a half-breed who served him with a
formal notice not to enter the territory. M¢Dougall pushed
on to the Hudson’s Bay post, two miles from Pembina, and
within the Red River territory. There he learned of the
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stoppage of the surveys by Riel and of his determination to
resist the entry of the federal officials into the territory. On
November 2 a party of fourteen men approached the post and
ordered M¢Dougall to leave, and the following morning they
became so menacing that he thought it prudent to return to
Pembina. There he remained for several weeks.

When the news of the check received by M¢Dougall
reached Ottawa, Sir John Macdonald determined not to
accept from the Hudson’s Bay Company the territory in its
disturbed state, held back the payment of the money due to
the company, notified the British authorities of what he pro-
posed, and warned M¢Dougall not to try to force his way
into the country, nor to assume the functions of government
prematurely. Such an assumption, he said, would put an
end to the authority of the Hudson’s Bay Company. Then,
if M¢Dougall were not admitted, there would be no legal
government, and anarchy must follow. In such a case, no
matter how the anarchy was produced, it would be open by
the law of nations for the inhabitants to form a government
ex necessitate. The warning was given too late. The letter
was written nearly a month after Riel was in possession of
Fort Garry and only a few days before December 1, when
Mc¢Dougall supposed that the transfer would take effect.
On that day, assuming that it had been made, he issued a
proclamation in which he announced his appointment as
lieutenant-governor, and he also issued a commission to
Colonel Dennis as Conservator of the Peace, with power to
raise armed forces and to attack those who resisted his author-
ity. M¢Dougall hopelessly failed to make his authority felt,
and in despair returned to Canada. He has been harshly
criticized, but while his proclamation of December 1 was
hasty and ill-judged, it was not the cause of the difficulty.
The mischief had already been done. The authority of the
Hudson’s Bay Company had been destroyed and the authority
of Riel established, when Riel seized Fort Garry, a month
before M¢Dougall took action.

Riel and his friends, soon after taking possession of the
fort, styled themselves ‘the President and Representatives of
the French-speaking population of Rupert’'s Land in council,’
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and summoned the population to elect representatives to the
council. The English-speaking inhabitants were well inclined
towards Canada, but they were extremely anxious to live on
good terms with their French-Canadian neighbours, and they
lacked organization and leadership. They decided, after some
hesitation, to send delegates to the meeting called by Riel.
Riel and his party now acted still more boldly, seized the
books and records of the council of Assiniboia, and declared
the intention of the French members to form a provisional
government. On December 1 a bill of rights was adopted.
It asserted the right to elect a legislature; provided for a free
homestead and election law ; for appropriation of land for
schools, roads, bridges and parish buildings ; for a railway
connecting Winnipeg with the nearest existing railway ; for
the use of the French and English languages in the courts
and the legislature ; for the protection of existing privileges,
customs and usages, and for full representation in the
Dominion parliament. The demands on the whole were not
unreasonable, and furnished at least a fair basis for negotia-
tion. The bill of rights was a counterblast to M¢Dougall’s
proclamation, copies of which were posted up in Winnipeg,
but were promptly torn down. Resistance was offered to Riel
by a party of Canadians under Dr John C. Schultz, who had
come from Ontario to Fort Garry in 1860, had practised his
profession as physician, and had become a leader among the
newcomers. Fifty men assembled at Dr Schultz’s house to
protect the property of the Canadian government stored
there. They were besieged by Riel with a force of three
hundred men. On the sixth day of the siege they resolved
to attempt to cut their way out. Emissaries came from Riel
with a flag of truce, and assured them that if they would
march up to Fort Garry they would be disarmed and allowed
to go where they pleased. On this assurance they sur-
rendered and marched to Fort Garry, where, instead of being
liberated, they were imprisoned.

A proclamation was now issued which was virtually a-
declaration of independence. The flag of the provisional
government was raised in place of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany’s flag. Riel assumed the presidency. Efforts were
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made to induce the Indians to join the movement, but in vain.
This fact is ascribed to M¢Dougall’s foresight in appointing
Joseph Monkman, an English half-breed of great influence
among the tribes, to visit their camps, explain the position,
and urge them to remain loyal to the queen. Credit must
also be given to the traditional British policy of fair dealing
with the Indians, and to the Hudson’s Bay Company. While
the company did not gain lustre in the period of the transfer,
it had been the means of keeping the country British for two
centuries, and paved the way for the union with Canada.

DoNaLD SMiTH’S MISSION

The next step in the history is the visit of three com-
missioners from the Canadian government: Vicar-General
Thibault, Colonel de Salaberry and Donald A. Smith, an
old and experienced officer of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
Smith arrived on the scene about the end of December. He
described the situation in these words :

The state of affairs at this time in and around Fort
Garry was truly humiliating. Upwards of sixty British
subjects were held in close confinement as political
prisoners. Security for persons or property there was
none. The Fort, with its large supplies of ammunition,
provisions and stores of all kinds, was in the possession
of a few hundred French half-breeds, whose leaders had
declared their determination to use every effort for the
purpose of annexing the territory to the United States ;
and the governor and council of Assiniboia were powerless
to enforce the law.

Forty delegates appointed at a meeting of the inhabitants
held a conference with the Canadian commissioners which
lasted from January 25 to February 11. Smith gave assur-
ances that on entering Confederation the Red River people
would be secured in all the rights of British subjects. A new
bill of rights was prepared, and Smith answered each demand
in a manner that seemed to satisfy the convention. An
armed guard stood over him while he wrote. John Black, the
Rev. Father Richot and Alfred H. Scott were appointed as
delegates to convey the views of the inhabitants to the
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Canadian government at Ottawa. Riel released some of his
prisoners and promised the release of all.

It was Donald Smith’s belief that by his policy he was
steadily undermining Riel’s influence, and winning over the
inhabitants to Canada. He therefore disapproved of Dr
Schultz’s proposal to organize a rescue party, holding that it
would tend to unify Riel’s followers and restore his influence.
Schultz raised a force of six hundred men and succeeded
in obtaining from Riel a promise to release the prisoners.
The force was then dispersed under the advice of Smith
and others. A small part of the force returning home to
Portage la Prairie was captured by two of Riel’s lieutenants,
William B. O’Donoghue and Ambroise Lepine. Among the
captives was Major Boulton. Riel demanded his execution
and was with difficulty dissuaded from this course. Riel said
that Canadians had laughed at and despised the French half-
breeds, believing that they would not dare to take the life
of any one, and that an example must be made. He at length
granted Boulton’s life, and as a measure of peace Smith
induced the English residents to go on with the election of
delegates to a council summoned by Riel.

THE ScoTT TRAGEDY

Up to this time nothing had been done which might not
have been forgiven. The resistance of the Métis was in a
measure justified. On the other hand, Riel and his associate
leaders must have been convinced by the explanations of
Donald A. Smith and by the documents he produced that the
people were to be dealt with justly and as free men, entitled
to full political rights. But Riel, instead of being pacified,
seems to have been exasperated as he saw his power passing
away. The tragedy of the insurrection was the death of
Thomas Scott, a young Canadian who had taken part in the
defence of Schultz’s house, had been captured, and, though
he had escaped, had again been made prisoner with Major
Boulton’s party. On March 3 Scott was tried by a court-
martial, on a charge of having rebelled against the provisional
government and of having struck a captain of the guard.
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No written accusation was presented to the prisoner. The
evidence was taken in French, a language which Scott did
not understand. Scott was not present during his own trial,
but, after the evidence had been taken, he was brought
before the council and the substance of the evidence was
explained to him by Riel. Scott was not asked if he had
any witnesses. The council then voted for his death. The
whole of the proceedings occupied less than three hours.

Smith reminded Riel that the one great merit claimed for
this insurrection was that it had been almost bloodless, and
implored him not to stain it with a horrible crime. Riel
exclaimed, ‘ We must make Canada respect us.” He refused
to change his determination or even to delay the death of his
victim. Scott was shot at noon by a firing party of six,
saying aloud with his last breath, ‘ This is a cold-blooded
murder.” A request for Christian burial for the body was
refused.

The defence for this act which is made by the friends of
Riel is that responsibility for the death of Scott lies with a
de facto government, and that the act was a judicial execution
by a duly constituted authority. The contention is that the
authority of the Hudson’s Bay Company had been destroyed
by M¢Dougall’s proclamation. In a state paper written by
Lord Dufferin it is said that

when the proposal to constitute a provisional govern-
ment was mooted in the Convention [of the inhabitants]
a certain portion of the English deputies declined to take
partin the proceedings until they had ascertained whether
or no Governor M¢Tavish, the legal ruler of the Territory,
still considered himself vested with authority. A deputa-
tion accordingly was appointed to wait upon him in his
sick chamber—for this gentleman had unfortunately
during many previous weeks been suffering from the
mortal disease of which he soon after died. In reply to
their inquiries Governor M¢Tavish told them that he
considered his jurisdiction had been abolished by the
proclamation of Mr Macdougall, that he was ‘a dead
man,’ and that they had better construct a Government
of their own. Returning to their colleagues, the depu-
tation announced to the convention what Governor
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MeTavish had said, and as a result Riel and his colleagues
were nominated to their respective offices.

It has been seen that Sir John Macdonald to a certain
extent foresaw this situation. He had written to M¢Dougall :

An assumption by the Government by you of course
puts an end to that of the H. B. Company’s authorities,
and Governor Mc¢Tavish and his council would be de-
prived even of the semblance of legal right to interfere.
There would then be, if you were not admitted into the
country, no legal government existing, and anarchy must
follow. In such a case, no matter how the anarchy is
produced, it is quite open by the law of nations to form
a government ex necessitate for the protection of life and

property.

There is therefore little doubt that the inhabitants were
entitled to form a provisional government. But that would
not justify the slaying of Scott. Such a government would
surely be bound to act with moderation and humanity, and
to kill a man for insubordination, for violent language, or
even for striking a guard, was to inflict a penalty so out-
rageously out of proportion to the offence that it must be
regarded, not as an execution, but as a crime. The fact that
the provisional government was then actually in negotiation
with representatives of the Dominion government destroys
any plea of urgent necessity that might have been advanced.
It was a crime, and it was also from the point of view of
Riel’s personal interests a huge political blunder. But for
it he might have played an important part in the public life
of the new province.

BisHor TACHE AS PEACEMAKER

Bishop Taché had, at the request of the Dominion
ministers, sailed from Rome with the object of proceeding to
the West and quieting the Red River settlers. Arriving at
Fort Garry four days after the execution of Scott, he at once
set himself to restore order in the settlement. He met Riel’s
legislature and asked for the release of the prisoners, a request
which was eventually granted. Bishop Taché either assumed
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that he had the right to promise an amnesty for the slaying
of Scott, or he decided to force the government’s hand by
making such a promise. He informed Howe, the secretary of
state, that he had promised a complete and entire amnesty,
and added, ‘Should my view unfortunately have deviated
from the real tendency of the government, I humbly beg
that my promise will be considered sacred.” The action of
Bishop Taché was afterwards cited as one of the reasons
for pardoning Riel.

The Hudson’s Bay Company resumed operations. The
flag of the provisional government was hauled down and the
Union Jack was substituted. Order was restored. Riel’s
legislature, after hearing the explanation from Father Richot,
one of the delegates to Ottawa, passed the following resolution :
* That the Legislative Assembly of the country do now in the
name of the people accept the Manitoba Act and decide on
entering the Dominion of Canada on the terms proposed in
the Manitoba Act.” Riel, however, still kept an armed guard
at the fort until the arrival from Canada of the Red River
expedition under Colonel Garnet Wolseley.

In the late spring and early summer of 1870 the settlement
was at peace. The Hudson’s Bay Company had resumed its
business operations, but apparently not its government.
Riel and the legislature retained office, but with the under-
standing that the authority of the Dominion government
should be recognized. There was uneasiness among the
leaders as to the amnesty, and some talk of resisting the troops
if the amnesty should be refused.

THE WOLSELEY EXPEDITION

News of the execution of Scott reached Ottawa on April 4.
Hillyard Cameron, member for Peel, Ontario, a prominent
lawyer, a conservative and Orangeman, expressed the hope
that the government would not treat with the delegates sent
by Riel to Ottawa—Black, Richot and Scott, ‘ men whose
hands were red with the blood of an unoffending fellow-
citizen.” A fierce agitation arose in Ontario. The Toronto
Telegraph, voicing the opinion of the newly organized Canada
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First party,' asked whether ‘ the messengers of the Murderer’
were to be received. A meeting of eight thousand people in
Toronto passed resolutions condemning the proposal to treat
with the delegates.

Richot and Scott were arrested, but all attempts to take
criminal proceedings against them failed, and they were
treated by the Canadian government as the authorized
representatives of the people of the North-West.. Richot and
Scott afterwards claimed that at these interviews an amnesty
was promised to Riel, but this was denied by Macdonald and
Cartier. The government took the ground that they had no
power to grant an amnesty, or to deal with the crime at all,
because it had been committed in a territory which was not
then part of Canada.

At Ottawa the government had decided to form a new
province of Manitoba with a liberal measure of self-govern-
ment, and at the same time to assert the authority of the
Dominion by the dispatch of a military force. It was
explained that the expedition would be sent in no hostile
spirit, but to establish law, peace and order. The force would
be composed of one-fourth of regular British troops and three-
fourths of Canadian militiamen, and the expense would be
borne by Great Britain and Canada in the same proportion.

Some of the Quebec members of parliament objected to the
expedition as conveying a menace to the people of the Red
River territory. But a resolution declaring that the duty
of restoring order and the authority of the crown rested
with the imperial government received only thirteen votes.
Dorion, a leading Quebec liberal, feared that the expedition
would destroy the conciliatory effect of the Manitoba Act,
but Alexander Mackenzie, leader of the opposition, made a
ringing speech in favour of the expedition, declaring that
Canada must assert its authority first and redress grievances
afterwards. Later on, in order to conciliate French-Canadian
feeling by avoiding the appearance of force, an attempt was
made to have A. G. Archibald, the lieutenant-governor of
Manitoba who succeeded M¢Dougall, and Bishop Taché,
proceed to the country through United States territory so as

1TiSee.pi-37+
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to arrive there in advance of the expedition. This was
strongly opposed by the Canada First party as a concession
to Riel, and the project was abandoned. Archibald took his
way over the ‘snow road’ in the rear of the military expedition.

While the expedition met with no resistance, it was remark-
able as a triumph over natural difficulties. The country be-
tween Fort William and Red River was a wilderness, abound-
ing in lakes and rivers and hitherto traversed only by Indians
and traders in their bark canoes. On August 24 the troops
arrived at Fort Garry, only to find that Riel had decamped.
Lieutenant-Governor Archibald arrived on September 2. In
January 1871 the first government was formed and the first
legislature elected, and constitutional government may be
said to have begun. The province was, however, disturbed
for some time. There was much ill-feeling between the Métis
and the volunteers, and in September 1871 a Fenian raid
from the United States was threatened. The leader was
O’Donoghue, who had been associated with Riel in the
insurrection. He afterwards denied that a Fenian invasion
was contemplated, and said that his movement was a con-
tinuation of the insurrection of 1869 and was authorized by
Riel. Lieutenant-Governor Archibald, being alone, cut off
from the central authority and thrown upon his own resources,
decided to appeal to Riel, Lepine and the Métis. To use the
language of his own report, he reviewed the troops collected
under Riel, accepted their services, promised them at least
a temporary immunity on account of the crimes connected
with the insurrection, and convinced himself that their loyalty
was genuine and that it contributed to the safety of the
province. ‘If the Dominion had at this moment a Province
to defend and not one to conquer, they owe it to the policy of
forbearance.’

The Fenian raid was a fiasco, but its political consequences
were of some importance, for the aid said to have been
rendered by Riel to Archibald was one of the grounds after-
wards put forward for an amnesty to all those concerned in
the death of Scott, and was the ground upon which Lord
Dufferin acted in commuting the sentence of death afterwards
passed upon Lepine, one of Riel’s chief supporters.
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THE AMNESTY

It was long before the Riel question disappeared from
Canadian politics. In 1871, on the eve of the general election
in Ontario, the legislature, at the instance of Edward Blake,
adopted a resolution denouncing the cold-blooded murder of
Thomas Scott for his outspoken loyalty to the queen, and
declaring that the murderers should be brought to justice.
In January 1872, after Blake had become prime minister of
Ontario, the legislature offered a reward of $5000 for the
apprehension of Riel. Sir John Macdonald wrote to Arch-
bishop Taché enclosing him a draft for $1000 to be paid to
Riel in order to enable him to leave the country. Donald
Smith afterwards advanced £600, which Archbishop Taché
divided between Riel and Lepine. Macdonald’s action in
aiding Riel to escape while he protested his desire to catch
him was severely criticized. He contended, however, that
the safety of the country could be assured only by keeping
Riel away.

In the general election of 1874 Riel was elected for the
Manitoba constituency of Provencher. He went to Ottawa,
signed the roll of members and took the oath. A warrant for
his arrest was issued but not executed. Riel was summoned
to appear before parliament. As he failed to do so he was
expelled. Five months after his expulsion Riel was again
returned for Provencher. On February 15, 1875, Alexander
Mackenzie, the prime minister of Canada, laid before parlia-
ment the sentence of outlawry passed upon Riel by Chief
Justice Wood of Manitoba, and on February 24 asked the
house to declare that Riel had been adjudged an outlaw for
felony. The motion was carried and the seat vacated, and
Riel made no further attempt to enter parliament.

In 1875 Mackenzie asked parliament to grant an amnesty
to all persons concerned in the rebellion except Riel, Lepine
and O’Donoghue. He proposed that Riel and Lepine should
be banished for five years, but suggested no measure of clem-
ency for O'Donoghue. A motion for unconditional amnesty
was rejected, as was a motion that the amnesty be extended
to O’'Donoghue.
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Lepine had been sentenced to death by Chief Justice Wood
of Manitoba, but Lord Dufferin commuted the sentence to
two years’ imprisonment and permanent forfeiture of political
rights. Lord Dufferin acted under the royal instructions
which gave the governor-general power to dispense with the
advice of his ministers under special circumstances, and to
exercise the prerogative of the crown according to his inde-
pendent judgment. In a state paper dealing with the matter
he considered five pleas for amnesty : (1) That Archbishop
Taché went to Manitoba as a plenipotentiary authorized by
the British and Canadian governments. (2) Thatan amnesty
was promised to Judge Black, Richot and Scott, the delegates
sent by the Red River settlers to Ottawa. (3) That those
who killed Scott represented a de facto government. (4) That
Riel had been paid to leave the country; and (5) That
Governor Archibald had availed himself of the assistance of
Riel, Lepine and others in preventing the Fenian invasion,
threatened in 1871. He disallowed all the pleas but the last.
Concerning that he said :

After the governor of a province has put arms into the
hands of a subject and has invited him to risk his life,
with a full knowledge at the time that the individual in
question was amenable to the law for crimes previously
committed, the executive is no longer in a position to
pursue the person thus dealt with as a felon. The accept-
ance of the service might be held, I imagine, to bar the
prosecution of the offender ; for undesirable as it may
be that a great criminal should go unpunished, it would
be still more pernicious that the government of the
country should show a want of fidelity to its engagements,
or exhibit a narrow spirit in its interpretation of them.

v
THE WASHINGTON TREATY

HE year 1870 marks the beginning of an important
period in the history of the relations of Canada with
the United States. The question of the fisheries had

been unsettled since the treaty of 1783, giving the fishermen
of the United States certain fishing rights on the shores of
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Newfoundland and other portions of British North America.
The point was raised whether these privileges were cancelled
by the war of 1812-14. The contention of the United States
was that the treaty of 1783 was perpetual as to fishing
privileges, just as it was perpetual as to independence. The
British enforced their claims under protest from the United
States until 1818, when a convention was made between the
two countries by which the American fishermen were allowed
to share in the inshore fisheries on certain British coasts and
were excluded from others.

By the abrogation of the Elgin Treaty in 1866 the parties
were thrown back to the convention of 1818. To prevent
friction it was then agreed that annual licences should be
issued to fishermen of the United States on payment of a
nominal fee. At first a considerable number of licences were
taken out, but when the fee was increased in 1868 there was
much fishing without licence. On January 8, 1870, the
Canadian government abolished the licence system and sent
out a fleet of cruisers to protect the fisheries. Seizures of
American vessels were made and there was much irritation.
President Grant in his annual message to Congress in 1870
severely criticized the action of the Canadian government.
There were other causes of friction. Canada had a claim on
the United States arising out of the Fenian raids. At the
same time the United States claimed damages against Great
Britain for the loss to American shipping caused by the escape
of the Alabama.

In his speech defending the Washington Treaty, in 1872,
Sir John Macdonald said that as long as the Alabama question
remained open Great Britain was seriously weakened in
dealing with other European powers. He feared that the
Alabama question might be pressed just when Great Britain
was engaged in mortal combat with some other nation. The
Johnson-Clarendon Treaty, intended to settle this dispute,
had been rejected by the senate of the United States ; Great
Britain could not with self-respect have reopened the question
of the Alabama. Sir John Macdonald said that the fishery
question was regarded by Great Britain as furnishing an
opportunity for indirectly reopening the Alabama question.
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JupGce SaMUEL NELSON of the Supreme Court of the
United States.

E. R. HoAr of Massachusetts.

GEORGE H. WiLL1AMS of Oregon.

Macdonald accepted a place on the commission with mis-
givings. The original proposal was that there should be three
members on each side. The increase to five weakened his
position, but on the advice of his colleagues he adhered to his
acceptance. Still he wrote to Sir John Rose: ‘If anything
goes wrong I shall be made the scapegoat, at least so far as
Canada is concerned.” He felt himself in a delicate position,
having to steer between the danger of neglecting the special
interests of Canada and the danger of taking a view too ex-
clusively Canadian, regardless of general imperial interests.

Canada at this time was eager for reciprocity in trade with
the United States, and in exchange for limited reciprocity
would have made concessions in regard to the fisheries. To
this the Americans were opposed, preferring to give a money
equivalent for the fisheries. Macdonald told Lord de Grey
it would be out of the question for Canada to surrender her
fisheries for all time for any cash compensation. He regarded
the value of the catch as less important than the leverage
which the fisheries gave for improving the position of Canada
as a maritime power.

Early in the negotiations Macdonald took the precaution
of instructing his government to cable the Colonial Office that
Canada considered the inshore fisheries as her property,
which could not be sold without her consent. The Colonial
Office assented, but finally gave instructions to proceed
subject to ratification by the parliament of Canada. Mac-
donald was embarrassed by this instruction. If overruled by
his colleagues in the commission he must either protest and
withdraw, thus disclosing a conflict between Canada and
Great Britain, or remain and be attacked for sacrificing
Canada’s rights ; or possibly be compelled to vote against the
treaty in the Canadian parliament.

The Canadians expected that their claim for compensation
for the Fenian raids would be brought before the commission.
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It was contended that Canada’s case on this account was
clearer than the Alabama case ; that the escape of the Ala-
bama was due to a momentary lapse of vigilance ; while the
preparations for the Fenian raids were open and extended
over a long period of time. But when the commission met, it
was found that these claims had not been included in the terms
of reference. The Gladstone government decided not to
press the point ; but they admitted its justice and suggested
a money compensation to Canada. Sir John Macdonald
dissented, and on his suggestion it was agreed that Great
Britain should guarantee a loan for Canadian works of defence.
The San Juan dispute was also eliminated from the negotia-
tions by a reference to the award of the German Emperor.!
This dispute arose out of the Oregon Treaty of 1846. The
question was whether the Island of San Juan between Van-
couver Island and the mainland was British or American
territory.

The Americans rejected a British proposal for full reci-
procity in return for the use of the fisheries. An American
offer of one million dollars for the fisheries in perpetuity, and
a British proposition for free fish, salt, lumber, coal, and
reciprocity in the coasting trade were also rejected. The
British commissioners next proposed to concede the right to
fish inshore for a term of years in exchange for the admission
of coal, salt, lumber and fish into the United States. Against
this Macdonald formally protested. He said that the pro-
posed consideration for the fisheries was not adequate. The
arrangement would be highly distasteful to Canada and hard
to justify in the Canadian parliament. Earl de Grey, to
whom this protest was addressed, said that it would compel
him to inform the United States commissioners that the
negotiations were at an end. Macdonald, unwilling to make
Canada responsible for the failure of the negotiations, con-
sented to modify his expression as to the probable action of
the Canadian parliament.

The attitude of the British commissioners caused Sir
John to say in a letter : ‘I must say that I am greatly dis-
appointed at the course taken by the British Commissioners.

1 See ¢ Boundary Disputes and Treaties’ in this section.
VOL. VI D
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They seem to have only one thing on their minds, that is, to
go home to England, with a treaty in their pockets, settling
everything no matter at what cost to Canada.’

Earl de Grey having decided that the time had come to
communicate his position to the home government, Macdonald
went on record thus :

Sir John Macdonald objects to any arrangement based
on a moneyed consideration only, or with free fish added,
and adheres to the proposition that Canadian coal, salt,
fish and lumber should be admitted into the United
States, to be supplemented by a money payment. If
this cannot be obtained, he would desire that an arrange-
ment should be made as to the headland question, and
as to the admission of American vessels into Canadian
ports for trading purposes, leaving Canada in possession
of the inshore fisheries.

He protested against the mingling of various international
questions as prejudicial to Canada. Canada was asked to
make sacrifices upon some points in order to procure a
settlement of other questions in which England was more
vitally interested. The right to the inshore fisheries was not
a point of difference between the United States and Canada.
Canada’s right was undisputed. The Americans, he said,
were simply attempting to bully her into a surrender of her
rights by speaking of possible collisions and bloodshed. If it
appeared that England was afraid or unwilling to protect
Canada, annexation sentiment would be strengthened.

In April Macdonald wrote to his colleague Dr Tupper,
advising him that the commission had agreed to a settlement
of the inshore fisheries on terms of free trade in fish and a
money compensation to be fixed by arbitration.!

As finally settled and signed on May 8, 1871, the treaty
provided :

That the settlement of the Alabama claims should be left
to a Board of Arbitration, to meet at Geneva.

That the Canadian fisheries were to be opened to the
Americans for at least twelve years ; the question of money
compensation to Canada to be left to a commission to meet
at Halifax.

1 See ¢ The Fishery Arbitrations’ in this section.
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That the Americans should have free navigation of the
St Lawrence in perpetuity and the canals for a similar period.

That salt-water fish and fish oil should be admitted into
the United States free of duty for a similar period.

That Canada should have the right of free navigation of
Lake Michigan, and of the rivers Yukon, Stikeen and
Porcupine on the Pacific coast.

That Canadians should have the right to transport goods
in bond through the United States, and that Americans should
have the same right in Canada.

That the settlement of the San Juan boundary should be
left to the German Emperor.

Macdonald contemplated the possibility of the Canadian
parliament rejecting the treaty, and he advised the British
government to get the decision in the Alabama case promptly
before the Canadian parliament met, so that the Alabama
settlement would not be prejudiced by the rejection of the
fishery articles.

But when parliament met he had decided that it was his
duty to accept the treaty. Hesaid : ‘ I believe that the sober
second thought of this country accords with the sober second
thought of the government, and we come here and ask the
people of Canada through their representatives to accept
this treaty ; to accept it with all its imperfections, to accept
it for the sake of peace, and for the sake of the great Empire
of which we form a part.’

The two houses of the New Brunswick legislature passed
resolutions condemning the treaty. But it was on the
whole favourably received by the Nova Scotia fishermen. It
was highly unpopular in Ontario, a sentiment which was due
partly to failure to press for compensation for the Fenian
raids. .

The result of the arbitration as to the cost of fisheries
was unexpectedly favourable to Canada. The arbitrators in
1877 awarded Canada $5,500,000 for the excess in value of
the Canadian over the American fisheries. The American
commissioner dissented with emphasis, and was strongly
supported in the press and in Congress, but the sum was paid.
The Geneva Arbitration in 1872 awarded $15,500,000 to the
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United States for the Alabama losses. The German
Emperor in the same year decided that the Island of San
Juan belonged to the United States.

VI

FALL OF THE MACDONALD GOVERNMENT

IN the period between 1867 and 1872 much of the work of
laying the foundations of the new nationality was done.
By the inclusion of British Columbia the boundaries
of Canada were extended to the Pacific coast. Provision was
made for communication from ocean to ocean. A federal
government and parliament were organized and set in
motion, and provincial legislatures and governments were
formed. The difficulties that arose in Nova Scotia and the
Red River territory were incidents of the new responsibilities
that the young Confederation had assumed. At Washington
a Canadian statesman is found dealing with an important
question of external relations,and having to reconcile Canadian
with imperial interests ; to consider the position of Canada
as a part of the British Empire and as a part of the continent
of America.

The fortunes of public men and of parties, though of minor
importance, are interwoven with the history of the nation.
It has been seen that at the outset Macdonald chose a coalition
as his instrument of government, not only for the Dominion of
Canada, but for the Province of Ontario. In these combina-
tions he showed his weakness and his strength. He could
induce liberals of ability to join his coalition, but he could not
induce the masses of the liberal party to accept M¢Dougall,
Howland, Aikins, Hincks or Sandfield Macdonald as their
leaders. The bringing of Joseph Howe into the cabinet
weakened Howe’s influence, but added no strength to Mac-
donald. In Ontario the liberals, under George Brown,
Alexander Mackenzie and Edward Blake, attacked the
coalition in Ontario and battered it down in four years.

In May and June of 1870, while much important business
relating to the new province of Manitoba was under dis-
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cussion, Macdonald was seriously ill, and during the greater
part of the following session he was in Washington. Mac-
donald regretted the necessity for this absence, as the leader-
ship of the house would fall on Sir Georges Cartier, who, for
reasons arising out of the occurrence at Red River in the
preceding year, had lost the confidence of the Ontario members.
Sir John's forebodings in this respect, says his biographer,
Sir Joseph Pope, proved only too true. ‘Many a time have 1
heard him say that to his absence from Parliament in 1871 he
attributed his defeat in 1873.’

The rising in the Red River territory left in Ontario a
feeling that the government had acted weakly, that it was
under French-Canadian influence, and that it had dealt too
leniently with Riel. The Washington Treaty was fiercely
attacked as a surrender of Canadian interests. The discon-
tent was not allayed by Macdonald’s speech explaining and
justifying the treaty. The inner history of the negotiations,
showing the enormous difficulties with which he had to
contend, was not told until some years after his death.

These causes—the re-consolidation of the liberals under
Mackenzie and Blake, the fall of the Sandfield Macdonald
coalition, the discontent over the failure to punish the mur-
derer of Scott, the discontent with the Washington Treaty
—greatly weakened Macdonald’s government at Ottawa,
and it came out of the election of 1872 with a diminished
majority. The situation is well described by another bio-
grapher of Macdonald, Joseph Collins :

The elections came off through the summer, and the
government found itself confronted by staunch opposition.
The ghost of poor Scott, murdered in the north-west,
rose against it, the Washington Treaty was shaken in
the face of the country ; the gigantic railway building,
a duty to which the country had been pledged, was
declared by the opposition to be a mad and impossible
scheme ; and the Reform party in Ontario was made
sturdy by the strength of Mr Blake and the Provincial
Ministry. The government came shattered though not
defeated out of the contest.

In a few months after the election the government thus
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weakened had to meet the shock of the exposure known as
the Pacific Scandal. This was an indirect result of one of the
conditions under which British Columbia entered Canada ;
namely, that a railway from the Atlantic to the Pacific should
be constructed in ten years from the date of the union, 1871.
The opposition contended strongly from the first that the
work would impose too heavy a burden on the young
Dominion. It was at first resolved that the government
should construct the railway, but in 1871, during the absence
of Macdonald in Washington, his colleagues became alarmed
by the magnitude of the undertaking, and consented to
construction by a company subsidized with money and land.
Macdonald afterwards said that if present he could have
persuaded the house to accept the terms of union without
this modification.

The detailed proposition for the building of the road was
submitted to parliament in 1872. The line was to extend
from Lake Nipissing to the Pacific. The company was to
receive fifty million acres of land in blocks of twenty miles
in depth on each side of the line, alternating with similar
blocks reserved by the government, and a cash subsidy of
$30,000,000. There was to be a branch through Manitoba
to the frontier of the United States, and another to Lake
Superior. Generally, the opposition took the ground that
the government was seizing for itself excessive powers and
depriving parliament of the control which it ought to have
over transactions so extensive.

The government reserved the power of giving the charter
to either of two companies—the Canada Pacific Railway,
headed by Sir Hugh Allan, a wealthy citizen of Montreal,
of the Allan Line of steamships, and the Interoceanic, headed
by the Hon. David L. Macpherson of Toronto, a contractor.
Or it might charter a company amalgamated from these, or a
company distinct from both.

A keen competition sprang up between the Allan and the
Macpherson companies. The Allan company was favoured
in Quebec, the Macpherson company in Ontario. In Ontario
it was feared that if Quebec influence were allowed to prevail,
the line would be built so far north of Toronto as to carry all
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the western trade to Montreal. Furthermore, there was a
prejudice against Allan because he was associated with
American capitalists, and it was apprehended that they would
seek to make the Canadian road subsidiary to American
interests. On the other hand, Macdonald was inclined to
give the preference to Allan on account of his greater wealth,
his priority in the field, and his control of auxiliary lines.
When the government sought to amalgamate the two com-
panies, the old dispute arose in a new form, Allan and Mac-
pherson both laying claim to the presidency.

The American connections made by Sir Hugh Allan and
the Canadian prejudice against them are important elements
in the case. Alfred Waddington, a wealthy Englishman
resident in British Columbia, had at an early period become
interested in the project of a transcontinental railway through
Canada, and had succeeded in inducing capitalists in New
York and Chicago toinvestin theenterprise. Waddington then
saw Sir John Macdonald and Sir Francis Hincks, who expressed
a desire for a Canadian rather than an American company.

With this object in view Allan and Macpherson were
approached. Allan tried to work in conjunction with the
Americans. But as public prejudice against American control
grew stronger he gradually took the position that the road
should be built by Canadians only,and that no foreigner should
have an interest direct or indirect in the enterprise. This de-
cision was the cause of a rupture with George W. M<¢Mullen of
Chicago, one of the group of American capitalists with whom
Allan had corresponded freely. M¢Mullen took a prominent
part in exposing the transaction which led to the fall of the
government.

The general elections were held in the summer of 1872,
being spread over several weeks, as was the custom at that
time. The tide was running against the government, but it
succeeded in retaining power by a fair majority.

In the parliamentary session of 1873 Lucius Seth Hunting-
ton, liberal member for the constituency of Shefford, Quebec,
moved a resolution in these words :

That he, the said Lucius Seth Huntington, is credibly
informed, and believes he can establish by satisfactory
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evidence, that in anticipation of the legislation of last
session, as to the Pacific Railway, an agreement was made
between Sir Hugh Allan, acting for himself and certain
other Canadian promoters, and G. W. M¢Mullen, acting
for certain United States capitalists, whereby the latter
agreed to furnish all the funds necessary for the con-
struction of the contemplated railway, and to give the
former a certain percentage of interest, in consideration
of their interest and position, the scheme agreed upon
being ostensibly that of a Canadian company, with Sir
Hugh Allan at its head.

That the government were aware that these negotia-
tions were pending between the said parties.

That subsequently an understanding was come to
between the government, Sir Hugh Allan and Mr Abbott,
one of the members of the Honourable House of Commons
of Canada, that Sir Hugh Allan and his friends should
advance a large sum of money for the purpose of aiding
the ministers and their supporters at the ensuing general
election, and that he and his friends should receive the
contract for the construction of the railway.

That accordingly Sir Hugh Allan did advance a large
sum of money for the purpose mentioned, and at the
solicitation and under the pressing instance of ministers.

That part of the moneys expended by Sir Hugh Allan
in connection with the obtaining of the act of incorpora-
tion and charter, were paid to him by the United States
capitalists under the agreement with him.

The resolution concluded with a demand for a committee
of inquiry. Huntington made no speech, and there was no
debate. The motion was defeated on a party vote. A day
or two afterwards, however, Sir John Macdonald gave notice
of a motion for a parliamentary committee. At this point
there arose one of those questions of procedure which fill a
large place in the history of the period. These questions
were sometimes complicated, and can best be understood by
bearing in mind that the opposition were striving to keep the
contest within the parliamentary arena, and constantly resist-
ing any attempt to substitute any other tribunal for parlia-
ment and its committees.

Parliamentary committees at this time were not competent
to take evidence under oath. To overcome this difficulty
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parliament passed a bill relating to oaths ; but this bill was
disallowed upon the advice of the law-officers of the crown in
England. Macdonald proposed to solve the question by issu-
ing a royal commission to the members of the committee. But
Blake and Dorion, the two liberal members of the committee,
declined to accept a commission ; they would have no tribunal
but parliament.

Parliament was adjourned from July 3 to August 13. In
the interval a very important event happened : the Montreal
Herald of July 4 published a mass of correspondence between
Sir Hugh Allan and George W. M¢Mullen. The letters
extended over a period between January and October 1872,
and showed that Allan was spending money freely in con-
nection with the obtaining of the charter. Sir Hugh Allan
followed with an affidavit in which he declared that he had
not paid money to the government as a consideration for the
charter.

Mc¢Mullen then published in the Herald a long statement
of the history of the negotiations, followed by several in-
criminating documents. These were letters and telegrams
from Sir John A. Macdonald, Georges E. Cartier and John
J. C. Abbott, written in the midst of the general elections of
1872, and showing that Macdonald and Cartier were drawing
freely upon Allan for election expenses. In one letter, dated
August 24, 1872, Cartier asked Abbott ‘in the absence of
Sir Hugh Allan’ to supply the central committee (a party
organization) with $20,000, and also to let Sir John Mac-
donald have $10,000. A telegram from Sir John Macdonald
to John J. C. Abbott, dated August 26, 1872, was in these
words : ‘ I must have another ten thousand ; will be the last
time of calling ; do not fail me ; answer to-day.’

The publication of these documents produced a powerful
effect upon the public mind, and the meeting of parliament
was awaited with anxiety. As the time for the opening
approached, it became known that the ministers had advised
the governor-general to prorogue parliament immediately
after its reassembling, upon the ground that this had been the
understanding at the adjournment, and to appoint a royal
commission to investigate the charges. The members of
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the opposition, together with twelve ministerialists, nearly
half the house in all, protested against this course, upon the
ground that the inquiry ought not to be further delayed nor
removed from the jurisdiction of parliament. The governor-
general replied in effect that he could not decline the advice
tendered to him by his ministers ; that to do so and to refuse
to prorogue parliament would be tantamount to dismissing
them from his counsels before they had been tried for the
offence charged against them.

As soon as the speaker took the chair on August 13, the
day fixed for the meeting of parliament, Alexander Mac-
kenzie rose to move a resolution declaring that the charges
ought to be investigated by parliament, and not by a com-
mission appointed by the government.

The speaker here interposed, announcing that the message
which was the signal for prorogation must be read. There
were groans, hisses and cries of ‘Go on.” Mackenzie
exclaimed, ‘ No messenger shall interrupt me in the discharge
of my duty,” and was proceeding with his speech, when the
speaker again intervened. Cries of ‘ privilege’ were heard.
The sergeant-at-arms lifted the mace from the table, hesitated
and laid it down again. Mackenzie protested that there
was nothing to justify parliament being turned out of doors.

The speaker finally delivered his message summoning the
Commons to the Senate chamber. The ministers and a few
members accompanied him. Nearly a hundred members
remained on the floor of the house for a time, afterwards
adjourning to a committee room and entering a protest
against the removal of the investigation from parliament to
a commission virtually appointed by the accused parties.

The royal commission was issued to Judge Day of
Montreal, Judge Poulette of Three Rivers, and Judge Gowan
of Barrie. Huntington declined to appear before the com-
mission, and the opposition regarded it with distrust. Among
the witnesses examined was Sir Hugh Allan, who admitted
making payments towards the election expenses of the minis-
ter to the amount of $162,600. He had disbursed also large
sums for ‘preliminary expenses,’ making his total outlay
about $350,000.
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Macdonald’s defence is contained in a letter which he
addressed to the governor-general on October 9, 1873. He
insisted that the advances made by Allan had no connection
with the Pacific Railway charter. Allan had subscribed to
the election fund in Ontario and Quebec in the face of a
positive intimation from the government that the charter
would not be given to his company, but to an amalgamated
company. His interest in this amalgamated company was
assured by his own financial position ; therefore there was no
necessity to advance a sixpence to secure that interest. His
position was assured if the construction of the line went on at
all; his fear was that construction would be stopped ; that the
railway policy would be reversed if the opposition carried the
country, and that enormous injury would then be done to the
Allan interests. Moreover, if the Pacific Railway were con-
structed there would be work for other railways in which Allan
was concerned, and for his steamships. In short, Macdonald
contended that the election subscriptions were not the price
of the charter, but were meant to assure the success of a
general railway policy in which Allan and the government
were alike interested.

Parliament assembled late in October. As soon as the
address in reply to the speech from the throne had been
proposed, Mackenzie moved a vote of censure on the ministers.
The debate, which extended over two weeks, was on a high
level of excellence. On November 4 Sir John Macdonald
spoke for several hours, making a powerful appeal to his
followers. At two o’clock in the morning he was followed
by Edward Blake, whose speech was continued on the
following day. The ranks of the government supporters
wavered. One of them, Donald A. Smith, made a speech
of which it was said that it kept the house in suspense until
the very close. Finally he acquitted Macdonald of personal
corruption, but said he could not support a government
shadowed by suspicion. Sir John Macdonald’s biographer,
Sir Joseph Pope, describes the frame of mind of many of the
old friends of the government :

Apart from those who were clamorous for his fall, and
those who were prepared to stand by him through thick
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Epwarp BrAkE, Q.C., without portfolio.

Luc LETELLIER DE ST JUsT, minister of Agriculture.
RicHARD J. CARTWRIGHT, minister of Finance.

SIR A. J. SMITH, minister of Marine and Fisheries.
DAvip LAIRD, minister of the Interior.

Davip CHRISTIE, secretary of state.

Isaac BURPEE, minister of Customs.

WIiLLIAM Ross, minister of Militia and Defence.
DonNALD A. MACDONALD, postmaster-general.
Turomas COFFIN, receiver-general.

TELESPHORE FOURNIER, Q.C., minister of Inland Revenue.
Ricuarp W. Scort, Q.C., without portfolio.

As Macdonald had resigned without a vote of the house,
Mackenzie did not know how far he could depend upon its
support, and he believed that the people of Canada ought to
pronounce on the Pacific Scandal. Accordingly parliament
was dissolved on January 2, 1874. The law did not then
require the holding of the elections on one day, but Mackenzie
voluntarily fixed nearly all the elections for January 22, 1874.
He was a believer in simultaneous elections, and later in 1874
made a radical change in the election law. All elections were
to be on one day, with exceptions in the case of some remote
constituencies. Property qualification was abolished and vote
by ballot introduced. By another measure the trial of election
petitions was transferred from the House of Commons and its
committees to election courts composed of judges.

In his election address Mackenzie promised vote by ballot,
an insolvency law, a Supreme Court for the Dominion and the
revision of the militia system. As to the Pacific Railway he
said :

We must endeavour to arrange with British Columbia
for such a relaxation of the terms of Union as may give
time for the completion of the surveys of the Pacific
Railway, and the acquisition of the information necessary
to an intelligent apprehension of the work, and for its
subsequent prosecution with such speed and under such
management as the resources of the country will permit,
without too largely increasing the taxation of the people.

As a temporary means of access to the North-West he
proposed to use the water stretches between the Rocky
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Mountains and Fort Garry, and between Fort Garry and
Lake Superior, and also to connect Manitoba and the Ameri-
can system of railways by way of Pembina. The election
resulted in an overwhelming majority for the new government.

ProTESTS FROM BriTisH CoLuMBIA

One of the first questions that engaged the attention of the
new government was the modification of the terms of union
with British Columbia. Owing partly to the difficulties
which had culminated in the fall of the Macdonald govern-
ment, little progress had been made for two years in the
building of the transcontinental railway. The province in
1873 protested against the delay.

In February 1874 James D. Edgar, a prominent liberal
member of parliament, was appointed by the government
to go to British Columbia and endeavour to obtain a modifica-
tion of the terms. Edgar made several formal proposals,
including postponement of the time for completion of the
road, building a line from Esquimalt to Nanaimo, immediate
surveys on the mainland, a wagon road along the line of the
railway in the province, a telegraph line across the continent,
and a large annual expenditure as soon as the surveys were
completed. These terms were rejected, and in June 1874
the British Columbia government sent G. A. Walkem, Q.C.,
premier and attorney-general, to England to protest against
the repudiation of the terms of union.

Lord Carnarvon, secretary of state for the Colonies,
now offered his services as arbitrator, and his offer was
accepted. The heads of his decision were as follows: (1) A
railway from Esquimalt to Nanaimo, to be commenced and
completed expeditiously ; (2) surveys on the mainland, to be
pushed vigorously ; (3) wagon road and telegraph line, to be
constructed immediately ; (4) an expenditure of two millions
a year on railways within the province when the surveys were
sufficiently advanced ; (5) the railway to be finished by
December 31, 1890—at least so as to connect with American
railways and reach the west end of Lake Superior.

The Dominion government accepted these terms, and

VOL. VI E
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Mackenzie in 1875 introduced a bill for the construction of
the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway. Edward Blake and
several other liberals voted against the bill, holding that it
imposed too heavy a burden on Canada, and in the Senate
it suffered defeat. The discontent in British Columbia was
thus revived.

At length the governor-general, Lord Dufferin, decided
that it was a case for his intervention, and he visited the
province to bring about a reconciliation. His speech at
Victoria was a masterpiece of diplomacy. He loyally upheld
Mackenzie ; he showed that the delay was largely due to
the extraordinary difficulty of surveys in a country where the
passes through the mountains were unfrequented, unlike the
United States, where every track and trail was wayworn
through the passage of troops of immigrants to Salt Lake
City, to Sacramento and the Golden Gate. He declared that
Mackenzie was not responsible for the action of the Senate,
and emphatically denied that there was collusion. British
Columbia, he said half jocularly, must accept part of the blame
for an impossible bargain. ‘The mountains which have
proved our stumbling-block were your mountains.’

Lord Dufferin’s tactful speech, followed by Mackenzie’s
vigorous prosecution of the surveys, definite adoption of the
Burrard Inlet route and construction of several important
pieces of railway, quieted and satisfied British Columbia, and
the agitation gradually ceased.

Mackenzie's railway policy was announced in 1874. The
question of government construction or private enterprise
was left open. A subsidy of $10,000 and 20,000 acres a mile
was offered, with a guarantee of four per cent for a term of
years, on a sum per mile to be stated in each contract. Con-
tracts for the main line were to be submitted to parliament.
The government reserved the right to resume possession of
the whole or any section of the railway, on payment of ten
per cent over the original cost, less the value of land and
money subsidies. The branch line from Fort Garry was to
be pushed forward rapidly to connect with American railways.

Capitalists would not undertake construction on these
terms, and the work was carried on by the government.
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Mackenzie placed under contract 114 miles from Selkirk
to Rat Portage, and 113 miles from Fort William to English
River. The Pembina branch from Winnipeg to the American
frontier was completed in 1878.

REciprocCITY

In 1874 an opportunity arose to negotiate a reciprocity
treaty with the United States. Under the Treaty of Washing-
ton there was to be an arbitration to determine the value of
the use of the Canadian fisheries by American fishermen.
George Brown had suggested that a measure of reciprocity in
trade would be more acceptable to Canada than a compensa-
tion in cash. In a visit to Washington he formed the opinion
that a bill for the renewal of the Elgin Treaty, if submitted
to Congress at once, would be carried.

On March 17, 1874, a commission was issued appointing
Sir Edward Thornton, British minister at Washington, and
the Hon. George Brown, then a senator of Canada, as joint
plenipotentiaries to negotiate a treaty of fisheries, commerce
and navigation with the United States. The composition of
the commission, with Canada and Great Britain equally
represented, was regarded as a decided advance on that of
1871, when Sir John Macdonald, as one commissioner out of
five, had so unsatisfactory an experience in endeavouring to
uphold the rights of Canada. Brown was selected not only
because of his knowledge of and interest in reciprocity, but
because his steady and strong friendship for the North during
the war had made him acceptable to the government of the
United States.

A draft treaty was agreed upon. It provided for: (1) the
concession to the United States of the Canadian fisheries for
twenty-one years; (2) the admission duty free into both
countries of certain natural products; (3) the admission duty
free into both countries of certain manufactured articles ;
(4) the enlargement of the Welland and St Lawrence canals ;
(5) the conmstruction of the Caughnawaga and Whitehall
canals; (6) reciprocity in the coasting trade on the Lakes and
the St Lawrence : (7) reciprocal free use of Canadian, New
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York and Michigan canals; (8) reciprocal admission of vessels
built in either country to registry in the other; (9) a joint
commission for efficient lighting of common inland waters ;
(10) a joint commission for protection of fish in inland waters.

The treaty was a wide one, embracing all important farm
products, grains, vegetables, fruits, animals and dairy pro-
ducts—and a list of manufactures including agricultural im-
plements, boots and shoes, several kinds of cotton fabrics,
furniture, carriages, wagons and other vehicles, engines and
many other products of iron and steel.

Brown found that American misapprehension of Canada,
its revenues, commerce, shipping, railways and industries,
was truly marvellous. ‘Americans believed that the trade
of Canada was of little value to the United States ; that the
reciprocity treaty had enriched Canada at their expense ;
and that the abolition of the treaty had plunged Canada in
despair.” He prepared a paper in which he showed that the
termination of the treaty did not ruin Canadian commerce,
but that the external trade of Canada, which had averaged
$115,000,000 from 1854 to 1862, rose to $142,000,000 in the
year following the abrogation, and to $240,000,000 in 1873.
As to wheat, flour, provisions and other articles of which
both countries had a surplus, the effect of the high American
duties had been to send the products of Canada to compete
with those of the United States in neutral markets. President
Grant sent the treaty to the Senate with a half-hearted and
non-committal message. It reached the Senate only two days
before adjournment, and was returned to the president with
the advice that it was inexpedient to proceed with its con-
sideration.

In Canada the treaty was subjected to much adverse
criticism. A convention of manufacturers in Hamilton
denounced it as a departure from the policy ‘ for many years
maintained in Canada, of encouraging industries.” The
Dominion Board of Trade declared against it. In his speech
in the Senate in 1875, justifying the treaty, Brown regretted
the growth of protectionist sentiment, which he attributed
to the burden caused by the increased debt, and to the
deceptive cry of incidental protection. The charge that the
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treaty would discriminate against British imports was easily
disposed of. It was shown that every article admitted free
from the United States would be admitted free from Great
Britain. But as this meant that the Canadian manufacturer
would be subjected to British as well as American competition,
it only strengthened the protectionist objection.

Owing to the failure of these negotiations, the arbitration
to fix the compensation for the use of the Canadian fisheries
went on, and $5,500,000 was awarded to Canada for the use
of the fisheries during the time fixed by the Washington
Treaty of 1871. The commission was comprised of Sir Alex-
ander Galt for Canada, the Hon. Judge Kellogg for the
United States, and Maurice Delfosse, Belgian minister at
Washington, as umpire. Judge Kellogg dissented, and there
was much dissatisfaction in the United States, but finally the
amount was paid.

CaNADA FIRST

A movement which powerfully affected public life during
the later years of the Macdonald administration and the early
years of the Mackenzie régime was known as ‘ Canada First.’
It was brought into life by the Riel Rebellion and the murder
of Scott. It did much to arouse public feeling against Riel
and against the Macdonald government for its weakness in
dealing with the North-West question. In 1874 the Canadian
National Association was organized, with the following
platform : (1) British connection, and consolidation of the
Empire, and in the meantime a voice in treaties affecting
Canada ; (2) closer trade relations with the British West
Indies with a view to ultimate political connection ; (3) an
income franchise ; (4) the ballot with compulsory voting ;
(s5) representation of minorities; (6) encouragement of
immigration and free homesteads; (7) the imposition of
duties for revenue, so adjusted as to afford every possible
encouragement to native industry ; (8) an improved militia
system under trained Dominion officers; (9) no property
qualification for members of the House of Commons; (10)
reorganization of the Senate; (1I) pure and economical
administration of public affairs.



70 THE MACKENZIE ADMINISTRATION, 1873-1878

At one time it appeared as if the new movement had
secured a strong ally in the Hon. Edward Blake. On October
3, 1874, he made a speech at Aurora, Ontario, which greatly
encouraged the Canada First party and alarmed the old-
line reformers. He advocated the federation of the Empire,
reorganization of the Senate, compulsory voting, extension of
the franchise and representation of minorities. He said that
it was impossible to foster a national spirit without national
interests. He described the Canadian people as four millions
of Britons who were not free. He pointed out that Canada
might be plunged in war by a policy in which she had no voice.
The speech aroused enthusiasm among the younger and more
independent element of the liberal party and caused uneasiness
among the more rigid partisans, who saw in it insurgent
tendencies. Some also suspected the Canada First men of
leaning towards Canadian independence, a suspicion which
was strengthened by the election of Goldwin Smith as presi-
dent of the National Club—formed to assist the movement on
its social side. On October 27 the Toronto Globe attacked
the Canada First party and Goldwin Smith for promoting
treason. Goldwin Smith replied that he favoured not
revolution but evolution :

Gradual emancipation means nothing more than the
gradual concession by the mother country to the colonies
of powers of self-government. This process has already
been carried far. Should it be carried further and
ultimately consummated, as I frankly avow it must, the
mode of proceeding will be the same that it has always
been. Each step will be an act of Parliament passed
with the assent of the Crown. As to the filial tie between
England and Canada, I hope it will endure for ever.

While Goldwin Smith thus frankly avowed his belief in
the ultimate independence of Canada, there were others con-
nected with the movement, including Colonel Denison, who
were strong imperialists. The bond which united them was
naticnal spirit; they voiced and appealed to the generous
enthusiasm of Canadians who wished to see their country take
the place of a nation, and do the work of a nation, in the
world.
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A weekly journal called the Nation, having a high standard
of literary excellence, and a Toronto daily newspaper entitled
the Liberal, were established as a result of the impulse given
by the Canada First movement, and had brief though brilliant
careers. Edward Blake ceased to give the movement his
countenance, and re-entered the Mackenzie government, from
which he had retired. The organization disappeared, but it
had voiced and helped to awaken national sentiment, and its
influence was enduring. Its advocacy of protection was upon
national rather than upon economic grounds ; and in the early
history of the protectionist campaign this teaching could be
plainly discerned, as well as in the adoption of the name ‘ The
National Policy.” It was largely by appealing to this national
sentiment that the conservatives afterwards obtained the
approval of the country for their protective tariff, and also
for the bold enterprise of building the Canadian Pacific
Railway.

THE SuPREME COURT

In 1875 the government, acting on the power conferred
by Section 101 of the British North America Act, introduced
a measure establishing a Supreme Court for Canada.! It was
to be a court of appeal in all civil cases, and, with certain
limitations, in treason, felony and misdemeanour. Special
jurisdiction was given to the court in certain constitutional
questions, including (1) controversies between provinces and
the Dominion of Canada; (2) controversies between pro-
vinces ; (3) the validity of acts of the parliament of Canada
or of any province. The legislation was attacked on the
ground that it impaired the jurisdiction of the 'provincial
courts. This point was emphasized by some French-Canadian
members, who urged that the court might not thoroughly
understand the peculiar laws of Quebec, and that litigants
in that province might thus be exposed to injustice. It was
argued that parliament had no power to confer jurisdiction on

! A bill having the same purpose had been drafted by Sir John Macdonald in
1869 and introduced in that session and in 1870, but it was not until 1875 that
the measure became law. Telesphore Fournier, the minister of Justice, in
introducing the bill of 1875, paid a handsome tribute to Sir John Macdonald’s
work.
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the court in regard to provincial laws, because these were not
‘laws of Canada’ within the meaning of Section 101 of the
British North America Act. Parliament, however, decided
to grant this jurisdiction, which has not since been successfully
assailed. Another objection was raised to the provision that
the judgment should be final and conclusive, and that there
should be no appeal to any court in Great Britain ¢ saving
any right which Her Majesty may be graciously pleased to
exercise as a royal prerogative.” It was urged that this would
endanger British connection. In answer to this objection
it was explained that the litigant would not be debarred from
going to the foot of the throne, but that he must choose
between the appeal to the Supreme Court and the appeal to
the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council ; while the appeal
from the Canadian court to the Privy Council might still be
taken by leave.

THE CLERGY AND POLITICS

By-elections held in Quebec in 1876 raised the question of
clerical interference in elections. Bishop Bourget of Montreal
denounced Catholic liberalism, and declared that it had been
described by the Pope and by the Archbishop and Bishops of
Quebec as a thing to be regarded with the abhorrence with
which one contemplates a pestilence. Catholic liberalism
was practically identified with liberalism in politics, though
Wilfrid Laurier, in a speech to which reference will be made
later on, contended that the two things were absolutely
different. Roman Catholic priests in the county of Charle-
voix declared that to vote for the liberal candidate would be
a mortal sin. To such an extent-was their intimidation
carried that proceedings were taken to set aside the election
of Hector Langevin, the conservative candidate, because of
undue influence and spiritual intimidation. Judge Routhier,
before whom the case was first tried, sustained the election,
holding that the clergy had done no more than take advantage
of the free exercise of the Roman Catholic religion, guaran-
teed at the Conquest. But this judgment was reversed and
the election annulled by the Supreme Court. That court
declared that the threat of spiritual penalties constituted
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an unlawful interference with the full exercise of the
franchise.

In June 1877 Wilfrid Laurier, then a rising member of the
Quebec liberal party, delivered at Quebec a notable address
on ‘ Political Liberalism.” It was an eloquent vindication of
liberalism, especially as manifested in the growth of British
free institutions. By laying stress on British history he
sought to free liberalism from the reproach of irreligion, and
of sympathy with the revolutionary doctrines which had dis-
turbed Europe. He declared that Canadian liberals had no
desire to exclude the clergy from taking part in political
affairs, but the clergy must use persuasion, not intimidation :
‘ The right of interference in politics ends at the spot where it
encroaches on the elector’s independence.’

In October 1877 Wilfrid Laurier became minister of Inland
Revenue, in succession to Joseph Edouard Cauchon, appointed
Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba. When he sought re-
election in Drummond and Arthabasca he was unexpectedly
defeated by a small majority. It was a defeat for the
administration, and a foreshadowing of the overthrow of
September 1878 ; but it was also largely due to persistent
repetition of the story that Laurier was a bad Catholic, and
that he and his party were under the ban of the Church.
Laurier was afterwards elected in Quebec East. In spite of
his moderate and eloquent address and of the Charlevoix
decision, the hostility of the clergy to the liberal party con-
tinued, and it probably contributed to the overwhelming
defeat of the government in the general election of 1878, so
far as Quebec was concerned.

TEMPERANCE LEGISLATION

The question of the prohibition or regulation of the liquor
traffic figures largely in Canadian politics. In 1874 and 1875
many petitions for the prohibition of the liquor traffic were
presented to the Dominion parliament. A committee to
which these petitions were referred recommended that full
information be obtained as to the working of prohibition laws
in certain of the United States. A commission appointed for
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this purpose reported favourably to prohibition. In 1875
George W. Ross, a liberal and a prominent advocate of
temperance, moved a resolution declaring that ‘ Parliament
is prepared, as soon as public opinion will effectively sustain
stringent measures, to promote such legislation as will pro-
hibit the manufacture, importation and sale of intoxicating
liquors, as far as the same is within the competence of this
House.” Dr John C. Schultz, a conservative member, went
further, moving an amendment declaring that it was the
duty of the government to submit a measure for prohibition
at the earliest practicable moment. Mackenzie denounced this
amendment as a move intended merely to embarrass the
government. No conclusion was arrived at. In 1876 and
1877 the question was raised whether the parliament of
Canada or the provincial legislatures had the right to pro-
hibit. These two questions—the question of jurisdiction, and
the effect of prohibition upon the fortunes of the two political
parties—were continually reappearing. In 1877 Mackenzie
declared frankly that public opinion was not ripe for pro-
hibition ; that, therefore, a prohibitory law could not be
enforced, and that the attempt might even injure the cause
of temperance.

In 1878 it was decided to move along the line of local
prohibition. There was already a measure of this kind on
the statute book, the Dunkin Act. It applied, however, only
to Ontario and Quebec. It provided for local option in
townships and smaller municipalities. This limitation of
area was regarded as a defect, and the new measure provided
for prohibition in entire counties. It was called the Canada
Temperance Act, and was popularly known as the Scott Act,
from the Hon. Richard W. Scott, who introduced it in the
Senate. To bring the measure into effect in any county
the machinery of the Dominion election law was employed.
One-fourth of the persons qualified to vote in a Dominion
election were required for a petition for a vote. The voters
were the same as for Dominion elections, and a majority of
the votes cast would bring the law into effect. If rejected,
it could not be submitted again for three years.

The law at first achieved a great success, and many
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counties were brought under prohibition. About the year
1888 a reaction set in, and the law was repealed in county after
county by decisive majorities. Subsequently attempts were
made to have prohibition laws enacted for the whole Dominion
and for the Province of Ontario. A plebiscite was taken in
each case and a majority recorded for prohibition, but there
the matter ended.

So far as the Province of Ontario is concerned, the pro-
hibitionists have returned to the idea of local option in small
municipalities. The advantage of this plan is that the small
municipality is more likely to remain ‘ dry ’ than the county.
A county under the Scott Act might be carried for prohibition,
but it might contain sections where the people were strongly
opposed to the measure. These would become centres and
strongholds of disaffection. A small area like a township is
less likely to contain such centres, and as the by-law can be
carried or repealed only by a three-fifths majority there is
less likelihood of change.

In 1910 the Scott Act was in force in twenty-two counties
or cities, of which ten were in Nova Scotia, ten in New Bruns-
wick and two in Manitoba. A large part of Ontario is under
local option, as provided for by the provincial law.

THE LETELLIER CASE

To students of politics and of the constitution the Letellier
case is of considerable interest. Letellier de St Just, a strong
liberal and a colleague of Alexander Mackenzie, was appointed
Lieutenant-Governor of Quebec. The ministry under de
Boucherville was conservative, and there was ill-feeling and
friction between the governor and his advisers. Letellier
de St Just was a proud and sensitive man, and he was influ-
enced by a belief that his ministers were deliberately flouting
his authority and endeavouring to humiliate him. On paper
there was a good deal of wrangling over constitutional ques-
tions, but beneath the controversy there lay much personal
and partisan bitterness.

The grounds on which Letellier dismissed his prime
minister in March 1878 were that important legislation
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involving the levying of taxes had been submitted to the legis-
lature without consultation with him, and that he had thus
been placed in a false position, in conflict with the legislature’s
will. He also criticized the policy and administration of the
government as extravagant. Henri G. Joly undertook the
task of forming a new government. The legislative assembly
voted that the dismissal of de Boucherville was an imminent
danger to responsible government in Quebec, was an abuse
of power, in contempt of the majority of the house, whose
confidence the government possessed, and was a violation of
the liberties of the people. Other votes of want of confidence
in the new government were passed. The legislature was then
prorogued. Both parties to the dispute transmitted their
explanations to the Governor-General of Canada.

In April 1878 Sir John Macdonald brought the matter
before the House of Commons. He moved a resolution de-
claring that the dismissal was unwise and subversive of
the position accorded to the advisers of the crown since the
concession of the principle of responsible government to
the British North American colonies. He said that it was
strange that, having gained responsible government almost at
the point of the bayonet, it was necessary in 1878 to defend
its first principles. The Quebec ministry should have been
free to govern so long as they possessed the confidence of the
legislature, unless there was reason to believe that the legis-
lature did not represent the country. He drew a distinction
between the position of the crown in regard to legislation and
in regard to administration. The crown, he argued, was only
nominally a branch of the legislative power. Any member of
the Quebec legislature could have introduced the measure
for which the lieutenant-governor dismissed his advisers, and
if the house chose to carry it, the ministry must yield. It
would be contempt of the privileges of the legislature to
attempt to justify resistance to its will by referring to the
opinions of the crown. Macdonald said that he had served
under five governors of Canada, that his ministry had never
submitted a .bill to a governor, nor obtained anything but a
general assent to its financial measures.

Alexander Mackenzie, while he sympathized with the
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lieutenant-governor, privately expressed the opinion that his
action was imprudent. In his reply to Sir John Macdonald,
however, he took the ground that the electors of Quebec must
pronounce upon the action of the lieutenant-governor. If
the House of Commons condemned him, its judgment might
be opposed to the verdict of the electors. The proposed
interference would be destructive of provincial autonomy
and subversive of responsible government. The lieutenant-
governor could not be censured without censuring his new
advisers and thus anticipating the free action of the people.
Macdonald’s amendment was defeated, but a similar amend-
ment was carried in the Senate, where there was a conserva-
tive majority.

The result of the Quebec elections was for some time in
doubt, but the friends of the new government succeeded in
electing their candidate for speaker, and the Joly government
remained in power until October 30, 1879.

The defeat of the Mackenzie government in September
1878 gave encouragement to the foes of the lieutenant-
governor of Quebec. Three members of the deposed de
Boucherville administration petitioned the governor-general
in council for the dismissal of the lieutenant-governor. In the
session of 1879 Mousseau, a conservative member, submitted
a motion in the same terms as Sir John Macdonald’s of 1878,
which was carried. Macdonald then recommended to the
governor-general, the Marquis of Lorne, that the Lieutenant-
Governor of Quebec should be removed. The Marquis of
Lorne, with the assent of his ministers, referred the question
to the imperial authorities for instructions. The colonial
secretary replied that a lieutenant-governor had the indisput-
able right to dismiss his ministers ; that for any action he
might take he was directly responsible to the Governor-General
of Canada, and that the governor-general must act upon the
advice of his responsible ministers. The dispatch suggested
reconsideration by the Canadian ministers, and the governor-
general in transmitting it asked the cabinet to state whether
it had given due consideration to the support afforded by the
electorate of Quebec to Joly, the minister who was constitution-
ally responsible for the action of the lieutenant-governor. On
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July 9, 1879, the provincial legislature of Quebec passed an
address declaring that it was for Quebec to pass judgment
on the wisdom of the lieutenant-governor in changing his
ministers ; that the elections in Quebec showed that the
people supported the new government; and that the attempt
to dismiss the governor on the strength of a party vote in
the House of Commons and Senate was an encroachment
on provincial rights. The upshot was that the lieutenant-
governor was dismissed, the cause assigned being that after
the vote of the House of Commons in 1879 and of the Senate
in 1878 * Mr Letellier’s usefulness as a lieutenant-governor was
gone.’

The submission of the question to England was severely
criticized by the opposition, and in 1880 Mackenzie moved a
resolution declaring that it was subversive of the principles
of responsible government. A criticism of another character
was made by Alpheus Todd, the librarian of parliament and
an eminent writer on constitutional questions. He said that
the government, if they desired to dismiss Letellier, should
have taken the initiative. To permit the initiative in such a
momentous proceeding to be undertaken by either house of
parliament would be to allow an undue interference with
executive responsibility.

I1
THE NATIONAL POLICY

HE restoration of the conservative party to power in
1878 having been due mainly to its advocacy of
protection, the question has been raised whether Sir

John Macdonald was a convinced protectionist or adopted
the policy as an opportunist. The truth seems to be that he
had a leaning towards protection, and that the conservative
party had made various starts in that direction, but that the
issue was not sharply defined until 1876.

Galt’s tariff of 1858-59 was so distinctly protectionist as
to provoke a threat of disallowance from the colonial secretary,
acting under pressure from British manufacturers. In 1866
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the tariff was lowered out of regard for feeling in the Maritime
Provinces. The tariff of old Canada was regarded in the
Maritime Provinces as high, and those who promoted Con-
federation ‘found it necessary to give the people of the
Maritime Provinces the most sacred and solemn assurances
that if this union could be accomplished, the Maritime Pro-
vinces would not have to assume the burden and responsibility
of a high tariff.” This is the testimony of W. S. Fielding,
minister of Finance from 1896 to 1911, who adds ‘ that it was
an unwritten treaty between the promoters of the union and
their friends in the Maritime Provinces.” In 1867 the tariff
stood at about 15 per cent. Protectionists contended that
between 1867 and 1873, in spite of the low tariff, the industries
of Canada did not suffer, because the industries of the United
States were paralysed by the Civil War, and were unable to
compete with those of Canada upon Canadian ground ; but
that by 1873 the industries of the United States had revived,
and that American manufacturers, in their eager search for
foreign markets, made a slaughter market of Canada.

As famine forced Peel’s hand and brought about the repeal
of the Corn Laws, so depression forced the issue of protection
in Canada. In the speech from the throne at the opening of
the session of 1874 a deficit was foreshadowed, and reference
was made to commercial depression. To meet the deficit
the duties were raised from 15 to 1724 per cent, but Mackenzie
insisted that this increase was for revenue only, not for
protection. The depression was closely related to that which
began in the United States in 1873. It was some time before
its full weight fell upon Canada, but from 1875 onward it
grew worse. There was a distressing lack of employment.
Manufacturers complained that the country was made a
slaughter market for the surplus products of the United States.
Failures in business were frequent, and the number increased
from year to year. The value of bank stocks fell to an
alarming degree.

There had been an agitation for protection even before the
depression was felt in its full force. It has been shown that
the Canadian opposition to the Brown treaty of 1874 came
largely from manufacturers who desired protection. In his
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speech in the Senate in 1875 justifying his treaty, Brown
said :

Time was in Canada when the imposition of a duty on
any article was regarded as a misfortune and the slightest
addition to an existing duty was resented by the people.
But increasing debt brought new burdens. The deceptive
cry of incidental protection got a footing in the land ;
and from that the step has been easy, to the bold demand
now set up by a few favoured industries : that all the
rest of the community ought to rejoice to be taxed 173}
per cent.

There was a protectionist plank in the platform of the
Canadian National party (Canada First) and a similar plank
in the Rouge platform of 1872. The Nation advocated a
¢ National Tariff.” ‘In Canada,’ it said, ‘ we should build
up a policy that would promote commercial prosperity re-
gardless of theory. To protection in the true sense we have
no desire to return.” There were some avowed advocates
of protection, but as a general rule the writers and speakers
on this side disliked to label themselves protectionists. They
talked of a national tariff, a national policy, a policy framed
to meet the peculiar position of Canada.

Protection was not at first strictly a party question.
Between the sessions of 1875 and 1876 the government was
strongly pressed to increase the tariff for protective purposes.
Until the budget of 1876 was introduced it was not definitely
known that the request would be refused. Charles Tupper,
in criticizing the budget speech, said he was neither a free
trader nor a protectionist, that he would not discuss free trade
or protection as abstract principles in a country of five mil-
lions lying alongside one of forty millions. ‘Canada wants a
national policy,’ he said. He moved no amendment, and in
fact the first protectionist amendments were moved by liberals
—Amilius Irving, representing the manufacturing city of
Hamilton, and T. H. Workman, Montreal. John Macdonald
of Toronto, a liberal, also advocated a change of a similar
kind. Other liberals, including John Charlton of North
Norfolk and William Paterson of Brant, were friendly to
protection, but thought the tariff high enough. A note-
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worthy speech was made by Wilfrid Laurier, who denied that
free trade was a liberal and protection a conservative principle.
He pointed out that in Great Britain both parties accepted
free trade, that in France liberals were divided on the question,
that in Canada there were lifelong and consistent liberals on
both sides, while conservatives had only adopted protection
openly within two or three days.

Finally Sir John Macdonald took the leap, and made pro-
tection a definite party issue by moving a resolution for such
a readjustment of the tariff as would alleviate the stagnation
of business and ¢ would also afford fitting encouragement to
the struggling manufacturing industries as well as to the
agricultural pursuits of the country.” During 1876 and 1877
the protectionist campaign was carried on with vigour by
public meetings and in the press. The conservative party
became thoroughly committed to protection, and the liberal
party to revenue tariff.

It has been said that the government had at first resolved
to raise the duties from 1714 to 20 per cent, but yielded to
the objections of liberals in the Maritime Provinces. The
government could probably have saved itself by a small
increase, and it has been contended that the refusal was
obstinate and unreasoning ; that it had already increased the
duties from 15 to 174 per cent, and that it might without any
great sacrifice of principle have made a further increase to
20 per cent. On the other side it could be urged that since
the 214 per cent increase made in 1874 had not removed the
cloud of depression, there was no assurance that it would
disappear with another 224 per cent. The manufacturers
desired, not a horizontal increase in the percentage of duty,
but a differential increase varying with the requirements of
each industry. Having once acceded to a demand made on
strictly protectionist grounds, the government would have
been compelled to go further and to make surrenders from
year to year until protectionists were satisfied or depression
ceased. They stopped at 1735 per cent because they felt
that they had arrived at the parting of the ways.

In the session of 1878, the last held before the general
election, Macdonald moved the resolution which is regarded

VOL. VI F
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as representing most clearly the idea of the National
Policy.

That this House is of opinion that the welfare of
Canada requires the adoption of a National Policy which
by a judicious readjustment of the tariff will benefit the
agricultural, the mining, the manufacturing and other
interests of the Dominion.

That such a policy will retain in Canada thousands of
our fellow countrymen, now obliged to expatriate them-
selves in search of the employment denied them at home ;
will restore prosperity to our struggling industries, now
so sadly depressed ; will prevent Canada from being a
sacrifice market ; will encourage and develop an active
interprovincial trade ; and moving (as it ought to do)
in the direction of reciprocity of tariffs with our neigh-
bours, so far as the varied interests of Canada may
demand, will greatly tend to procure for this country
eventually a reciprocity of trade.

DEFEAT OF MACKENZIE

Mackenzie was not aware of the strength of protectionist
feeling. In June 1878 John Charlton wrote to him that the
government was resting in a fancied security and might
wake to a realization of disaster. He advised the prime
minister to postpone the date of the general election, to have
the fiscal question thoroughly discussed and the arguments
of protectionists answered by good speakers. Mackenzie
answered that there was no danger. After the election, in
a letter to Luther Holton, an old and highly esteemed
liberal of Quebec, he admitted that he was completely sur-
prised, that he had discerned no signs of disaffection in
his party.

During the campaign Sir John Macdonald made an
announcement which was afterwards frequently quoted
against him. Senator Boyd of New Brunswick telegraphed
him in these words : ‘ Government press here state that you
propose to raise the tariff to 35 per cent. Can I contradict
this 7’ Macdonald replied : ‘It is an absurd falsehood ;
neither in London nor elsewhere have I gone beyond my
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the Empire and that of Canada that might lead to conse-
quences deeply to be deplored.

The protective character of the tariff caused some com-
plaint in England. John Bright questioned the home govern-
ment, and some manufacturers complained to the House of
Commons. But the London T%mes and the colonial secretary
fully admitted the right of the colonies to self-government in
fiscal matters.

About the end of the year 1879 the country entered upon a
period of prosperity which continued for several years. The
good times were attributed to the National Policy by the
friends of that measure ; by its opponents to the passing away
of a period of world-wide depression. 1In any case the country
was satisfied, and the government received the full benefit of
its satisfaction.

On April 28, 1880, Mackenzie announced in the House of
Commons that he had resigned his position as leader of the
opposition. His health had been failing for some time, and
there had been rumours that he would resign and that his
place would be taken by the Hon. Edward Blake. On the
morning following the resignation the leadership was con-
ferred upon Blake. The new leader was disposed to take
issue with the government upon questions other than the
tariff ; and the announcement of the new railway policy of
the government thrust the question of the tariff into the
background for a time.

Tue CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY

In May 1879 Sir Charles Tupper, as minister of Railways,
announced the railway policy of the government in a series
of resolutions, declaring that the transcontinental line would
form an imperial highway, would open up vast fertile lands
and form an outlet for the over-populated British Islands
and Europe, and would by its construction give employment
to many of the unemployed in Great Britain, and that for
these reasons imperial co-operation should be sought. It
was proposed that a hundred million acres of land with the
minerals be vested in a commission, the land to be sold at not



THE CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY 89

less than $2.00 an acre, and the proceeds to form a fund for
the construction of the railway.

In the summer of 1879 Sir John Macdonald, Sir Leonard
Tilley and Sir Charles Tupper visited England and endea-
voured to obtain assistance from the imperial government.
In 1880 it became evident that the policy governing the mode
of construction and control had been changed. There were
several ministerial declarations that private capital would be
forthcoming to build the road. Late in October it was
announced that a contract had been made with a syndicate
of capitalists for the purpose. Parliament was called in
December 1880, in order that the agreement might be ratified.
The terms were as follows : the Canadian Pacific Railway
Company was to receive $25,000,000 in cash, and 25,000,000
acres of land, besides certain portions of the road already
completed or under construction by the government. These
were valued by Sir Charles Tupper at $28,000,000, which was
a minimum estimate. The grant of land was to be made in
alternate sections a mile wide and twenty-four miles deep
on each side of railway. If any sections were unfit for settle-
ment the company could select other lands in the fertile belt.
The company was also to have lands for road-bed, station
grounds and workshops, also dock ground and water frontage
at terminals on navigable waters. All construction material
was to be admitted free of duty. No competing road could
be built south of the main line in Western Canada for twenty
years. All station grounds, rolling stocks and capital stock
of the company were to be free for ever from taxation by
Dominion, province or municipality. The lands of the com-
pany in the territories, unless either sold or occupied, were
freed of taxation for twenty years after the grant from the
crown. Tolls were not to be reduced until net profits ex-
ceeded ten per cent on capital expended in construction.

The proposals were keenly criticized by the Hon. Edward
Blake, the new leader of the opposition. The basis of the
attack was that the company in return for a very small
investment of their own money would receive enormous
advantages and privileges. He valued the grant at from
$111,800,000 to $162,000,000. He objected to the surrender
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of the road to the company. °‘By the old plan, if we built
the railway we had it. By the new, we are to pay for it
handsomely with a very large bonus to the builders, and then
they are to own it.” He objected to the exemption of land
from taxation as tending to retard settlement. Lands would
be locked up and held by the company until their value was
enhanced by actual settlers, while these settlers would have
to bear excessive taxation to make up for the deficiency caused
by the exemption. Large unoccupied tracts alternating with
settlers’ farms would check the progress of the country.
He protested against the monopoly, and the practical absence
of control over rates. It was true there would be nominal
control as soon as the company earned ten per cent on its
capital, but the capital would include the money grant from
Canada, the land grant and the portions of railway already
completed. The value of all this would be from $90,000,000
to $120,000,000. Hence the company might divide a profit
of between nine and twelve millions a year before control
would be effective. The government had virtually turned the
farmers of the west over to the syndicate, who would take
toll of the profits of their labour, and charge ‘all the traffic
would bear.’

During the Christmas holidays meetings were held by
Blake and by Tupper in almost every constituency in Ontario
and in some places in the Maritime Provinces. In January it
was announced in opposition journals that a new syndicate
had offered to build the railway for $22,000,000 and 22,000,000
acres of land, with no exemption from duties on material
imported, no exemption from taxation and no monopoly,
and with provision that the government might take possession
of the line on terms to be settled by arbitration. In parlia-
ment Sir John Macdonald attacked the new proposal vigor-
ously, describing it as a farce and a political plot, and an
attempt to destroy the national character of the enterprise
and make the Canadian prairies tributary to the United
States. After a brief but strenuous debate, in which twenty-
four amendments were rejected, the contract was ratified.

Public opinion favoured the project. National sentiment
and the spirit of enterprise were gratified by the prospect of
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closer communication with that great western country that
had been added to Canada. The boldness of the enterprise,
the magnitude of the task undertaken by so young a country,
added to its fascination. The objections urged by Blake and
the opposition party were weighty, but the criticism was in
advance of the times. Actual experience was required to
enable the country to perceive the evils of the monopoly,
of the exemption from taxation, of the locking up of large
tracts of land from settlement, of the absence of effective
regulation of rates. But with all these faults there was the
unquestioned merit of energy showing itself in rapid construc-
tion, and in the pushing of the work on to completion long
before the time agreed upon.

THE REDISTRIBUTION OF 1882

In 1881 a census was taken. It showed a population of
4,342,810 divided as follows: Ontario 1,923,228, Quebec
1,359,027, Maritime Provinces 870,696, Manitoba 65,954,
British Columbia 49,459, Territories 56,466. Under the
British North America Act the representation of the pro-
vinces must be readjusted after each census, according to
population.

The redistribution of constituencies following the census
was described by the liberals, and severely attacked, as ¢ the
gerrymander.” Its assigned object was to equalize the con-
stituencies. It was attacked, first, as breaking through the
municipal boundary lines, and, second, as designed to *hive
the Grits,” that is, to concentrate their vote so that they
would be able to elect the smallest possible number of repre-
sentatives. The simplest illustration is that of a county
divided into three ridings, and giving on the whole a liberal
majority. By skilful manipulation the greater part of this
majority could be massed in one constituency, so that the
other two would be conservative. The liberal contention
was that not only was this done, but that where the effect
could not be attained within the county, the county lines were
broken and patches of county were added or taken away in
order to complete the hiving process. They further believed
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that the bill was aimed specially at Mackenzie, Cartwright
and other leading liberals in Ontario.

Indignant protests were made, and some thirty amend-
ments were moved. The tendency of the measure was very
greatly to aggravate the bitterness of the political conflict.
At the same time, its advantage to the conservatives was not
unquestioned. The government obtained a large majority
in Ontario in the elections of 1882, but this was in spite of
the gerrymander rather than because of it. Ontario was
conservative because of the National Policy, because of the
Canadian Pacific Railway, because of the prosperity of the
country and the feeling of life and hope inspired by rapid
progress. Most of the liberal members at whom it was
believed the gerrymander struck were elected, and there was
a prevailing belief that this was due to chivalry aroused by
injustice. Liberals, however, asserted that this feeling wore
off, and that they felt the effects of the measure more keenly
in 1887.

Though the dissolution of 1882 was premature, it had been
expected. Both parties entered into the political battle with
enthusiasm. Each was satisfied with its leadership and its
policy. It was a period of conventions, of programmes and
‘ platforms,” of campaign songs. The conservatives relied
upon the National Policy, upon the Canadian Pacific Railway,
upon the prosperity of the country. Blake in his election
address somewhat minimized the importance of the tariff
issue. He said that it was necessary to raise a large revenue
by import duties, and that as a result of this the manufacturers
would enjoy an incidental protection that would be ample.
‘ Our adversaries wish to present to you as an issue the present
tariff and absolute free trade. That is not the true issue.
Free trade is, as I have repeatedly explained, for us im-
possible, and the issue is whether the present tariff is perfect
or imperfect and unjust.” He repeated his criticism of the
Pacific Railway project, condemned the gerrymander, and
laid stress on provincial rights as involved in the contest
between Ontario and the Dominion. The nature of these
will be explained later on ; it will suffice to say here that they
affected the area of the province to the extent of more than
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boundary, and on the east at the mouth of the Albany River,
332 miles north of the height of land. Between these points
the line followed the Albany and English Rivers with the
intervening lakes. This award was satisfactory to Ontario.
The Dominion had claimed that the western boundary was a
line drawn north from the confluence of the Ohio and Missis-
sippi Rivers. This line, being 89° 9’ 30” west longitude, would
have passed 625 miles east of Port Arthur and west of Lake
Nipigon—that is, about 300 miles farther east than Ontario
claimed. The northern boundary, according to the Dominion,
was the height of land dividing the waters flowing into Hudson
Bay from those flowing into the Great Lakes. The difference
in area, according to the generally accepted opinion, was
between an Ontario of 116,782 and one of 260,862 square miles,
butin the argument before the Privy Council in 1884 the figures
were given as 101,733 and 200,000.

The award was accepted by Ontario, but not by Canada.
The government of Canada contended that the commissioners
had exceeded their power by fixing a conventional or arbitrary
boundary. Sir Francis Hincks, one of the commissioners,
afterwards denied this. The sole ground for this charge, he
said, was that the line connecting the most north-easterly
and most north-westerly points, being a natural boundary,
was adopted for the sake of convenience. In 1880 the House
of Commons refused to ratify the award and appointed a
committee, which decided that the award did not truly define
the bounds of Ontario.

In 1881 a new element was introduced into the dispute by
the passage of a Dominion law extending the boundaries of
Manitoba eastward. Its eastern boundary was declared to
be identical with the westerly boundary of Ontario. The
Hon. David Mills, liberal member for Bothwell and a high
authority upon constitutional questions, warned the prime
minister that he was provoking a contest between Ontario
and Manitoba. He proposed that, pending the settlement,
the boundary of Manitoba should not be extended eastward
beyond the line fixed by the arbitration. This proposal was
rejected. In the following session the House of Commons,
at the instance of the government, resolved that the question
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should be referred to the Supreme Court or the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council.

In the summer of 1883 the town of Rat Portage (now
Kenora), lying at the north end of the Lake of the Woods and
within the disputed territory, became the battleground of an
extraordinary conflict. In the previous year the town had
been incorporated by the Manitoba legislature and had a
magistrate, a police force and a gaol under Manitoba jurisdic-
tion. The people had voted in elections for both provinces.
In July 1883 the Province of Qntario resolved to assert its
jurisdiction, appointed a stipendiary magistrate and a force
of constables and established a court-house and gaol. The
Ontario and Manitoba constables fought and arrested each
other. The Manitoba gaol was broken open and afterwards
set on fire, and there was general disorder and ill-feeling.
In September there was an election for the Ontario legisla-
ture in Algoma, which, according to the Ontario contention,
included Rat Portage. It was reported that sixty men of
the Winnipeg battery had been ordered to go to Rat Portage
on polling day, and Arthur Sturgis Hardy, the provincial
secretary of Ontario, then in Winnipeg, protested against
this action.

After the election, which resulted in the return of a
supporter of the Ontario government, there was peace for a
time. In November hostilities were renewed, but at this time
Oliver Mowat, who had been in England during the trouble,
intervened and made a truce with Attorney-General Miller
of Manitoba. Neither province abandoned its claims, but
arrangements were made for the government of the disputed
territory by joint authority. The question of the western
boundary was referred to the Judicial Committee of the Privy
Council, and in August 1884 the Judicial Committee of the
Privy Council decided that the line fixed by the award between
Ontario and Manitoba was substantially correct.

Sir John Macdonald contended that the land, timber and
minerals in the territory belonged to the Dominion. ‘Even
if all the territory Mr Mowat asks for were awarded to
Ontario,” he said in a speech in Toronto, on May 30, 1882,
‘ there is not one stick of timber, one acre of land or one lump
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of lead, iron or gold that does not belong to the Dominion
or to the people who have purchased from the Dominion
government.’

Acting under this belief, the Dominion government dealt
with the lands in the disputed territory, and issued timber
licences covering a million acres. A test case was made by an
action brought against the St Catharines Milling and Lumber-
ing Co. The company pleaded the Dominion licence, and
contended that the lands and lumber were the property of
Canada, which had acquired the Indian title. The Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council, agreeing with the three
Canadian courts, decided that the land, timber and minerals
belonged to the Province of Ontario.

THE STREAMS BirLL

Another measure which played a large part in the campaign
literature of the early eighties was the Rivers and Streams
Bill. In 1881 the Ontario legislature passed an act for pro-
tecting the public interest in rivers, streams and creeks. It
provided that all persons should have during freshets the right
to float sawlogs, etc., down rivers and streams. Improvers
were to be paid tolls for the use of improvements, but not to
have exclusive rights on streams. The bill was retroactive,
and it was stated that it affected the pending suit of Caldwell
and M¢Laren. This suit had arisen thus: Peter M¢Laren
owned limits on the banks of the Mississippi and other streams
in Eastern Ontario and at his own cost had made the waters
available for floating sawlogs. William C. Caldwell claimed
the right to use these improvements. M¢Laren obtained from
Vice-Chancellor Proudfoot an injunction against such use.
The Ontario Court of Appeal reversed Vice-Chancellor Proud-
foot’s decision, but it was restored by the Supreme Court.
The contest was continued in the political arena as well
as in the courts. The bill was disallowed by the Dominion
government in 1881. It was twice again enacted and twice
again disallowed. Finally, in 1884, the Privy Council reversed
the judgment of the Supreme Court in Caldwell ». M¢Laren.
The decision was regarded as upholding the Ontario con-
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tention, and the bill, having been re-enacted with some
amendments, was not again disallowed.

THE LICENCE Law

The provinces and the Dominion fought another battle
over the regulation of the liquor traffic. In 1882 a Mr Russell,
of Fredericton, N.B., appealed from a conviction under the
Canada Temperance Act (the Scott Act), a measure under
which prohibition could be enforced in a locality by a popular
vote. The power of the Dominion parliament to enact the
law, which was called in question in these proceedings, was
affirmed by the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council.
It was decided that the Canada Temperance Act was valid
as maintaining the peace, order and good government of
Canada.

From this decision Sir John Macdonald drew the inference
that the Crooks Act, regulating the issue of licences in Ontario,
was invalid, and that the Dominion government could control
the traffic. In the session of 1883 he proceeded to enact a
liquor licence law for the Dominion. Edward Blake argued
that the decision did not invalidate the provincial laws, and
hence he and other liberals declined to act on a special com-
mittee appointed to frame a bill. The committee reported a
bill drafted by D’Alton M¢Carthy, a distinguished lawyer and
prominent conservative, establishing a Dominion system of
hotel, shop, vessel and wholesale licences. The bill became
law under strong protest from the opposition.

The situation was changed by another decision, in the case
of Hodge v. the Queen. Here the validity of the Crooks Act
was directly attacked. In May 1883 the Privy Council de-
cided that the powers conferred by the Liquor Licence Act
were police and municipal regulations, that they did not
interfere with the regulation of trade and commerce, and did
not conflict with the Canada Temperance Act. It was
decided that the provincial legislatures were, within their
own powers, supreme, like the imperial or Dominion parlia-
ment.

This decision validated the provincial law, but it was

VOL. V1 G
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questioned whether it voided the Dominion Licence Act.
The Dominion government appointed licence commissioners
and took steps to operate the act. Finally, the question of
the constitutionality of the act was referred to the Supreme
Court of Canada. The Supreme Court decided that the acts
were wultra vires of the Dominion parliament except as to
vessel and wholesale licences, and except as to carrying out
the Canada Temperance Act. The Privy Council on appeal
decided that both the M¢Carthy Act and the amending act of
1884 were ultra vires. The law was afterwards repealed.

THE FRANCHISE

By the British North America Act it was provided that
the franchises of the various provinces should be used in
Dominion elections until otherwise provided by the parliament
of Canada. The provincial franchises were so used until 1885.
In 1870, 1883 and 1884 bills providing for a Dominion
franchise were introduced and withdrawn after passing
through several stages.

When a franchise bill was introduced in April 1885, the
end of the session was supposed to be at hand, but the
legislation was pushed forward with such vigour and
resisted so resolutely that the session was prolonged for
three months.

The main provisions of the bill were (1) uniform suffrage ;
(2) low property qualification ; (3) federal officers to prepare
and revise voters' lists; (4) enfranchisement of Indians
having the necessary property qualifications.

Sir John Macdonald also proposed that single women
should have votes, but this was not pressed, although it lent
itself to the prolonged and obstructive discussion which
followed. He argued that there should be uniformity of
suffrage throughout Canada. In a private letter to a British
statesman he said that ¢ the provinces had begun to tinker at
their electoral franchises, and in some cases legislated with
the direct object of affecting the returns of the Federal
Parliament ; so that the independence of Parliament was
threatened to such a degree that it had to be dealt with.’
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At this time the legislatures of Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia
and New Brunswick were under liberal control.

The liberals took strong ground in favour of retaining the
provincial franchises, and even contended that provincial
rights and the federal principle were violated by the bill.
They objected also to the enfranchisement of the Indians, who
as wards of the government would not be free, and to the
revision of lists by revising barristers, who as government
officials might show favour to government candidates.

The liberals regarded the fight as one of life and death,
and openly resorted to obstruction. They divided into relays,
so that some might sleep while others continued the debate.
Long documents, magazine articles dealing with woman
suffrage and other subjects were read. There was also much
good debating on the merits of the bill ; important amend-
ments were suggested and some were made. The enfranchise-
ment of Indians living west of Ontario was prevented. Income
and property qualifications were reduced. Wage earners were
enfranchised. An appeal from revising barristers to judges
was given. Uniformity of franchise was abandoned on ac-
count of strong opposition from Quebec, whose representatives
preferred a franchise more restricted than that of the bill.

To anticipate a little, it may be mentioned here that the
Dominion Franchise Act was repealed soon after the liberals
came into power, and the provincial franchises were again used.

THE NORTH-WEST REBELLION?!

In the spring of 1885 Canada was startled by the news that
a formidable half-breed and Indian rising had occurred in the
North-West Territory, and that a force of mounted police and
volunteers had been defeated by the rebels. The trouble had
been brewing for several years. The scene of the rebellion
was near the junction of the North and South Saskatchewan
rivers. Some of the inhabitants had moved westward from
the Red River Settlement after the insurrection of 1870.
Some had been there from an earlier period. Like the Métis
of the Red River they were hunters and fishers as well as

1 See ¢ Defence, 1812-1912 "’ in this section.
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farmers ; they liked to have their farms fronting on the river
and running back over a long strip of land. They disliked
and distrusted the new civilization, and were especially
fearful of any change or uncertainty as to their land tenure.
They asked for the same treatment as had been accorded to the
Manitoba half-breeds. These and other requests were made
to the Dominion government at various times between 1875
and 1885, when the rebellion broke out. At one time it
appeared as if the matter would be amicably settled. Sir
John Macdonald, on taking charge of the Indian department
in 1878, instructed Colonel Dennis to investigate the Métis
claims. Colonel Dennis supported these claims, and repre-
sented that if conciliated the half-breeds would aid the
government in dealing with the Indians. Similar representa-
tions were made by the Anglican bishop, John M¢Lean, and
by the Roman Catholic archbishop, Alexandre A. Taché.

In 1879 an act was passed authorizing the government to
make land grants to the Métis. After this there appears to
have been no energetic administrative action. In 1882 there
was a land boom in the West and a large amount of speculative
dealing in land, and the Métis became fearful that their
holdings would be disturbed. The situation grew more and
more critical until 1884, when the Métis invited Riel, whose
term of banishment had expired, to return to the country
from the United States.

When, at a later period, the government at Ottawa was
charged with neglect, the answer was that the real grievances
were not great, that many of the half-breeds had already
received land in Manitoba, and that the rebellion was fomented
by disappointed white speculators. After the charge and the
defence are examined, the impression remains that there was
a lack of breadth and foresight in dealing with the situation.
No one seems to have realized that there was danger of an
insurrection similar to that of 1870, with the added horror of
an Indian rising, and that in comparison with this danger the
allowance even of some extravagant claims to land would have
been of trifling importance. The dispute, as Colonel Denison
of Toronto afterwards pointed out, was about a few acres of
land in a country where tens of millions of acres were available
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and where the government was begging for settlers. Too
much stress was laid on the letter of the law and the regula-
tions ; too little on the large political aspects of the question.

Riel, who had already visited his old home in the Red
River Settlement in the summer of 1883, accepted the invita-
tion extended to him. At a meeting held by the Métis at
St Laurent in September 1884, a bill of rights was formulated
with seven requests : (1) subdivision of provinces of North-
West Territory ; (2) half-breeds to receive the same grant
as Manitoba half-breeds ; (3) patents to be issued at once
to those in possession ; (4) sale of half a million acres of
Dominion land, the proceeds to be applied to the establish-
ment of schools, hospitals, etc., and to give the poorer half-
breeds seed, grain and farm implements; (5) reservation
of a hundred townships of swamp hay land for distribution
among children of half-breeds during one hundred and twenty
years; (6) grants of at least $1000 in each case for the
support of a nunnery in every settlement; (7) better pro-
vision for the support of Indians.

The requests for land grants to the half-breeds and the
issue of patents to persons in possession were supported by the
Roman Catholic Bishop of Prince Albert and by most of the
English-speaking settlers. Some of the other requests were
extravagant, and seemed to be inspired by Riel rather than
based upon genuine grievances and needs. The clause asking
for better support for the Indians, it is suggested, was inserted
in order to obtain the aid of the Indians in the rebellion.

During the winter of 1884-85 the situation grew worse,
and in March it became so threatening that officers of the
Mounted Police gave warning that a rebellion might break
out at any time and that the Indians would join the half-
breeds. On March 17 the Métis met at St Laurent, formed a
government with Riel as president and Gabriel Dumont as
adjutant-general. The provisional government seized stores,
imprisoned the Indian agent and telegraph operators, and cut
the telegraph wires. The Métis were joined by a considerable
body of Indians. On March 25 they captured the Duck Lake
post with Indian and government stores. In attempting to
recover this post a detachment of Mounted Police and a
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company of Prince Albert volunteers were defeated by
Indians and half-breeds. The defeat of the Mounted Police
especially had a bad moral effect, depriving that body of the
prestige which it had formerly held among the Indians. The
disaster was communicated to Ottawa and occasioned wild
excitement throughout Canada. There was a general call
to arms, and a force was speedily organized by General
Middleton, commanding the militia. It was some time before
this relief could arrive, and in the meantime the white settlers
of the Saskatchewan valley were in deadly fear of attacks
from the Indians, of whom there were thirty thousand in the
West. This fear was realized. The fort at Battleford was
attacked and the stores were plundered. A farm instructor
named Payne was murdered by Stoney Indians, and at Frog
Lake, an Indian station and mission, nine white men were
murdered by Indians from Big Bear’s camp. Along the North
Saskatchewan the settlers abandoned their homes, which
were plundered and burned by Indians, and fled for safety to
Edmonton or to stations on the Canadian Pacific Railway.
The troops at Winnipeg were hurried forward at once, but
the transportation of the forces from Eastern Canada involved
much difficulty. In the section of the Canadian Pacific
Railway north of Lake Superior there was a stretch of about
one hundred miles over which troops had to be carried on
flat cars, and for seventy or eighty miles they journeyed on
sleighs. The weather in March and April was very cold, and
the men suffered severe hardships. Within a month a force
of 3000 men was transported from Eastern Canada, the
greater portion 1800 miles, and the remainder 2500 miles,
and about 1500 came from Manitoba and the North-West.
These, with the Mounted Police, formed Middleton’s forces.
From Winnipeg westward the Canadian Pacific Railway was
used as the base of operations. Middleton moved north from
Qu’Appelle to Batoche, Riel’s headquarters ; Colonel Otter’s
force to Battleford, and General Strange’s to Edmonton.
After long and toilsome marches all encountered the enemy.
The campaign, though brief, was not one of unchecked success
for the government forces. Otter was repulsed at Cut Knife
Hill by Poundmaker's Indians, and Middleton experienced



THE NORTH-WEST REBELLION 103

strong opposition at Fish Creek and had great difficulty in
driving the rebels from the position chosen by the brave and
skilful Gabriel Dumont. But Middleton’s victory at Batoche
broke the neck of the rebellion. On May 13 the rebels
crowded into his camp to surrender, and on the 15th Riel was
captured by two scouts. He was unarmed, and on giving
himself up produced a letter from General Middleton, offering
him protection until his case had been considered by the
government. Poundmaker surrendered, Big Bear escaped,
and the country once more became quiet and secure. The
struggle was now removed from the field of battle to the
courts and politics.

Riel was tried at Regina before Hugh Richardson, stipendi-
ary magistrate, Henry le Jeune, Associate Justice, and a jury
of six persons. An objection to the jurisdiction of the court
was overruled. Stress was laid by the prosecution on the
charge that Riel had incited the Indians to rise. Evidence to
the effect that the rebellion had been provoked by misgovern-
ment and neglect was rejected. The main defence was
insanity. On this point Dr Jukes, surgeon of the Mounted
Police, said that Riel was sane and accountable for his actions,
but had delusions as to ‘ Divine Mysteries.” Dr Valade of
Ottawa said that he was sensible except for political and re-
ligious delusions. Dr Wallace of Hamilton was satisfied of
his sanity. Dr Ray of Beauport Asylum said that Riel was
there nineteen months in 1877 and 1878, and he was satisfied
his insanity had returned. Dr Daniel Clark, superintendent
of Toronto Asylum, in a letter to the Toronto Globe, said he
had spoken with half-breeds who declared that Riel was sane
until after the Duck Lake fight. Then he acted like a fanatic,
doing no fighting, but running about with a crucifix and
calling upon the Trinity for aid. Dr Clark concluded that he
was insane, but that because he had been the indirect cause
of a deplorable outbreak, his mental condition became of
secondary importance.

Riel addressed the court after his counsel, repudiating the
plea of insanity, but claiming that he was the ‘ prophet of the
new world.” He was found guilty and sentenced to be hanged
on September 8. The judgment was confirmed by the
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Queen'’s Bench of Manitoba, and an attempt to appeal to the
Privy Council failed. Several delays were granted for Riel's
examinations by experts as to sanity, but on November 16
the sentence was carried out at Regina. Riel recanted all
his pretensions to religious leadership and died an orthodox
Roman Catholic. Eight Indians who took part in the Frog
Lake massacre and other murders were also executed.

Two days before Riel’s execution a telegram had been sent
by a number of Quebec members of parliament of both political
parties to Sir John Macdonald, asking that the execution be
notcarried out. The execution was the signal for a formidable
agitation in Quebec. On the following Sunday a huge meeting
in the Champ de Mars, Montreal, was addressed by Honoré
Mercier, leader of the Quebec nationalists, Wilfrid Laurier,
and others of both political parties. The resolutions passed
at this meeting enlarged on the grievances leading up to the
rebellion ; declared that civilized nations had abolished
capital punishment for political offences; pointed out that
Riel had been recommended to mercy by a jury, not one of
whom was of the French race ; claimed that his surrender to
Middleton was conditional on clemency, and charged the
government with sacrificing Riel to the hatred of fanatics, for
reasons of political expediency. The storm raged with fury
and swept Mercier into power as head of the provincial govern-
ment. There was a strong counter-agitation in Ontario, and
racial feeling ran high in both provinces.

The government lost some ground in Quebec, but the
sitnation was also embarrassing for the opposition. There
was a strong case against the government on the ground that
neglect had caused the rebellion. But this issue was sub-
ordinated to that of the execution of Riel, and the liberals
found it impossible to separate condemnation of the execution
from condemnation of the neglect which caused the rebellion.
Ontario had been angered by the escape of Riel after the
slaying of Scott in 1870, and was determined that he should not
escape a second time. Broadly speaking, Riel was executed
for the slaying of Scott, as well as for the part played by him
in the second rebellion.

On January 4, 1886, Edward Blake, who had been in



THE NORTH-WEST REBELLION 105

Europe during the trial and execution, made a speech
in London, Ontario, in which he said that he would
not construct a platform out of the Regina scaffold, but
intimated that he would raise the question of Riel’s mental
condition.

When the house assembled in 1886, Auguste Landry, a
supporter of the government, at that time member for Mont-
magny, afterwards a senator, and appointed speaker of the
Senate in 1911, moved a resolution condemning the execution.
Immediately afterwards Hector Langevin, minister of Public
Works, moved the previous question. It was believed that
there was an arrangement between the two, and it is certain
that an important strategic advantage was won for the
government by the exclusion of amendments. The liberals
were thus prevented from bringing up the question of the
government’s responsibility for the rebellion. A considerable
number of liberals, including Mackenzie and Cartwright,
voted against the Landry resolution, and the government
obtained a majority of nearly a hundred, thus emerging from
a difficult situation with the appearance of a triumph.

Edward Blake and Wilfrid Laurier voted for the Landry
amendment, and in their speeches challenged the justice of the
execution. Laurier held that Riel was insane, and quoted
many historical examples against execution for political
offences. He maintained that Riel was in reality executed,
not for his part in the rebellion of 1885, but for the murder of
Scott fifteen years before. Blake considered at great length
the question of insanity and responsibility. He held that
Riel was not responsible. He took the ground that the
government in capital cases exercises the discretion which in
other cases is exercised by the judge at the trial, and that
this discretion should have prevented the execution. The
defence fell mainly upon John S. D. Thompson (afterwards
Sir John), the new minister of Justice, who by his argument
raised himself at a bound to the front rank of parliamentary
debaters. He laid much stress on the necessity for the
deterrent influence of capital punishment as a protection
to settlers from Indian attacks.

The session of 1886 was the last of the parliament. In the
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winter of 1886-87 there was a strenuous campaign. In the
midst of the Dominion fight Oliver Mowat suddenly had the
legislature in Ontario dissolved, and was returned with a
majority of two to one, and shortly afterwards Mercier carried
Quebec and became its prime minister. It was supposed by
some that these victories presaged a triumph in the federal
field ; but there is reason to believe that they had the
opposite effect, allowing hostility to the federal government
to break its force in local contests. At any rate the govern-
ment was saved. It came back to power with a diminished
majority, but after the election most of the Quebec con-
servatives who had bolted on the Riel question returned to
their allegiance.

Soon after the election it became known that Blake was
desirous of resigning the leadership of the opposition. He
was re-elected leader and strongly pressed to retain the
position, but ill-health and insomnia rendered this impossible,
and on June 2, 1887, his resignation took effect. Three names
were mentioned for the succession, Sir Richard Cartwright,
the Hon. Wilfrid Laurier and the Hon. David Mills. It was
known that Blake’s advice was to appoint Laurier, and on
June 7 he was nominated by Cartwright and Mills and elected
unanimously. A contemporary writer expressed a doubt
whether Laurier had, in addition to eloquence and high
character, the skill and firmness necessary for leadership.
This writer gave expression to a common but very erroneous
notion that Wilfrid Laurier was a dreamy scholar, lacking the
sterner qualities necessary for the political battle.

Jesuir EstaTEs CASE

The embers of race and religious controversy which had
flamed out in the Riel agitation were rekindled by the Jesuit
Estates Case. The chief actor in the drama was Honoré
Mercier, premier of Quebec, who had played so prominent a
part in the Riel agitation. When the Jesuit order was sup-
pressed by the Pope in 1773, their estates in Quebec reverted
to the crown and were used for maintaining public instruction.
At Confederation they passed to the Province of Quebec.
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The Roman Catholic Church held that the estates were the
property of the diocese in which they lay. When the Jesuits
were reinstated and incorporated they also put in a claim to
the estates.

These claims formed a cloud on the title and prevented
the sale of the property. In 1888 Mercier resolved to settle
the question. His act authorized the payment of $400,000 in
lieu of the confiscated land. As there were claims by different
bodies within the Church, it was provided that the Pope should
be asked to ratify the settlement and decide how the money
should be allotted. The division was made among the
Jesuits, the archbishops and bishops of the province, and the
Catholic University of Laval. At the same time the grant to
Protestant schools was increased by $60,000. In Quebec the
settlement was satisfactory and was not strongly opposed
even by Protestants.

In Ontario, however, there was an agitation against the
measure, due to dislike and distrust of the Jesuits and also to
jealousy of papal intervention. The explanation that the
Pope was called in, not as an authority usurping political
power, but as an arbitrator or mediator among various bodies
in his own church, did not allay suspicion. In the House of
Commons, Colonel William E. O’Brien, member for Muskoka,
moved for the disallowance of the bill, backing his resolution
by a powerful speech. D’Alton M¢Carthy, who had a large
popular following in Ontario, spoke on the same side, while
the defence fell to the minister of Justice, Sir John Thompson,
who, as a Catholic, had a somewhat delicate part to play.
The two political parties were averse to raising the question,
and the consequence was that only thirteen votes were re-
corded for the motion. The majority justified their action
mainly upon the ground of provincial rights. They said it
was Quebec’s business.

But the small vote for disallowance did not represent
popular feeling. In Ontario there was an agitation against
clerical privilege, and the Equal Rights Association was formed
to express that protest. Failing to procure the disallowance
of the Jesuit Estates Act, it plunged into provincial politics,
and became a source of hostility to the Mowat government.
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D’Alton M¢Carthy grew more and more active as a Protestant
leader. In the House of Commons he made a vain attempt
to have the use of the French language forbidden in official
proceedings in the North-West Territory. Finally he com-
municated his enthusiasm to Joseph Martin, attorney-general
for Manitoba, and at a meeting in Portage la Prairie, in 1889,
addressed by Mc¢Carthy and Martin, the latter announced
that he would establish a national and non-sectarian school
system in Manitoba. He did afterwards introduce legislation
abolishing separate schools, and thereby caused a legal and
political struggle extending over several years. Here it will
be necessary to leave the question and turn to the controversy
which was the principal issue in the election of 1891.

REecIPrOCITY

The revival of the question of reciprocity was partly due
to the termination of the arrangement made under the
Washington Treaty, giving the Americans twelve years’ use of
the Canadian fisheries. The dispute over the fisheries was
renewed. American vessels were seized by Canadian cruisers
and a dangerous situation arose. Congress in 1887 passed a
retaliatory act, empowering the president, if American vessels
were harassed by Canada, to close the ports and waters of
the United States against Canadian products and vessels.
The president forbore to use this power, and arranged
with Great Britain for the appointment of a commission.
The British commissioners were Sir Lionel Sackville-West,
Sir Charles Tupper and Joseph Chamberlain. The treaty
privileges were extended to American vessels until the close
of the season.

In a correspondence between Thomas F. Bayard, the
American secretary of state, and Sir Charles Tupper, both
declared in favour of straightforward, liberal and statesman-
like treatment of the entire commercial relations of the two
countries. But when Sir Charles Tupper broached the
subject of freer commercial intercourse, the American com-
missioners said that Congress alone could remove duties,
and that they would not purchase, with reciprocity, immunity
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from an unneighbourly policy as to the fisheries, adopted
for the very purpose of forcing reciprocity upon the United
States.

The draft treaty contained no provision for freer trade,
but there was an understanding that an attempt would be
made to obtain the consent of the Congress of the United
States and the parliament of Canada to reciprocity in fish and
fish products. The nature of the provision as to fishing need
not be here detailed, for the treaty met its death in the Senate
of the United States.

Reciprocity was not at first a party issue. Its most dis-
tinguished advocate was Goldwin Smith, who belonged to
neither party and was a keen critic of the party system. Its
most active worker, Erastus Wiman, was a man whose party
affiliations were not conspicuous. He was a native of Canada,
but had made his chief headway in business in the United
States, though he had never become a citizen of that country.
Other leaders were Henry W. Darling, a banker, president of
the Toronto Board of Trade, and Valancey E. Fuller, one of
the new school of scientific farmers, and president of the
Council of Farmers’ Institutes. Through these institutes a
large amount of work for the cause was done. The Toronto
Board of Trade discussed the question at several meetings.
The result was a declaration for enlarged commercial relations
with the United States, but against commercial union and
discrimination against Great Britain.

Eventually, however, the question became one of party
politics. At Ingersoll, Ontario, on October 12, 1887, Sir
Richard Cartwright, the chief fiscal authority of the liberal
party, declared strongly for commercial union. He admitted
that there was a risk, but said that there was a choice of risks,
and that there was more danger of annexation through the
continuance of existing conditions than through commercial
union. Wilfrid Laurier, the new leader of the party, expressed
himself more cautiously. In time the name ‘unrestricted
reciprocity ' was substituted for ‘ commercial union’ by the
liberals, who disliked the word ¢ union ’ and its annexationist
associations. James D. Edgar, M.P., a leading liberal,
contended that full reciprocity could be obtained without



1o CANADA UNDER MACDONALD, 1878-1891

abolishing the custom-houses or assimilating the tariffs, and
this position was held by many liberals.

Free trade with the United States was endorsed by an
interprovincial conference held at Quebec in the autumn of
1887, composed of premiers and members of provincial
governments, including Mowat and Hardy of Ontario, Mercier
of Quebec, Fielding of Nova Scotia, Blair of New Brunswick,
and Norquay of Manitoba. The resolution was framed by
Oliver Mowat, who advocated freer trade relations, but was
always emphatic in opposition to political union.

A counter-movement was now organized by such leading
imperialists as Colonel Denison, D’Alton M¢Carthy and
Principal Grant of Queen’s College. Up to this point the
advocacy of imperialism had been regarded as somewhat
visionary, but the fight against commercial union gave it a
tangible object, and from this period dates the active im-
perialist movement which afterwards made much headway
in Canada. Joseph Chamberlain, returning from the negotia-
tions at Washington, addressed the Toronto Board of Trade
and condemned commercial union as a sacrifice of fiscal
freedom, perhaps paving the way for the loss of political
independence.

In 1888 the question was considered in the liberal caucus
at Ottawa. Commercial union was rejected at this meeting,
but the resolution which, after consultation, was introduced by
Sir Richard Cartwright, took advanced ground. It declared
for the largest possible freedom of commercial interccurse
between the United States and Canada ; for the free exchange
of all articles produced or manufactured in the two countries ;
and for the opening of negotiations for full and unrestricted
reciprocity of trade. This resolution was met with a direct
negative and voted down by the supporters of the govern-
ment, and the same fate befell similar resolutions introduced
in 1889. Issue was now joined between the parties, and the
question was discussed from every point of view, commercial
and national.

At this point it may be convenient to describe the position
of the country and the state of public feeling in relation to
reciprocity. There was a condition of depression and dis-
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appointment, not unlike that which prevailed during the
Mackenzie administration, and lending itself to agitation for
change. The increase in population had been disappointingly
small. The building of the Canadian Pacific Railway, from
which so much had been hoped, had not been followed by
rapid settlement of the West. Added to this, there was in the
liberal party intense bitterness against the methods by which
Sir John Macdonald had kept himself in power. The party
was ready for bold measures.

Charges of annexation tendencies were made against the
advocates of reciprocity. There were some annexationists
on that side. Many others were strongly British and hostile
to continental union. Between these there was a large body
of men who were despondent, who felt that access to the
American markets was absolutely necessary for Canadian
prosperity, and who were willing to accept the consequences
of enlarged freedom of trade, whatever they might be. Some
of them expressed their confidence that political union would
not be promoted and might be checked by freedom of trade.
But freedom of trade, with all its risks, whether great or small,
they said the country must have.

The government, while definitely committed to opposition
to the advanced measure of reciprocity proposed by the
liberals, was impressed by the strength of the desire for access
to the American market, and was prepared to concede limited
reciprocity for that purpose. In January 1891 it announced
that negotiations for reciprocity with the United States were
in progress. At the Albany Club in Toronto Sir John
Macdonald said, * While we are going to stand by our national
policy, it is the fact that every measure of reciprocal trade
we have got from our neighbours has been got by the con-
servatives.” He instanced the Elgin Treaty of 1854 and
the Treaty of Washington of 1871.

In February 1891 parliament was dissolved, and at the
same time the nature of the reciprocity proposals was de-
scribed. They included the renewal of the treaty of 1854
with necessary changes, provisions as to fisheries, coasting,
wrecking, and the boundary between Canada and Alaska.
The Toronto Empire, then the chief government organ,
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expressed its belief that the people would support a fair
treaty without the surrender involved in the liberal proposals ;
without vassalage to the United States, discrimination against
Great Britain, and direct taxation.

There was a dispute or a misunderstanding between the
American and Canadian governments as to the nature of these
negotiations, which is now of no great importance. The
essential fact is that it was established that the United States
would not consider reciprocity if confined to natural products.
This helped to clear the decks for action ; it was unrestricted
reciprocity on one side, unqualified opposition on the other.
The appeals to loyalty became more insistent. Charges of
annexation proclivities were hurled at the liberal party.
Liberals retorted that conservatives were trading upon loyalty
to bolster up the protective system. Sir John Macdonald’s
address to the electors was fervently loyal. ‘ As for myself,’
he said, ‘ my course is clear. A British subject I was born,
and a British subject I will die. With my utmost effort, with
my latest breath, will I oppose the veiled treason which
attempts by sordid means and mercenary proffers to lure our
people from their allegiance.’

Wilfrid Laurier, the leader of the opposition, in his reply
to this address, said that the interests of a colony could not
always be identical with the interests of the motherland.
The development of national life in the colony must some day
cause a clashing of interests, and if called upon to make his
choice, he would stand by his native land. He denied that
reciprocity would lead to annexation or that it was necessary
to assimilate the Canadian to the American tariff.

At a time when the political bearing of unrestricted
reciprocity and its probable influence upon the political
relations of Canada and the United States were subjects
of discussion and anxious thought, much importance was
attached to the position taken by Oliver Mowat, the leader
of the provincial government of Ontario. His long experi-
ence, his sagacity, his attachment to British connection, his
frequent assertion of the superiority of British to American
institutions gave weight to his advocacy of reciprocity, and
to his assurance that it involved no danger to the life of the
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nation or to the integrity of the Empire. He declared em-
phatically that he had no difficulty in reconciling unrestricted
reciprocity with British connection. ‘Our opponents,’” he
said, ‘are afraid of being Yankeefied if they get unrestricted
reciprocity. We are not afraid of being Yankeefied by any
such thing. I am quite sure that the reformers will not be
Yankeefied by unrestricted reciprocity, and I hope conserva-
tives will not be Yankeefied by any such means.’

The election was held on March 5, 1891. In Ontario,
the stronghold of British sentiment, the conservatives
obtained only two or three more constituencies than their
opponents. In Quebec the liberals were in the majority,
and the government would have been defeated had it not
been for the sweeping majority they obtained in the Mari-
time Provinces and the West.

After the election there was a notable addition to the
controversy in the form of a letter from the Hon. Edward
Blake to his late constituents of West Durham, where he had
declined renomination. This letter, which had been written
a month before the election, was an exhaustive analysis of
unrestricted reciprocity, together with a gloomy account of
the financial and political position of the country. First, he
said that a moderate revenue tariff approximating to free
trade and a liberal, though limited, reciprocity with the
United States would have been the best arrangement. The
United States, however, would not agree to limited reciprocity.
What was best was not now attainable. Next, he described
the failure of the ‘ National Policy.” Its real tendency, he
said, was towards disintegration and annexation. It had
left Canada with a small population, a scanty immigration,
and ‘a North-west empty still ' ; with lowered standards of
public virtue and a deathlike apathy in public opinion ;
‘ with our hands tied, our future compromised, and in such a
plight that whether we stand or move we must run some risks,
which else we might have either declined, or encountered with
greater promise of success.” He declared that there was no
reasonable prospect of Great Britain imposing taxes on food,
with preferences for the colonies. Such a suggestion coming
from Canada would alienate British feeling, even though
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accompanied by the sop of a delusive differential duty in
favour of British manufactures.

Unrestricted reciprocity with the United States would give
us in practice the blessing of a large measure of free trade.
It would give us men, money and markets. But any practical
plan of unrestricted reciprocity involved differential duties
and substantial assimilation of tariffs. Unrestricted reci-
procity without assimilation of tariffs was an empty dream.
There would be a loss of revenue which could not be made up
except by pooling and dividing the duties collected by both
countries. The States could not, without destroying their
industrial system, admit free our woollen or iron manufac-
tures, the produce of wool freely imported by us ; nor could
we, without destroying our industrial system, levy on raw
material higher duties than those laid by the States.

Hence unrestricted reciprocity was in Blake’s view diffi-
cult to distinguish from commercial union, involving a
common tariff, the abolition of custom-houses along the
border, and division of seaboard custom duties between the
two countries. The tendency of such a plan would be towards
political union, by reason of community of interest, inter-
mingling of population, intimate business and social connec-
tion with the United States, and of the greater isolation and
divergency from Britain, and especially through apprehensions
as to the termination of the treaty. He thought that com-
mercial union should come, if at all, as an incident, or at any
rate as a well-understood precursor of political union. * Then
so believing, believing that the decision of the trade question
involves that of the constitutional issue, for which you are
unprepared, and with which you do not even conceive your-
selves to be dealing ; how can I properly recommend you now
to decide on commercial union ?’

There were various interpretations of the letter. The
Empire regarded it as a protest against disloyalty. The
Globe considered that it was a declaration for political union.
It does not now appear to be a declaration for or against that
policy. Its object was to show that unrestricted reciprocity
led, not by intention, but naturally and inevitably, to poli-
tical union. The chain of consequences was completed by his
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the number of charges made against the government. The
heaviest attack was led by J. Israel Tarte, a brilliant Quebec
journalist, who had been a supporter of Sir John Macdonald.
Tarte alleged that in the general election of 1887 a corruption
fund was raised for the purpose of carrying a third of the
seats in Quebec ; that the money was obtained by subscrip-
tions from contractors having dealings with the department
of Public Works ; and that Thomas M¢Greevy, M.P.,acted as
intermediary between the contractors and the minister, Sir
Hector Langevin.

The leadership of the House of Commons had passed to
Sir John Thompson, the premier being in the Senate. Thomp-
son dealt severely with offending members of his own party.
The charges were referred to the committee on privileges and
elections, and the majority acquitted Sir Hector Langevin
of blame. But in August he resigned from the ministry.
M¢Greevy was expelled from parliament and was afterwards
imprisoned.

At the same time conservatives in the Senate were
forcing an inquiry into serious charges of corruption against
Mercier and the liberal government of Quebec. The right
of the Senate to try a provincial question was disputed, but
in vain. The result of the investigation was damaging, and
to some extent offset the attack on the federal government.
Thé Mercier government was dismissed by Lieutenant-
Governor Angers. In the election which followed Mercier
suffered a severe defeat and his strange public career soon
came to a tragic end.

II
SIR JOHN THOMPSON

N December 5, 1892, Abbott resigned the premiership
on account of ill-health, and was succeeded by Sir John
Thompson, who proved himself a strong and dignified,

though somewhat severe chief. It became his duty to take
part in an important matter of international relations. In
1893 there was an arbitration to settle the claim made by the
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United States to exclusive rights of sealing in Bering Sea.
The matter attracted notice in 1886, when Canadian schooners
engaged in seal-hunting sixty miles from land were seized,
taken to an Alaskan port, and confiscated. Further seizures
were made at intervals until 1890, when -the British govern-
ment made a strong protest against interference with British
vessels outside the territorial waters of the United States,
and declared that it would hold the government of the
United States responsible for the consequences of acts con-
trary to international law. The seizures then ceased, and
negotiations were reopened for reference to arbitration. Two
arbitrators were selected by Great Britain, two by the United
States, and one each by France, Italy, and Norway and
Sweden. The British arbitrators were Lord Hannen, a
distinguished English judge, and Sir John Thompson.

On August 15, 1893, the tribunal delivered its award,
declaring that the United States had no right of property in
seals caught outside the territorial limit of three miles from
their coasts, and at the same time establishing, quoad Great
Britain and the United States, certain concurrent regulations
governing pelagic sealing, chief of which were that no seals
should be killed in the waters within sixty miles of the
Pribyloff Islands, nor from May 1 to July 31 within a zone of
the Pacific Ocean including Bering Sea north of the 35° of
north latitude and east of the 18oth meridian. These regu-
lations were to remain in force until abolished or modified by
mutual consent of the two powers. In 1896 the Bering Sea
Claims Commission was constituted to settle Canadian claims
against the United States for seizures in Bering Sea which
the Paris Award declared in effect to be illegal. On December
17, 1897, this commission made its award, the total amount of
compensation allowed being nearly $464,000.

A liberal convention held at Ottawa in 1893 was largely
attended by liberals active in provincial and federal politics.
It declared in favour of Senate reform, economy, a Dominion
plebiscite on prohibition, and the repeal of the Franchise Act.
The chief business of the convention was to settle the policy
of the party as to the tariff and reciprocity. Unrestricted
reciprocity was virtually abandoned, but the party declared
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for ‘a fair and liberal reciprocity treaty,” including a well-
considered list of manufactured articles. It denounced the
principle of protection as radically unsound, and demanded
that the tariff be so arranged as to promote freer trade with
the whole world, especially with Great Britain and the
United States.

Reciprocity for a time dropped out of sight and tariff
reform took its place. Tariff reform was strongly advocated
not only by the liberals but by the Patrons of Industry, a
farmers’ organization, and by D’Alton M¢Carthy and Colonel
O’Brien, two conservatives who were prominent also in the
Equal Rights movement. M¢Carthy was a pioneer in
advocating a preferential tariff favouring British imports.
The Equal Rights platform contained a declaration for such a
tariff.

The government recognized the force of the demand for
tariff reduction, and Sir John Thompson announced that the
tariff would be modified, that the government would ¢ lop the
mouldering branch away.” A commission was appointed to
inquire into the working of the tariff, and in the session of
1894 George E. Foster, the minister of Finance, proposed
important reductions in duties. Some of these reductions
were withdrawn because of the energetic protests of manu-
facturers ; but the law as enacted was a substantial measure
of relief in taxation. The liberals declared that the changes
were inadequate, and in the House of Commons moved
practically the same resolution that had been adopted at the
liberal convention. Thus the tariff remained one of the main
issues between the parties until the election of 1896.

The action of the Manitoba legislature in 1890 in abolishing
separate schools for Roman Catholic children and establishing
a non-sectarian system was the signal for a struggle in the
courts and in the political arena which lasted six years. The
right to separate schools was based upon the Manitoba Act
of 1870, which provided that the province should not pass
legislation prejudicially affecting any right or privilege with
respect to denominational schools which any class of persons
had by law or practice in the province at the union. It was
further provided that an appeal should lie to the governor-
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general in council from any act or decision of the province
affecting any right or privilege of a Protestant or Roman
Catholic minority in relation to education. If the decision
of the governor-general in council were not executed, the
parliament of Canada was empowered to make remedial laws
‘for the due execution of the provisions of the section.” In
1871 an educational system was established in Manitoba.
The management of the schools was vested in a Board of
Education with a Protestant and a Roman Catholic section,
the latter having control of schools attended by Roman
Catholic children.

The legislation of 1890 abolished this Board of Education,
established a new board without recognition of any denomina-
tion, and made all schools non-sectarian. This legislation was
open to attack in three ways: (1) by the exercise of the
power of disallowance by the Dominion government ; (2) by
attacking the validity of the law in the courts; (3) by an
appeal to the governor-general in council for remedial legisla-
tion. The government declined to disallow the law. The
law was attacked in the courts and the case carried up to the
Privy Council, which decided that the legislation was con-
stitutional, and that the only right and privilege which
Roman Catholics enjoyed was that of establishing their own
schools and maintaining them by their own contributions.

The attack having failed at two points, one political and
one legal, there remained a procedure which partook of both
characters, namely, the appeal to the governor-general for a
remedial order and to the Dominion parliament for remedial
legislation. The Dominion government referred the matter
to the Supreme Court, which decided that no remedy could
be given. An appeal being taken to the Privy Council, that
court ruled that the government could apply a remedy, the
nature of which it did not specify. It declared, however, that
it was not necessary to re-enact the statutes repealed in 1890,
but that the grievances might be removed by supplementary
legislation.

By this judgment the matter was again thrown into the
political arena. Itis true that an attempt was made to divest
it of its political character. It was argued that a legal or
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constitutional duty was cast upon the government and par-
liament, that they were bound, throwing aside their political
and sectarian feelings, to abide by the constitution and to
obey the judgment of the Privy Council. This seems to have
been the intention of the framers of the Manitoba Act of
1871. If so, they were giving a counsel of perfection, in which
the element of human nature was left out. A political body
could not, by the mere words of a statute, be converted
into a court or an instrument for executing the judgment of
a court. Human nature and politics asserted themselves.
Men took sides according as they were Protestants or
Catholics ; as they liked or disliked separate schools; as
they favoured the restriction or the expansion of provincial
powers ; as they desired the life or the death of a conservative
government. By all these currents of thought in the country
parliament was swayed.

For instance, the abolition of separate schools in Manitoba
was inspired by the Equal Rights movement in Ontario. The
leader of that movement stood with the Hon. Joseph Martin
on the platform where the announcement was made that
separate schools would be abolished. Again, in 1893, while
the Manitoba School Question was pending, the Protestant
Protective Association began to play a part in politics. It
was an offshoot of the American Protective Association, and
borrowed some of the ideas and phrases of that organization.
Its members were bound not to employ Catholics in any
capacity if Protestants could be obtained, not to countenance
the nomination of a Catholic to any public office, and not to
support any Roman Catholic church or institution.

The Protestant Protective Association entered into muni-
cipal and provincial politics in Ontario, opposed the Mowat
government and carried some by-elections. But its force was
also directed against the Dominion government, whose head
during 1893 and 1894 was a Roman Catholic and a convert
from Protestantism. It was said that Sir John Thompson
had a definite plan for settling the question of the Manitoba
schools and was not anxious about it. But he died suddenly
in December 1894 without disclosing his policy further than
to say that his government would stand by the constitution.






126 FOUR PREMIERS, 1891-1896

be dealt with by the Dominion parliament in 1896, unless
previously settled. Throughout the discussion Laurier de-
clined to commit himself, except to say that coercion was
unwise and that there should be inquiry and conciliation.
Being pressed for a more definite declaration, he compared
himself jokingly with Wellington : ‘I am within the lines of
Torres Vedras. 1 will get out of them when it suits me, and
not before.’

Dissensions now arose within the cabinet, due in part to the
school question and in part to other difficulties. The school
question was responsible for the resignation of Clark Wallace,
minister of Customs and Grand Master of the Orange Order,
on December 12, 1895. A few days later came the astounding
news that half of the Bowell ministry had resigned. The
Bolters, as they were called, were the Hon. George E. Foster,
Sir Hibbert Tupper, the Hon. John Haggart, W. B. Ives,
John F. Wood, the Hon. Dr W. H. Montague and the Hon.
Arthur R. Dickey.

v
SIR CHARLES TUPPER

HE explanation given by the Hon. G. E. Foster to the
House of Commons did not mention the school ques-
tion, but expressed dissatisfaction with the leadership

of Sir Mackenzie Bowell. The ‘Bolt’ gave the conservative
party a blow from which it suffered for many years. An
attempt at recovery was made by reconstructing the govern-
ment under the veteran Sir Charles Tupper, who left his post
as high commissioner at London to save the situation. About
the same time the Manitoba legislature was dissolved and
more than three-quarters of the constituencies supported the
government on the school question. A final effort was made
to settle that question by conference between Sir Donald
Smith, Arthur Dickey, minister of Militia, and Senator
Desjardins, representing the Dominion, and the Manitoba
government. This having failed, Sir Charles Tupper intro-
duced legislation to give effect to the remedial order. Wilfrid
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Laurier, by moving the six months’ hoist, placed his party
squarely on record against the measure. The discussion
dragged on through the months of March and April, obstruc-
tive tactics being used by the opposition and by a small body
of conservatives led by the Hon. Clark Wallace. As parlia-
ment was soon to expire by the effluxion of time, the success
of these tactics was assured, and near the end of April even so
dogged a fighter as Tupper saw that the case was hopeless
and withdrew the bill.

In the general election which followed the chief issues
were the school question and the tariff. The liberals, by the
declaration of 1893, were pledged to remove protection from
the tariff. Just before the election this position was modified.
In a correspondence between the leader of the opposition and
George H. Bertram of Toronto, the former declared that
manufacturers had nothing to suffer but much to gain from
the substitution of a revenue tariff for the existing system ;
that it would give the tariff greater stability and permanency.
Again, Sir Oliver Mowat, in a published letter consenting to
join Laurier at Ottawa, agreed with him that tariff legislation
must be gradual and cautious; that the changes should
relieve farmers and not injuriously affect but rather benefit
manufacturers and workmen. ‘Capital has been invested
in manufactures in the faith that a system which our people
unfortunately sanctioned for eighteen years should not be
abrogated hastily or without due regard to the interests which
have arisen under that system.’

The leading cause of the liberal victory of 1896 was
personal. The conservative party had suffered heavily by
the hand of death. It had lost not only Sir John Macdonald
but his successors, Abbott and Thompson. Its Quebec leader,
Langevin, was politically destroyed, and the eloquent Chap-
leau had retired to the position of Lieutenant-Governor of
Quebec. Just before the election there was talk of Chapleau
and Chief Justice Meredith re-entering politics as allies of
Sir Charles Tupper, but if there was such a plan it fell to the
ground.

On the other side the personal strength of the liberal party
was remarkable. Laurier was now the unrivalled ‘ favourite
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attendance of Roman Catholic children, the parents or
guardians might require the employment of a certificated
Roman Catholic teacher.

Sir Charles Tupper protested that the settlement fell short
of justice, but said that he would not pursue the contest.
The question ceased to be a political issue. The Roman
Catholic bishops of Quebec continued their opposition until
quieted by a visit from Monsignor Merry Del Val, who was
sent to Canada as the result of an appeal made to Rome by
Catholic liberals. Archbishop Langevin of St Boniface was
never reconciled to the settlement and opposed it at every

opportunity.
THE NEWwW TARIFF

In preparation for the framing of a new tariff, W. S.
Fielding and the other ministers having duties connected
with commerce and the collection of revenue were formed
into a tariff commission, which held meetings in various parts
of Canada and heard representations from all who wished to
present their views. Fielding in his budget speech delivered
on April 23, 1897, said that tariff changes must be made with
caution and without injustice to existing interests. The pro-
tected industries would have no right to complain if every
vestige of protection disappeared, but there were others to be
considered. Protection was so interwoven with the business
and industry of Canada that to abolish it would do widespread
injury. Again, at the time of the liberal convention in 1893,
there was reason to believe that the United States had resolved
to reduce its tariff, and the liberal party desired to show that
Canada would reciprocate. But Congress seemed now to be
of another mind, and while the minister would not meet the
Dingley Bill in a retaliatory spirit, he thought Canada should
hold her hand for the present.

The preferential tariff now adopted was based on the idea
of reciprocity. The lower tariff was to apply to countries
which admitted the products of Canada on terms as favour-
able. While Great Britain was not specifically mentioned,
it was recognized that British imports mainly would be
affected. The preferential duty was fixed at seven-eighths of
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the regular duty for the first year and three-fourths after
July 1, 1898.

Issue was joined with those who proposed to make the
preference conditional upon the adoption by Great Britain of
preferential duties on grain favouring the colonies. Canada,
the minister of Finance said, would not wait for this doubtful
event, but would lead the way. It was explained that the
German and Belgian treaties prevented Canada from giving
a preference to Great Britain alone. It may be stated here
that the treaties were subsequently denounced and the pre-
ference was made purely British. The tariff also abolished
many of the specific duties which bore heavily on cheaper
goods, and it made large additions to the free list, including
corn, barbed wire and binder twine, and reduced the duties
on coal, oil, sugar, mining machinery and products of iron and
steel. The tariff was received with favour, as a practical and
substantial measure of reform. It did not abolish protection,
and its authors were taunted with not fulfilling that part of the
resolutions of the liberal convention of 1893. But the change
was followed by prosperity in manufacturing industry, com-
merce and agriculture, and by an immense increase in trade
and abounding revenues.

The preference was received in Great Britain with satis-
faction, and greatly contributed to the enthusiasm which
marked the celebration of the sixtieth anniversary of the
queen’s reign. During the colonial conference held in con-
nection with this celebration, Joseph Chamberlain, secretary
of state for the Colonies, pointed out that complications
might be caused by the working of the Canadian reciprocal
tariff. If, for instance, Canada gave the preference to
Holland, she might be bound by the most favoured nation
treaties to make the same concession to practically every
important commercial country in the world. On the other
hand, the German and Belgian treaties prevented the granting
of the preference to Great Britain alone. A way out of the
difficulty was found by denouncing the German and Belgian
treaties. Canada’s hands were thus freed, and in the follow-
ing session the preference was confined to Great Britain.

The trade returns throw some light on the working of the



134 THE LAURIER REGIME, 1896-1911

British preference. From 1883 to 1897 the annual British
imports declined from $51,679,762 to $29,401,188. There
were fluctuations from year to year, but the general course
was downward. From 1897 to 1910 British imports rose from
$29,401,188 to $95,336,427. At the same time the general
imports showed an increase from $119,218,609 to $391,852,692.
The increase cannot therefore be ascribed entirely to the
preference ; it was part of the general growth of trade. But
it can fairly be said that the preference checked the decline
which was visible up to 1897 and assisted the increase which
appeared afterwards. It was also contended that although
no preference was given to Canadian products through the
British tariff, there was a substantial preference through
sentiment and goodwill, and a consequent increased demand
for Canadian goods in Great Britain. From 1897 to 1910
Canada’s annual exports to Great Britain increased from
$69,533,852 to $139,482,945. But this too was part of a
general increase of trade, and it was due in part to the high
American tariff which forced Canada to seek new outlets and
to cultivate the British market. Thus, in eight years before
the preference, exports to England increased from $33,504,281

to $69,553,852.

TaE Joint Hice CoMMISSION

In 1898 and 1899 an attempt was made to settle several
questions arising out of the relations between Canada and the
United States. The United States desired to strengthen its
position as to the Bering Sea seal fisheries. It contended
that the regulations imposed by the Paris Award in 1893
were not sufficiently restrictive and that seal life was dis-
appearing. Great Britain maintained that no sufficient evi-
dence had been adduced to show that these regulations had
failed in their effect. She would not therefore consent to
a revision, but was not averse to considering whether, in
return for some gquid pro quo, Canada might not be willing
to forgo for a time her right of pelagic sealing.

These and other matters were considered by a joint high
commission. The list of questions was as follows: (1) the
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Alaskan and Atlantic fisheries ; (2) the Alaskan boundary ;
(3) trade relations; (4) agreement limiting the number of
warships on the Great Lakes; (5) alien labour laws;
(6) bonding privilege ; (7) preservation of fish in inter-
national waters.

The British commissioners were Lord Herschell, Sir
Wilfrid Laurier, Sir Richard Cartwright, Sir Louis Davies and
John Charlton, M.P. Sir James Winter represented New-
foundland. The United States was represented by Senator
Fairbanks of Indiana, Senator Gray of Delaware, John
Watson Foster, Congressman Dingley of Maine, J. A. Kasson
and T. Jefferson Coolidge of the State department. Dingley
died during the sittings and was replaced by Sereno Payne of
New York State. Lord Herschell, who acted as chairman of
the commission, had the misfortune to break his thigh by a
fall in the street a few days before the adjournment of the
commission, and died at the Shoreham Hotel, Washington,
on March 1, 1899.

The commission sat at Quebec from August 23 to October
10, 1898, and at Washington from November 10, 1898, to
February 20, 1899. The commissioners came to an agreement
for free trade in minerals and for a lowering or removal of
duties on certain agricultural products and manufactures, and
for the preservation of fish in the Great Lakes. There was a
discussion over the convention made in 1818, limiting to a
fleet of four small vessels the navy to be maintained by each
country on the Lakes. The Americans desired to modify this
convention so as to allow warships to be built at Lake ports.
It was suggested that the British commissioners might agree
to permit partially constructed vessels to pass through the
canals. This might have been arranged, but that the
negotiations were broken off for another cause. There was
evidence of willingness to repeal the alien labour laws on
both sides of the line. There was a proposal to make per-
manent the bonding privilege, by which Canadian goods were
imported at American ports on the Atlantic, and American
goods shipped through the western peninsula of Ontario.
The American commissioners considered that Canada was
the chief gainer from this arrangement, and would have
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asked for substantial concessions as a condition of making
it permanent.

All this discussion, however, came to nothing, because the
negotiations split upon the question of the boundary between
Canada and Alaska. From the south of Alaska there lies
between Canada and the Pacific Ocean a strip of land belong-
ing to the United States, which had in 1867 acquired the rights
given to Russia in a treaty between that power and Great
Britain in 1825. The questions at issue will be more fully
described later on. At present it will be sufficient to say that
the main question in the minds of the commissioners was the
ownership of seaports on the Lynn Canal, a deep inlet cutting
through the strip at the north. The treaty provided that the
boundary should begin at the south end of Prince of Wales
Island and should ascend to the north along the Portland
Channel as far as the point of the continent where it strikes
the 56th degree of north latitude. Then the line was to follow
the summit of mountains parallel to the coast. When these
mountains were more than ten leagues from the ocean, the
boundary was to be formed by a line parallel to the windings
of the coast and never more than ten marine leagues therefrom.
Canada contended that there was a well-defined coast range
forming the boundary, and that if this were followed the
greater partof the Lynn Canal would be in Canadian territory.
The United States claimed that the boundary should follow
the windings of the coast, thus passing eastward of the Lynn
Canal and bringing the whole of that inlet within Alaska.
The question was of no practical importance until the dis-
covery of gold in the Klondyke in 1897. The winter route to
the goldfield lay by the Lynn Canal and over the mountains.
Dyea and Skagway, lying at the inner end of the Lynn Canal,
were the recognized ports. The British commissioners, while
contending that Dyea and Skagway were in Canadian terri-
tory, offered as a compromise to leave them in the possession
of the United States, provided another port, Pyramid Har-
bour, were retained by Canada. This proposal was rejected.
Proposals were then made to define the true boundary, one
of the Canadian suggestions being that the method used in
settling the Venezuela boundary should be precisely followed.
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These proposals came to nothing. The British commissioners
then declared that they would not proceed further until the
boundary question had been disposed of either by agreement
or by arbitration. And so negotiations came to an end.

THE SOUTH AFRICAN WAR!?

In 1899 Canada took a new position in regard to the
defence of the Empire. Upon previous occasions Canadians
had taken part in wars in other parts of the Empire, but in
a manner which did not commit the whole country. There
were Canadian volunteers for the war in the Crimea, and as
a result of the Indian Mutiny the Prince of Wales Royal
Canadian regiment was formed as part of the British army
and recruited in Canada. In 1877 the danger of war with
Russia produced an offer of a regiment from Canada, and
similar offers were made during the war in the Soudan in
1884. The Canadian government in the last case was will-
ing to aid in the raising of a contingent, but did not offer to
equip or maintain it. Canada was represented by a company
of voyageurs in the transport service. But in none of these
cases was there the loud and insistent demand for aid from
Canada which appeared in the Dominion at the opening of
the war in South Africa.

Imperial sentiment was running high in 1899. The
Jubilee of 1897 was an occasion for an outburst of passionate
loyalty. The tariff preference granted by the Laurier
government had fostered imperial spirit. The very fact that
Laurier was a French Canadian probably made Canadians
of other races more insistent in their demand for participa-
tion in imperial movements. The British Colonial Office
was under Joseph Chamberlain, a vigorous and aggressive
imperialist, and it was Chamberlain who had insisted most
strongly upon maintaining the rights of the Uitlanders in the
Transvaal, and who assumed the chief responsibility for the
Boer War.

The quarrel leading up to the war need not be here
described at length. In the negotiations between Sir Alfred

1 See ¢ Defence, 1812-1912 ’ in this section.
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Milner, representing the British government, and President
Kruger, the British government is seen pressing for recogni-
tion of the political rights of British residents of the Transvaal
Republic. But a dispute over the details of a franchise law
was not itself sufficient to produce war. There was race
hatred, fostered by the memories of a previous war ; there
was a conflict between two civilizations. The Boers, having
migrated northward into the Transvaal that they might live
undisturbed their pastoral life, felt that they were again being
crowded to the wall by the capitalists who controlled the gold
mines of the Rand. It was freely alleged that the war was
brought about by the unscrupulous greed of these capitalists.
It was held on the other side that it was due to the
obstinacy and tyranny of the Boer leaders. The real issue,
according to others, was whether the whole of South Africa
should be an independent republic or a British colony.

In April 1899 the South African League, which had been
actively engaged in arousing British sentiment against the
Boers, cabled to the British Empire League asking for
Canadian support for the Uitlanders’ petition to the queen.
In July an agent for the league visited Ottawa and induced
leaders in the parliament of Canada to move resolutions
asking for justice and political recognition for the Uitlanders,
and sympathizing with the efforts of the British government
to obtain these.

The procedure illustrated the lack of proper means of
obtaining colonial opinion upon imperial questions and
arranging for colonial participation in imperial measures.
The resolutions were passed at the instance of a person
having no official standing, the agent of a political party in
South Africa. They were afterwards taken as committing
Canada to approval of the war ; but it is not clear that this
was the understanding of those who took part in the brief
debate. Sir Wilfrid Laurier, in moving the resolutions, said
that they might help to avert the dread arbitrament of war.
The feeling expressed was that the Boers would be hopelessly
overmatched in a conflict with the British Empire, and that
some pressure from the colonies might help to convince them
that it was useless to resist. The debate was not character-
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ized by the care and deliberation which would have marked
the conscious adoption of a new and important policy. Little
was known in Canada of the tangled web of causes leading
up to the war. The Right Hon. Arthur Balfour afterwards
said that the imperial government was supported by the
conscience of the Empire. Here he confused cause and
effect. Canada at least relied upon the conscience of Balfour
and his colleagues, and took the British side because it was
British, not as a result of independent examination and
judgment.

Parliament had been prorogued when the situation
became critical and war was imminent. A proposal that
Canada should send contingents to South Africa met with
a hearty response. Offers of service were received from
several militia officers. On October 3 the Canadian Military
Gazette, a paper under private control, contained an article
beginning thus : ‘ If war should be commenced in the Trans-
vaal, which seems most probable, the offer of a force from the
Canadian militia for service will be made by the Canadian
Government.” This announcement was not authorized by
the government, and was premature at least. Inan interview
published in the Toronto Globe next day, Sir Wilfrid Laurier
was reported as setting forth objections to the sending of a
contingent, one being that the government could not act
without the consent of parliament.

On October 3, the date of the Gazette article, Chamberlain
telegraphed to Lord Minto, Governor-General of Canada, as
follows : ‘ Secretary of State for War and Commander in
Chief desire to express high appreciation of signal exhibition
of patriotic spirit of people of Canada, shown by offers to
serve in South Africa, and to furnish following information to
assist organization of force offered into units suitable for
military requirements.” Then followed the details of organiza-
tion of the force, according to the plans of the British author-
ities. It was intimated that the secretary of state for War
would gladly accept four units from Canada.

On October 7 Sir Wilfrid Laurier left Ottawa for Chicago,
to attend a civic function which was to be the medium for an
exchange of international courtesies. He returned to Ottawa



140 THE LAURIER REGIME, 1896-1911

on the 12th. In the meantime, on October 9, the Boer
ultimatum had been issued, demanding settlement of all
difficulties by friendly arbitration, withdrawal of troops on the
frontiers of the Transvaal, and removal of all reinforcements
which had arrived in South Africa. The republic on its
part gave assurance that there would be no attack on any
British possessions during the further negotiations proposed,
and that the armed burghers would be recalled from the
frontiers. On October 10 Chamberlain replied that these
demands could not be considered. War, therefore, had been
declared when Sir Wilfrid returned to Ottawa, and when the
question of sending contingents had to be considered in
council. On October 13 an order-in-council was issued. It
referred to Chamberlain’s dispatch of October 3, and said :
The Prime Minister, in view of the well-known desire
of a great many Canadians who are ready to take service
under such conditions, is of opinion that the moderate
expenditure which would thus be involved for the equip-
ment and transportation of such volunteers, may readily
be undertaken by the Government of Canada without
summoning Parliament ; especially as such an expendi-
ture, under such circumstances, cannot be regarded as
a departure from the well-known principles of consti-
tutional government and colonial practice, nor construed
as a precedent for the future.

The command of the contingent, which was to consist of
about one thousand men, was given to Lieutenant-Colonel
Otter, commanding officer of the Royal Canadian Regiment
of Infantry and a Canadian soldier of long experience. The
work of enrolling and equipping the contingent went forward
with energy, and with many evidences of popular enthusiasm,
and on October 30 it sailed from Quebec, having at that point
listened to addresses from the governor-general, Sir Wilfrid
Laurier, Major-General Hutton, and Mayor Parent of Quebec.

The opinions, or rather the sentiments, of Canadians
varied. Speaking generally, those who traced their descent
back to the British Islands were zealous champions of the
British cause, and eager that Canada should come to the aid
of Great Britain. There was a minority composed of those
who, like Goldwin Smith, believed the war to be unjust, or
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were doubtful of its justice, or thought that action should not
be taken without the consent of parliament. In Quebec,
where racial association was not a motive, there was little or
no enthusiasm for the war and some sympathy for the Boers,
which was openly expressed. There was also among French
Canadians a prevailing dislike to taking part in imperial wars
of any kind outside of Canada.

On October 18, Henri Bourassa, a rising liberal, resigned
his seat in parliament as a protest against the sending of the
contingents, and offered himself for re-election in order to
test the opinions of his constituents in Labelle. He wrote a
letter to the prime minister, declaring that constitutional
liberty was in danger if, on the strength of a dispatch from
the British colonial secretary, Canada could be called upon to
take part in a war of questionable justice, while Canada had
no representation in the imperial parliament. Having no
means of making a protest in the Canadian parliament, he
submitted himself to his constituents. He was re-elected by
acclamation.

Dominique Monet, member for Laprairie and Napierville,
declared his willingness to resign and make a test of the same
kind upon requisition by twenty-five electors, liberal or con-
servative. No requisition was sent, and he assumed that his
constituents agreed with him in disapproving of the action of
the government. J. Israel Tarte, minister of Public Works,
also took strongly the ground that parliament ought to have
been consulted. These and other utterances irritated On-
tario. There public feeling ran high in favour of Canadian
aid ; there was a tendency to blame the government for
hesitation, and the grave objection to sending troops without
parliamentary consent was impatiently brushed aside. In
his address to the contingent at Quebec the governor-general
said that the people of Canada ‘ had no inclination to discuss
the quibbles of colonial responsibility,” and this was the view
of many English-speaking people.

In the early stages of the war heavy reverses were suffered
by the British troops. It was recognized that the Boers had
shown remarkable military strength, and what was at first
regarded as a mere punitive expedition or demonstration in
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force developed into a formidable war, taxing all the resources
of the Empire. Hence there was a state of high nervous
tension ; expressions of opinion leaning towards the Boer side
were regarded as treasonable, and produced anger and even
personal violence. The dominant view in Quebec was not
hostility to Great Britain, but conservatism, a lack of interest
in the war and a desire to continue in the old paths. But this
view was so widely different from the prevailing view of
Ontario that there was grave danger of race cleavage. Because
there was a French Canadian at the head of the government
its every action was criticized with severity and even with
suspicion. Especially was public opinion in Ontario excited
by some speeches made by Tarte at the Paris Exposition. As
reported, these speeches were aggressively French in tone.
Tarte afterwards denied the correctness of the reports, but
they produced a strong impression. °‘Shall Tarte rule ?’
became a war-cry in Ontario.

When parliament met in February, Henri Bourassa moved
a resolution insisting on the sovereignty and independence of
parliament, refusing to consider the action of the government
in sending centingents as a precedent, and asserting opposition
to any change in the existing political and military relations
with Great Britain, unless such change were initiated by the
sovereign will of parliament and sanctioned by the people.
The principle enunciated was sound, but at the time it was
taken simply as an expression of Bourassa’s hostility to the
sending of the contingent, and an almost solid vote was cast
against the resolution. Sir Wilfrid Laurier, in speaking to the
motion, laid stress on the importance of unity in Canada. He
did not deny that the government had yielded to public
opinion, but he placed this action upon higher ground than
desire to retain office. ‘ What would be the condition of this
country to-day if we had refused to obey the voice of public
opinion ? . . . a most dangerous agitation would have arisen,
an agitation which according to all human probability would
have ended in a line of cleavage upon racial lines. A greater
calamity could never take place in Canada.” Laurier denied
that the hand of the government had been forced by the
imperial authorities. ‘ We acted in the full independence of
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our sovereign power. What we did, we did of our own free
will, but I am not to answer for the consequences, or for what
will take place in the future.” He declared that the people of
Canada must have their way.

A new turn was given to the controversy by a speech
delivered by Sir Charles Tupper, then leader of the opposition,
at the Garrison Club, Quebec, on March 31, 1900. Instead of
taking the usual line of attacking the government for lack of
sympathy with imperialism, Sir Charles rather intimated that
the government had gone too far in that direction. He
claimed credit for breaking up the old Imperial Federation
League, which stood for colonial contributions to the British
army and navy, and he warned his hearers against any policy
which would make Canada responsible for regular contribu-
tions of that kind. In various conservative journals in
Quebec, and in a pamphletin French issued by the conservative
party, Sir Wilfrid Laurier was attacked for his imperialistic
tendencies.

By the time the general election arrived in October 1900
the strain of the war had been relaxed. A seécond and a
third contingent had been dispatched. Ladysmith had been
relieved, Pretoria had been taken, and Paardeberg and other
British successes had given assurance of British supremacy.
Yet the feeling in Ontario was still so strong that the govern-
ment lost twenty-two seats, retaining only thirty-four out of
a total of ninety-two. In Quebec it gained six. The fact
that there was so large a conservative majority in Ontario and
so overwhelming a majority for the liberals in Quebec—fifty-
seven out of sixty-five seats—seemed to show the existence
of a dangerous racial cleavage. But in the other English-
speaking provinces there was no such indication. In the
Maritime Provinces the government made considerable gains,
carrying more than two constituencies to one, where formerly
the parties had been almost equal. In the West the con-
servatives made some gains, but the government had a con-
siderable majority of seats.

In 1901 Sir Charles Tupper, who had now reached the age
of more than eighty years, resigned the leadership of the
opposition. He was succeeded by Robert Laird Borden, a
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leading Halifax lawyer, who had first entered the Dominion
parliament in 1896. He was a man of solid character and
attainments, with a style of oratory better adapted to the bar
and to parliament than to the platform. His ideals were high,
and he showed a special interest in electoral and civil service
reform.

PREFERENTIAL TRADE

In 1900 the British preference was increased from one-
fourth to one-third. The increase caused some uneasiness
among Canadian manufacturers, especially of woollens. The
preference was discussed at a colonial conference held in
London in 1902. The Canadian ministers asked that in
consideration of the British preference, Canadian grain should
be exempted from the duty recently imposed in Great Britain.
This was a registration duty of one shilling a quarter on
wheat, imposed by C. T. Ritchie, as Chancellor of the Ex-
chequer, in 1902. Joseph Chamberlain had privately pressed
for the exemption of the colonies from this duty, but in vain ;
Ritchie declared that the duty was levied for revenue pur-
poses solely and that he would resign rather than give a
preference which would be the beginning of taxes on food.
At the conference Chamberlain intimated that the duty could
not be removed in consideration of the existing preference,
but suggested that the rate of the preference be increased.
The Canadian ministers intimated that this might be done in
consideration of the removal of the British duty on colonial
grain. Next year Ritchie had the tax repealed on all wheat
and flour. The Right Hon. Henry Chaplin, an English
protectionist, made a vain effort to restore the tax. The Irish
members, the liberals, and the bulk of the unionists voted
against his motion.

After this the rift between free traders and protectionists
in the ranks of the unionists grew wider. Chamberlain
resigned from the ministry in order to be free to carry on his
campaign for protection and preference. On the other side
the Free Trade Union was formed, and was joined by the
Duke of Devonshire and the Earl of Rosebery. The over-
whelming defeat of the government in 1905 put an end to the
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possibility that protection would be restored for some years,
but within the unionist party the protectionist movement
gained ground.

There may be mentioned at this point a controversy which
arose with Germany over the British preference. Germany
claimed that the preference was a discrimination against her,
and retaliated by placing Canadian imports under her higher
or general tariff. Canada contended that the preference was
a domestic affair, to which Germany could not object, just
as Canada could not object to Prussia favouring Bavaria.
Germany replied that Canada was trying to occupy at one
and the same time the position of part of the Empire and of
an independent country. In 1903 Canada imposed a surtax
upon foreign countries treating Canadian products unfavour-
ably, Germany being at once indicated. The tariff war
considerably diminished the trade between the two countries
until 1909, when Germany yielded, and the Canadian surtax
was removed.

THE ALASKAN BOUNDARY?!

It has been shown that the joint high commission was
dissolved in 1899 because of failure to come to an agreement
as to the Alaskan boundary. On January 24, 1903, it was
agreed to refer the question to a tribunal, to consist of six
impartial jurists of repute, ‘ who shall consider judicially the
questions to be referred to them.” Three were to be ap-
pointed by Great Britain and three by the United States.
In explaining the agreement Sir Wilfrid Laurier declared that
there was to be not a compromise but a judicial interpretation
of thetreaty with Russia, whose rights had passed to the United
States as the purchaser of Alaska.

When the names of the American commissioners were
announced there was much adverse comment in Canada.
They were Elihu Root, secretary of state for War, Senator
Lodge of Massachusetts, and Senator George Turner of
Washington. It was contended that these were not impartial
jurists ; that Senator Lodge had often expressed strong views
in favour of the American claims, and that Senator Turner

1 See ¢ Boundary Disputes and Treaties ’ in this section.
YOL. VI K
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represented a Pacific state which was keenly interested in the
result. The Dominion government protested, but the im-
perial government declared that it would be useless to press
the point.

On the British side the three arbitrators at first named were
Lord Alverstone, Lord Chief Justice of England, Justice
Armour of the Supreme Court of Canada, and Sir Louis
Jetté, lieutenant-governor and formerly a judge of the
Province of Quebec. The mention of these names shows a
clear intention to comply with the condition to appoint
‘ impartial jurists of repute.” Justice Armour died before the
arbitration, and his place was taken by Allen Bristol Ayles-
worth, K.C. (afterwards Sir Allen), an eminent Toronto
lawyer.

During the arbitration there was uneasiness in Canada,
due to an impression that the result would be adverse to her
in any event. Towards the close there were reports of disagree-
ment between the Canadian commissioners and Lord Alver-
stone. On October 20, 1903, the award was made public,
together with a statement that Jetté and Aylesworth had
refused to sign it. The effect of the award was as follows :

The treaty of 1825 made the boundary line begin at the
southern point of Prince of Wales Island. The tribunal was
asked to say what that point was, and it answered, unani-
mously, Cape Muzon. The treaty made the line of demarca-
tion pass through Portland Channel. The tribunal was asked
to say what the Portland Channel was, and it answered
unanimously that it was the channel which passed to the north
of Pearse and Prince of Wales Islands.

Here the divergence began and all the remaining answers
were those of the majority, Lord Alverstone, Elihu Root,
Senator Lodge and Senator Turner. They decided that the
Portland Channel, after passing to the north of Prince of
Wales Island, is the channel known as the Tongas Channel,
passing between Prince of Wales and Sitklan Islands. They
were asked to decide whether it was the intention of the
treaty of 1825 that there should remain in the exclusive pos-
session of Russia a continuous fringe or strip of coast on the
mainland, ten marine leagues in width, separating the British
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possessions from inlets and waters of the ocean. The majority
answered this question in the affirmative, and this was the
decisive answer, having the effect of shutting off Canada from
the Pacific Ocean, from the whole western coast as far south
as the Portland Channel, and giving the Lynn Canal and all
other inlets to the United States.

The decision was adverse to Canada. It cut off not only
the Yukon, but Northern British Columbia from access to
the Pacific Ocean, except through United States territory.
But there were Canadians who had already concluded that
the main contention of Canada could not be upheld, and the
decision might have been accepted without complaint if there
had been confidence in the tribunal and the procedure. A
widespread belief that there had been a diplomatic sacrifice
of the interests of Canada may be traced to a defect in
the constitution of the tribunal. What this defect was will
be better understood from the statements of the Canadian
commmissioners.

As to the course of the Portland Canal, the Canadian com-
missioners said that there were two contentions. The channel
claimed by Canada lay north of four islands . Kannaghunut,
Sitklan, Prince of Wales and Pearse. The Americans claimed
that the channel lay south of these. ‘ When the members of
the tribunal met after the argument the view of the three
British commissioners was that the Canadian contention was
unanswerable, yet a majority of the commissioners had signed
an award giving Kannaghunut and Sitklan to the United
States.” The Canadian commissioners protested that this
division of the islands was not a judicial award, but a com-
promise. The decision as to the land boundary, separating
the strip of coast from the interior, belonging to Canada, was
in their opinion vitiated in the same way.

Upon Aylesworth’s return to Canada he was announced to
deliver an address before the Canadian Club, Toronto. It
was expected that there would be at this meeting a demonstra-
tion of resentment, but extraordinary efforts were made to
prevent this, and Aylesworth’s speech was of a kind to calm
excitement. He repeated his opinion that the judgment was
wrong ; that both as to the island and the mountain boundary
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there was a division of territory, not an adjudication. He also
explained a difference between his own view and that of Lord
Alverstone as to the position of the arbitrators. He held that
they were delegates, sworn to judge impartially, yet each with
‘a natural and inevitable bias’ towards his own country ;
while Lord Alverstone regarded himself as an arbitrator
between two contesting parties, Canada and the United
States. But while holding to his own opinion, Ayles-
worth concluded by saying the award must be accepted,
and he expressed with great fervour his loyalty to Great
Britain.

The essential defect of the tribunal was that it was so
formed that no point upon which there was a disagreement
could be decided in favour of Canada. If the Americans
adhered firmly to their contention, and if Lord Alverstone
held with equal firmness to the Canadian contention, there
would be a deadlock. If Lord Alverstone decided that the
American contention was right there would be four to two
against Canada. If the intention was to make Lord Alver-
stone the umpire between Canada and the United States, he
ought to have been placed definitely in that position. It was
the attempt to combine in him two positions, that of delegate
and umpire, which exposed him to adverse criticism.

A NEwW TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY

In 1903 the Dominion government and the Grand Trunk
Railway Company joined in a project to build another
transcontinental railway. The company’s original plan was
simply to extend its eastern system by a line from North Bay
on Lake Nipissing to the Pacific coast. The government
made it a condition that there also should be a line from
North Bay eastward to Quebec and Moncton, N.B. The
plan as fully developed was for a line from Moncton westward
through the centre of New Brunswick, thence through Quebec,
crossing the St Lawrence near the city of Quebec, through
Ontario much farther north than the Canadian Pacific, and
through Manitoba to Winnipeg. From Winnipeg it was to
run north-westerly to Edmonton, and thence through the
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Yellowhead pass in the Rockies to a point near Fort Simpson
on the Pacific coast. There were to be several branches,
including one from Fort William and Port Arthur, north-
westerly to the main line. This was to provide a connection
with the system of transportation by the Great Lakes, in
addition to the all-rail route.

The government was to build the eastern section, from
Moncton to Winnipeg; the company was to build from
Winnipeg to the coast. The company undertook to build
the western section in five years from December 1, 1903.
The government agreed to lease the eastern section to the
company for fifty years. For the first seven years no rent
was to be paid; for the succeeding forty-three years the
company was to pay three per cent on the cost of construction.
The government reserved running rights over the whole line,
and the company obtained running rights over the Inter-
colonial Railway. There was no land grant, but the govern-
ment undertook to guarantee the railway bonds at three per
cent on seventy-five per cent of the cost of construction, not
to exceed $13,000 per mile on the prairie section and $30,000
a mile on the mountain section. The construction of the
government section was placed under the control of four
commissioners appointed by the government.

The Hon. A. G. Blair, minister of Railways, did not agree
with the prime minister as to the mode of building the new
railway. He resigned on July 14, and two days afterwards
made his explanation to the house. He opposed the govern-
ment line from Moncton to Quebec, because it paralleled the
Intercolonial. He declared that the plan of giving running
rights over the new railway was impracticable. He objected
to the government building and owning the ‘lean’ sections
of the railway while the ‘ fat’ sections went to the company.
He believed the whole line should be built and owned by the
government.

On July 31 Sir Wilfrid Laurier introduced a bill for the
construction of the railway. He insisted strongly on the
urgent need for further means of transporting the rapidly
increasing grain crop of the West. Blair spoke again, denying
the need for haste, and arguing that the West would be fully
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served by the Canadian Pacific and by the Canadian Northern,
then being rapidly constructed.

R. L. Borden, leader of the opposition, took strong ground
for public ownership, which he said would be retarded fifty
years by this project. His alternative policy included the
extension of the Intercolonial to Georgian Bay, the use of the
Canadian Pacific from North Bay to Fort William, running
powers over existing railways from Fort William to Winnipeg,
and aid to the Grand Trunk Pacific to build through the
prairies to Edmonton. His amendment was negatived by a
party vote and the government scheme was ratified.

In 1904 the company asked for and obtained certain
changes in the agreement. The time for the completion of
the western division was extended by three years, so that the
new date fixed for completion was December 3, 1911. The
guarantee of bonds was enlarged, so far as the mountain
section was concerned. Instead of a guarantee of seventy-
five per cent on a maximum cost of $30,000 a mile, there was to
be a guarantee of seventy-five per cent on the cost, whatever
it might be. The subject was now reopened and the attack
renewed. Many amendments were proposed ; the leading
principles advocated being the extension of the government
ownership, and the submission of the measure to popular
vote. The legislation was adopted by a party majority.

Early in 1903 a bill creating a railway commission had
been introduced by the then minister of Railways, the Hon.
A. G. Blair. The bill abolished the Railway Committee of
the Privy Council, which had formerly dealt with the disputes
arising between railway companies, shippers and munici-
palities. The commission was a court, with simple and flex-
ible procedure. It was intended to settle questions of rates
and service arising between railway companies and shippers
and passengers; questions of the operation and equipment
of railways; questions between railways and municipalities
as to crossings, etc. The bill became law, and in December
1903 Blair, who had resigned his place in the ministry, retired
from parliament and shortly afterwards became the first chief
commissioner. On his retirement in the following year he
was succeeded by Chief Justice Killam of Manitoba, and on
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the death of Killam the appointment went to Justice Mabee
of Ontario. On the death of Mabee in 1912 Henry L.
Drayton, corporation counsel of the city of Toronto, was
chosen as his successor.

Lorp DUNDONALD !

In relating the differences which arose between the
Dominion ministry and Lord Dundonald, the general officer
commanding the militia of Canada, it is worthy of note that
there had been similar difficulties in the case of his predecessor,
General Hutton, although the quarrel had not come to a head.
Hutton charged the government with lack of sympathy with
his ideas. Sir Wilfrid Laurier said that the difficulty was due
not to broad differences of policy, but to Hutton’s indiscretion
and insubordination to the ministry. He contended that
the general officer commanding was the adviser and not the
controller of the department of Militia.

The experience of the government with General Hutton
probably affected its attitude towards Lord Dundonald.
Otherwise there was reason to hope that Lord Dundonald’s
relations with the ministry would be of a more agreeable kind.
He was genial and free from arrogance. For two years after
his appointment he apparently worked in harmony with the
minister of Militia. He had extensive plans for the re-
organization of the militia, and it was understood that Sir
Frederick Borden, the minister of Militia, had accepted these
in part at least and was willing to carry them out. There
were, however, occasional rumours of disagreement between
the minister and the general, and there were references to a
report made by the latter in 1902 and suppressed by the
government. At length Henri Bourassa referred to these
rumours in the house. Sir Frederick Borden denied that any
disagreement existed ; but he and the prime minister took the
opportunity to emphasize the responsibility and authority of
the government in military affairs.

A bill introduced by Sir Frederick Borden in 1904 contained
a clause facilitating the appointment of a Canadian as general

1 See ‘ Defence, 1812-1912 ’ in this section.
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officer commanding. This change was opposed by some
conservative members. The minister of Militia said that he
had no criticism to offer as to the distinguished soldiers who
had held the post, but he said : ‘It is high time the provision
in the Canadian statute which involves a reflection upon the
capacity of our own officers should be removed. It does not
follow that we should appoint a Canadian officer at once.’

The explosion came on June 4, 1904. On that day a
banquet was given to Lord Dundonald by local officers of the
militia at Montreal. The dinner was private, but some one
took a report of Lord Dundonald’s speech, and in a few days
it appeared in the newspapers. It then appeared that Lord
Dundonald complained. that his list of officers for the 13th
Light Dragoons had been interfered with and the name of one
of his nominees struck out. He did not complain, he said, on
personal grounds of etiquette, but he was anxious that the
militia be kept free from party politics. Upon inquiry by the
minister of Militia, Lord Dundonald admitted the substantial
correctness of the report. In a few days Lord Dundonald was
dismissed upon the ground that he had publicly attacked the
government under which he served. Lord Dundonald at once
appealed to the people from the government. He denied that
he had sought to impose his policy on the ministry. He
claimed freedom only on the technical side of his work.
He held that his efforts to assist the militia had been per-
sistently blocked by men indifferent to the welfare of the
force. The question now became a party issue, conservatives
protesting against party interference with the militia, liberals
contending that the civil authority over the militia must be
supreme. The personal popularity of Lord Dundonald made
him a formidable opponent, and he carried on a dashing
campaign. The question was an issue in the general election
of 1904, but died out after that time.

TuE GENERAL ELECTION OF 1904

Parliament was dissolved on September 30, 1904. It was
the first election in which Robert L. Borden led the party.
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The chief issue was the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway project.
Interest in the contest was languid and a victory for the
government was regarded as almost a foregone conclusion.
In Ontario party feeling was concentrated on provincial rather
than on national politics, owing to the narrow majority and
precarious position of the government, headed by the Hon.
G. W. (afterwards Sir George) Ross.

The chief sensation of the Dominion campaign was fur-
nished by a story that an elaborate scheme for defeating the
government had been hatched in Quebec; that the liberal
organ La Presse had been bought by conservatives and would
be turned against the government; and that in several con-
stituencies arrangements had been made for the sudden
retirement of liberal candidates, allowing conservatives to be
elected in default. None of these things happened. Blair
resigned the chairmanship of the Railway Commission, and
it was reported that he would oppose the government, but this
expectation was not fulfilled. The government was returned
by an increased majority.

NEw WESTERN PROVINCES

In 1902, 1903 and 1904 there was an agitation in the
North-West Territory for full provincial standing. The terri-
tories had been advancing gradually towards this position.
In 1871 they were under the authority of the Lieutenant-
Governor of Manitoba ; next they had a lieutenant-governor
and council nominated by the Dominion government ; then
the council was made partly elective and partly nominated ;
then a legislature was created. The government was centred
at Regina, and its leader was Frederick W. G. Haultain.
Haultain was the foremost advocate of autonomy. His pre-
ference was for one province ; others favoured the creation
of two or three. In the general election of 1904 Sir Wilfrid
Laurier promised autonomy, and in January 1905 there were
conferences between Sir Wilfrid and Haultain. On February
21 Sir Wilfrid introduced a measure for the creation of two
new provinces, Alberta and Saskatchewan. They were to
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cover the whole area between Manitoba and British Columbia,
and between the southern boundary of Canada and the 60th
parallel of latitude, with a combined area of more than half
a million square miles and a population of about half a million.
The Dominion was to retain control over public lands. Pro-
vision was to be made for a system of separate schools. Sir
Wilfrid Laurier’s contention was that it was intended that
the clause protecting the separate school system contained
in the British North America Act was to be extended to
new provinces. His speech was remarkable also for strong
advocacy of the teaching of Christian morals and Christian
doctrine in the schools.

The educational clauses of the bill were strenuously op-
posed. Clifford Sifton, minister of the Interior, who had,
as attorney-general of Manitoba, resisted the restoration of
separate schools in that province, resigned his portfolio,
being unable to approve of the educational legislation for the
new provinces. An open letter was addressed to the prime
minister by Haultain. As to the educational clauses he said :
‘ The proposed attempt to legislate in advance on this subject
is beyond the power of parliament and is an unwarrantable
and unconstitutional anticipation of the remedial jurisdiction.
It has further the effect of petrifying the positive law of the
province, with regard to a subject coming within its exclusive
jurisdiction, and necessitating requests for imperial legislation
whenever the rapidly changing conditions of a new country
may require them.’

On March 20 it was announced that the educational clauses
would be modified. The original bill enacted that section 93
of the British North America Act should apply to the new
provinces. Section 93 provides that the provinces shall have
the right to make laws in regard to education, but not to affect
prejudicially any right to denominational schools existing
‘at the union’; and that the minority shall have a right of
appeal to the governor-general in council and to remedial
legislation if necessary. By the bill as at first introduced the
words ‘ at the union’ were to be taken to mean ‘ at the date
of the Autonomy Bills coming into force.’

By the amended sections, section 93 of the British
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North America Act was introduced in a modified form as
follows :

‘ Nothing in any such law shall prejudicially affect any
right or privilege with respect to separate schools which any
class of person has at the date of the passing of this act,
under the terms of chapters 29 and 30 of ordinances of the
North-West Territory passed in the year 1901, or with respect
to religious instruction in any public or separate school, as
provided for in the said ordinances.’

The effect of this clause was to remove all doubt as to the
character of the system of religious education that was to
be perpetuated. It was to be the system established by the
North-West ordinances of 1901. These ordinances provided
that the minority of the ratepayers in any district, whether
Protestant or Roman Catholic, might establish a separate
school, and be exempted from school assessment except for
that school. No religious instruction was to be permitted in
any school until one half-hour before the closing, and any
child would have the privilege of withdrawing during religious
instruction if its parents so desired.

It was argued by the advocates of the bill that the schools
would be practically public schools, using only authorized
text-books, taught by regularly licensed teachers, inspected
by public-school inspectors, and in every respect under com-
plete public control. From this time the argument took this
form : The defenders of the measure laid stress on the im-
provement involved in the amendment. Its opponents took
strongly the ground of provincial rights. They declared that
the matter ought to be decided by the people of the new
provinces, not by the Dominion parliament. On the con-
stitutional side of the question they fortified their case by the
opinion of an eminent Ontario lawyer, Christopher Robinson,
K.C., who thought that the right of the Dominion parliament
to impose restrictions on the new provinces with regard to
education was not beyond question, and that at all events
parliament was not constitutionally bound to impose any such
restriction. If section 93 of the Confederation act applied,
there was no need to re-enact it. If it did not apply, no such
enactment was otherwise necessary.
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Upon the whole I am of opinion that section 93 does
not apply to the Provinces now about to be established.
Its provisions would appear to me to be intended for and
confined to the then provinces and to the union formed
in 1867. There is not in any part of the North-West
Territory as a Province any right or privilege with
respect to denominational Schools possessed by any class
of persons created by the Province or existing at such
Union ; and a right subsequently established by the
Dominion in the part now about to be made a Province
does not appear to me to come within the enactment.

While the controversy was at its height two by-elections
were held in Ontario : in North Oxford, where a vacancy was
created by the death of the Hon. James Sutherland, minister
of Public Works, and in London, where the Hon. Charles S.
Hyman presented himself for re-election as minister of Public
Works. These elections were of national importance, and
speeches were made during the campaign by F. W. G. Haul-
tain, by Walter Scott, who it was understood would be premier
of the new province of Saskatchewan, by the Hon. Frank
Oliver, the new minister of the Interior, and by R. L. Borden,
leader of the opposition. It was recognized that the result
would seriously affect the standing of the government and
perhaps decide its fate. On June 13 the elections were held
and the government was sustained. In London its candidate
had a majority of 330, as compared with 123 in 1904. In
North Oxford the majority was 338, as compared with 1502
in 1904. London had been an uncertain constituency,
electing now a liberal and now a conservative. North Oxford
had been strongly liberal since Confederation. Taking the
two results together, the government had lost some ground,
but as it held both ridings by substantial majorities, its
supporters breathed more freely, and felt that the danger
was past.

In August and September the organization of the new
provinces was completed. A. E. Forget, who had been
lieutenant-governor of the territory since 1898, was made
Lieutenant-Governor of Saskatchewan, and the Hon. G. H. V.
Bulyea, a member of the executive council of the territory,
became Lieutenant-Governor of Alberta. Appropriate cere-




A SALARY BILL 157

monies were held at Regina and Edmonton, the provisional
capitals, which afterwards became the permanent capitals.
The governor-general, Sir Wilfrid Laurier and other dis-
tinguished persons took part. The next step was the selection
of persons to form the first government of each province.
The choice in the case of Alberta fell upon Alexander C.
Rutherford, leader of the liberal party in the province. In-
Saskatchewan the first premier was Walter Scott, who had
represented Assiniboia in the Dominion parliament. There
was much adverse criticism of the latter appointment, as
ignoring the claim of Haultain, who had taken so prominent a
part in the public life of the territory and had been the chief
advocate of autonomy. The defence was that Haultain had
been in the front of the fight against the educational clauses
of the autonomy bill and that his appointment would have
prolonged litigation and disturbance. The truth is that both
appointments were political, that they were virtually made by
the Dominion government, and that care was taken that the
new premiers should be politically in harmony with that
government.

Preparations were immediately made for the first general
election under the new order. On November g the elections
in Alberta resulted in an overwhelming victory for the new
government, which had twenty-two supporters in a house
of twenty-five. In Saskatchewan, where Haultain led the
opposition, there was a harder struggle. Archbishop Lange-
vin of St Boniface created a sensation by intervening on
behalf of the government and denouncing Haultain as an
enemy of the Roman Catholic Church. The election held on
December 13 resulted in the return of sixteen liberals and
eight ‘ Provincial Righters.’

A SALARY BILL

Another measure which aroused much public interest in
1905 increased the indemnity of members of parliament from
$1500 to $2500, and the salary of the prime minister from
$8000 to $12,000, gave a salary of $7000 to the recognized
leader of the opposition, and established a system of pensions
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for ministers ; the pension to be paid to every person who had
served five years as a cabinet mininster, and to be one-half
of the salary attached to the office at the time of retirement.
The salaries of judges also were increased. The increase in
the salaries of judges was not harshly criticized, and there
was general approval of the increase of the salary of the prime
minister. But the other proposals were keenly criticized in
the country, although in parliament they were passed into law
without division.

It may be noted that the sessional indemnity was fixed at
Confederation at $600 ; it was increased to $1000 in 1873,
when there was also a general increase of salaries of ministers,
lieutenant-governors and judges. It was increased again in
1901 to $1500. At this figure it had stood for several years.
The cost of living had largely increased in that time ; but it
was argued that so great an addition as $1000 virtually con-
verted the indemnity into a salary, and to that extent made
politics a profession. Upon this basis it was both attacked
and defended, the defence being that a young country with
no leisured class must pay for the services of its public men.

There was also some adverse criticism of the payment of
a salary to the leader of the opposition. The attack wasbased
upon the contention that it would slacken his zeal in criticism.
On the other hand, it was maintained that as the salary came
from the country it placed the leader of the opposition under
no obligation to the government; that it was necessary that
the leader should obtain an income from some source; and
that it was better that he should receive it from the country
whose servant he was than from corporations or private
individuals who might be interested in the fortunes of his
party. Criticism of the pension scheme assumed such for-
midable proportions that it was withdrawn in the following
year. One result of the payment of the salary to the leader of
the opposition was that R. L. Borden took up his residence
at Ottawa. Ottawa thus became a centre for the political
activity of the opposition. Experience has demonstrated
that the opposition has been strengthened, not weakened,
by making its head the recipient of a salary from the
country.
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THE LorD's Day AcT

The Lord's Day Act was one of the principal measures of
1906. An Ontario law regulating the observance of the day
had been voided by the Judicial Committee of the Privy
Council because it assumed to deal with criminal law, which
was under federal jurisdiction. At the same time the growth
of the business of transportation had increased the amount
of Sunday labour, and in some parts of Canada there was a
tendency to relax the Puritan strictness which had once
marked the observance of the day, and to indulge in excursions
and other amusements.

In order to check these tendencies the Lord’s Day Alliance
applied to the government and parliament of the Dominion,
and succeeded in placing on the statute book a law forbid-
ding Sunday labour and Sunday transportation with certain
exceptions, such as the conveyance of travellers, and the
continuance to their destination of trains and vessels started
on some day other than Sunday. Sunday amusements were
restricted by forbidding excursions, and performances for
which an admission fee was charged.

In the House of Commons the law was attacked as an
infringement of provincial rights. This objection was urged
especially by members from Quebec, where Sunday had been
observed much less strictly than in Ontario. The objection
was not sustained, but in the Senate a provision was inserted
practically saving provincial rights by enacting that no action
or prosecution should be commenced without the leave of
the attorney-general of the province concerned. It was also
contended, but without avail, that the law was a violation
of the liberty of the subject.

Armed with this law the Lord’s Day Alliance made a vigor-
ous attack upon Sunday labour, Sunday buying and selling,
and Sunday amusements. Its officials claimed that they had
preserved the day of rest for large numbers of workmen,
especially upon railways. Considerable opposition, however,
was aroused by attempts to prevent Sunday amusements
and the sale of refreshments. It was contended that these
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prohibitions were made not in the interest of workmen, but
to enforce the religious opinions of one part of the population
upon another. In order to voice this protest a Rational
Sunday League was formed in Ontario.

THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOUR

The labour legislation of 1906-7 was a development of a
policy extending over several years. In 1900 there had been
established a department of Labour. A separate portfolio
was not created, but the postmaster-general, then Sir William
Mulock, who was deeply interested in labour questions,
became also minister of Labour. Provision was made for the
settlement of labour disputes by the minister and by boards
of conciliation. At the same time the Labour Gazeite was
established for the publication of industrial information.
W. L. Mackenzie King was made deputy minister of Labour,
and had much to do with working out and developing the
policy of the department. The act of 1900, so far as it pro-
vided for the work of conciliation boards, was modelled on
English legislation, and did not appear to meet the needs and
conditions of Canada. But it brought the department into
close touch with industrial matters.

In 1903 legislation was enacted for the settlement of dis-
putes between railway companies and their employees. It
provided for methods of conciliation and arbitration somewhat
different from those of the act of 1900. It recognized the
principle that the public inconvenience and possible danger
from the interruption of railway service constituted a special
reason for intervention by the government. This idea was
further developed in the legislation introduced by the Hon.
Rodolphe Lemieux as minister of Labour in 1907. A pro-
longed strike of coal miners at Lethbridge, beginning in March
1906 and continuing during the summer and autumn, had
caused a serious shortage of fuel throughout Alberta and
Saskatchewan during the winter of 1906-7. The investiga-
tion made by the deputy minister, prior to the settlement of
this dispute, led him to recommend the enlargement of the
scope of the law. The Lemieux Act applied not only to
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railways, but to mines, and to all utilities connected with
transportation and communication, steamships, telegraphs,
telephones, gas, electric light, water and power works. So
far as these were concerned, the act was compulsory, that is,
it was made illegal to declare a strike or lock-out until the
matter in dispute had been investigated by a Board of Con-
ciliation, to be established by the minister of Labour on the
application of either party. It was provided also that em-
ployers and employees must give at least thirty days’ notice
of an intended change affecting the conditions of employ-
ment. Any kind of labour dispute, though not relating to the
utilities specified, could be referred by consent to a board of
conciliation, and the machinery of the act could be used for
the purpose of obtaining a settlement.

In 1908 it was announced that the department of Labour
would be separated from that of the postmaster-general and
placed under a distinct head. W. L. Mackenzie King, who
had been deputy minister since the department was organized,
resigned that office and became a candidate for the House of
Commons in the general election of 1908, upon the under-
standing that he was to be appointed minister of Labour.
He was elected for North Waterloo, and in June 1909 his
appointment as minister was made.

OLp AGE ANNUITIES!

The legislation of 1908 included provision for a system of
annuities for old age. Under this system contributions may
be made by the annuitants at all ages from five years, and
the whole sum contributed, whether paid regularly or other-
wise, is returned in the form of an annuity, with four per
cent compound interest. The annuitant thus obtains several
advantages. He has perfect security, and freedom from
lapses and forfeitures ; the methods are flexible, allowing of
payments in a variety of ways, and even of irregularity in
payment ; the rate of interest paid is comparatively high ;
the whole expense of administration is borne by the govern-
ment. The legislation was introduced by Sir Richard Cart-

! See ‘ The Federal Government,’ p. 342 in this section.
VOL. VI L
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wright, and the system was placed under the management of
S. T. Bastedo. Lecturers were engaged and an energetic
campaign conducted on the platform and in the press.

CHARGES OF MALADMINISTRATION

As it was generally believed that the session of 1907-8
would be the last before a general election, it was highly
contentious in character. H. B. Ames, conservative member
for St Antoine division, Montreal, made a series of charges
of favouritism in connection with the granting of timber
limits in the West. The general line of defence was that until
recently the policy of both parties had been to grant licences
on very liberal terms, the main object being to get timber cut
for settlers for building and other purposes. In December
1907 somewhat stricter regulations had been adopted.

Out of these charges arose a parliamentary quarrel over
the production of documents in the departments. Ames
demanded certain originals on file in the department of the
Interior. Frank Oliver, the minister, held that the practice
of producing originals would derange public business, and
that the utmost he could do would be to have such papers
produced before a parliamentary committee in custody of an
officer of the department. The premier held that specific
reasons must be given for the production of a particular paper.
The dispute waxed so warm that the leader of the opposition
moved a resolution declaring that the refusal to produce
originals warranted the withholding of supplies. Finally the
matter was ended by a declaration from the premier that Ames
had given reasons sufficient to comply with the condition the
government had laid down.

In the session of 1907-8 G. O. Alcorn, conservative
member for Prince Edward County, Ontario, introduced a
bill for the prevention of fraud and corruption in elections.
This bill forbade the offer of public expenditure for the purpose
of influencing elections and also forbade government officials
and contractors from taking part in election campaigns.
The government, while not willing to accept Alcorn’s bill,
recognized the necessity for a stricter law. In March 1908
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Allen B. Aylesworth, minister of Justice, introduced a bill
amending the Dominion Elections Act. He proposed that
(1) contributions to election funds must be made to the
statutory agent of the candidate, and the amount and source
must be stated ; (2) companies or corporations should be
forbidden to contribute to such funds; (3) the circulation of
false statements regarding a candidate’s character or personal
conduct should be punishable ; (4) aliens should be forbidden
to interfere in election contests ; (5) heavier penalties should
be imposed for tampering with ballots.

The very important issues raised by these bills were
somewhat obscured by a violent party quarrel which arose
over a provision for a certain measure of federal control over
the Manitoba lists. This departure from the liberal principle
of using the provincial lists for federal purposes was defended
upon the allegation that the Manitoba government had made
the law and manipulated the lists so as to favour the con-
servative party. The opposition at Ottawa denied that the
provincial lists were unfair, obstructed Aylesworth'’s bill, and
delayed the granting of supplies. As the elections were
drawing near the parliamentary fight was exceedingly bitter.
Finally, by conferences between the premier, the leader of
the opposition, and Robert Rogers, a member of the Mani-
toba government, a compromise was arranged whereby the
polling divisions were to be defined by the county judges.
An amendment moved by George E. Foster, aimed at the
practice of offering public works as bribes to constituencies,
was rejected. The other provisions of the bill became law.

CiviL SERVICE REFORM

During this parliament there was much public discussion
upon the necessity for reform in the civil service, and especially
upon the evils of patronage and political influence. In the
spring of 1907 J. M. Courtney, for many years deputy minister
of Finance, had publicly advocated a system of appointment
by competitive examination and of promotion by merit.
On May 8, 1907, the government appointed a commission
composed of J. M. Courtney, Thomas Fyshe, at one time
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manager of the Merchants’ Bank of Canada, and Philippe J.
Bazin of Quebec, to inquire into the working of the civil
service. The report of this commission, which was sub-
mitted in February 1908, was a sweeping condemnation of the
existing system. It was declared that the Civil Service Act
was too long and involved. There was a constant effort to
evade the examinations which the law required. The party
use of patronage ran through every department. Promotions
within the service were rare. The ambitions of officials were
checked. Salaries were too low, having regard to the increased
cost of living. Regret was expressed at the repeal of the law
providing for superannuation, and the enactment of a new
and improved superannuation act, including provision for the
support of widows and children of deceased public servants,
was advocated. The recommendations were for thorough
reform, including the liberation of the system from patronage
and political favouritism.

Two results followed from this investigation. A govern-
ment measure for reform of the civil service was introduced
by Sydney A. Fisher, minister of Agriculture. It placed the
inside civil service, that is, the officials at Ottawa, under an
independent civil service commission, and made the entrance
open to competitive examination. Nominations were to be
in order of merit, under control of the commission. At the
suggestion of R. L. Borden the tenure of office of the com-
missioners was made the same as that of the Dominion
auditor and of the judges. They were to hold office, not
at the pleasure of the government, but during good
behaviour.

In the second place, the censures of the commissioners on
the department of Marine and Fisheries were so severe that
a second commission was issued to Justice Cassels, of the
Exchequer Court of Canada, to inquire into such statements
in the report as reflected on the integrity of officials. His
investigation showed that certain officials had been in the
habit of taking commissions from contractors. In conse-
quence of these damaging revelations many officials were
dismissed.
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THE HALIFAX PLATFORM

The charges which have been referred to occupied the
public mind largely from 1906 to 1908, and some knowledge of
them is necessary to understand the declaration of principles
issued by R. L. Borden as leader of the opposition in August
1907, and the course of the campaign preceding the election
of 1908. The declaration, which was known as the Halifax
Platform, called for provincial autonomy, civil service reform
with appointment by merit, reform of the Senate, honesty in
public expenditure, more effective punishing of bribery and
fraud in elections, enforced publicity as to expenditures by
political organizations, prohibition of contributions by cor-
porations, contractors and promoters to campaign funds ;
prohibition of ‘saw-offs,” that is the withdrawal of one
election petition as the consideration for withdrawing another;
and the appointments of independent officers for the prosecu-
tion of offences committed in elections. Another group of
proposals related to transportation and other public utilities.
They included the placing of government railways under an
independent commission ; the improvements of waterways
and ports ; better facilities for cold storage ; the creation of
a public utilities commission ; the nationalization of tele-
graphs and telephones ; and provision for rural mail delivery.
Trade and commerce were represented by a declaration for
moderate protection and for preferential trade within the
Empire.

THE ELECTION OF 1908

In the summer of 1908 the parties prepared for the general
election. The government relied upon the abounding pro-
sperity of the country, the growth of immigration and settle-
ment and the rapid progress of the West, and upon such
legislation as the establishment of the Railway Commission,
the organization of the labour department, the act for the
settlement of labour disputes, the creation of a system of old
age annuities and the legislation for the reform of the civil
service. The opposition relied upon the chief features of
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the Halifax Platform, and dwelt upon the charges of fraud
and corruption which had been made in the previous three
years. These charges were not without effect on the public
mind, but the attack along this line lost something in effective-
ness from the fact that public attention was not concentrated
upon any one charge, as it had been in the case of the Pacific
Scandal of 1873. The country was prosperous, and the facts
relating to prosperity were steadily kept before the electors
by the press and speakers on the government side. The
appointment of a civil service commission helped to reassure
those liberals who had been shocked by the revelations of
wrongdoing in some of the departments at Ottawa.

As it was morally certain that the government would have
an overwhelming majority in Quebec and a fair majority in
the Maritime Provinces and in the West, the only hope of
the opposition lay in the possibility of an overwhelming
conservative majority in Ontario, a hope which was en-
couraged by the two victories won by the provincial con-
servatives under James Pliny Whitney (afterwards Sir James)
in 1905 and in 1908. The government therefore concentrated
its strength on Ontario, and in pursuance of that policy Sir
Wilfrid Laurier abandoned his trip to the West. By these
means the liberals succeeded in electing a fair number of
representatives in Ontario, and the safety of the government
was assured. There was, in fact, no ground for the expecta-
tion that the province would vote in a Dominion election in
the same manner as it had voted in provincial elections.
During all the time that the conservatives were in power in
the Dominion, from 1878 to 1896, there was a liberal majority
in Ontario. When the conservatives won their great victory
on the National Policy in 1878, many of them hoped that
Mowat would be overthrown in Ontario, but this expectation
was not realized. Soon after the liberals came into power at
Ottawa they began to lose their hold on the government of
Ontario. It was said that there was a disposition on the part
of some electors to maintain a balance of power by keeping
one party in office at Ottawa and another at Toronto. At all
events, victory in one field gave no assurance of victory in the
other, as was repeatedly proved by experience. The govern-
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ment emerged from the contest with a majority diminished,
but large enough for working purposes.

THE CANADIAN NAVY

The naval defence of Canada had for some years been a
matter of controversy. As to land defence the country was
becoming by a process of evolution self-supporting, and in
the South African War Canada had given the mother country
aid. There was a strong feeling, that with its wealth and
prosperity Canada ought not to depend upon Great Britain
for naval protection, or ought at least to share the burden of
naval defence. The problem of autonomy stood in the way.
It was easy to provide that a land force should be under local
control. But it was argued that, with a navy, rapid mobiliza-
tion and power of centralization were essential to efficiency.
Yet there was a reluctance to settle the difficulty by a mere
payment of money to the British Treasury, and at the same
time Canadian governments hesitated to undertake so large
an enterprise as the forming of a Canadian navy. The result
was that for some years nothing was done. In the spring of
1909 disquieting statements as to the relative naval strength
of Great Britain and Germany were made in the British
House of Commons. The gist of the statements was that
Germany was overtaking Great Britain in naval power and
would soon be in a position to dispute British supremacy on
the sea. The prospect of having so close a neighbour with a
fleet of equal strength with that of Great Britain and with
by far the most powerful army in the world aroused intense
anxiety in England. A demand arose for more °Dread-
noughts,’ the name of the type of gigantic battleships which it
was said was superseding all other types. It was argued also
that if the British colonies undertook to build Dreadnoughts
or contribute their price to the British Treasury, Germany
would see that the whole British Empire could be drawn upon,
and would hesitate to enter into such a competition.

The movement for the contribution of Dreadnoughts made
some headway in Canada before the matter was debated in
parliament. Thedebate occurred upon a motion by George E.
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Foster. It declared that Canada ought to provide for the
defence of her coast. This form was due to the fact that the
notice of motion had been given before the Dreadnought
alarm had been raised. Foster offered to support the govern-
ment in contributing Dreadnoughts to meet the present
emergency. But as a permanent policy he argued strongly
in favour of a Canadian navy as against the contribution of
money to the imperial navy. He objected to a money
contribution because it had the appearance of hiring some-
body to do what Canadians ought to do themselves. If, he
said, Canada followed this plan for thirty years, she would pay
out a large sum of money and she would be protected. But
in Canada herself there would be no roots struck, no prepara-
tion of the soil, no beginning of the growth of defence ; while
with Canada’s resources and population she must have a
naval force for coast and home defence. He wanted to see
something planted in the soil of Canada’s nationhood. There
must be beginnings and these beginnings must be small.
He favoured the policy of Canada assuming the defence of
her own ports and coasts in constant and free co-operation
with the imperial forces.

A resolution setting forth the policy of the government
was moved by Sir Wilfrid Laurier. Some amendments
suggested by the leader of the opposition were accepted, and
the resolution was adopted unanimously in this form :

This House fully recognizes the duty of the people of
Canada as they increase in numbers and wealth, to assume
in larger measure the responsibilities of national defence.

This House is of opinion that under the present con-
stitutional relation between the Mother Country and the
self-governing Dominions, the payment of regular and
periodical contributions to the Imperial Treasury for
naval and military purposes, would not so far as Canada
is concerned be the most satisfactory solution of the
question of defence.

This House will cordially approve of any necessary
expenditure designed to promote the speedy organization
of a Canadian naval service in co-operation with and
in close relations to the imperial navy, along the lines
suggested by the Admiralty at the last Imperial Confer-
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ence, and in full sympathy with the view that the naval
supremacy of Britain is essential to the security of com-
merce, the safety of the Empire,and the peace of the world.

The House expresses its firm conviction that whenever
the need arises, the Canadian people will be found ready
and willing to make any sacrifice that is required to give
to the imperial authorities the most loyal and hearty
co-operation in every movement for the maintenance of
the integrity and honour of the Empire.

The apparent unanimity of the House of Commons did
not reflect the feeling of the country. The government policy
was opposed on various grounds. One element, whose views
were expressed by Sir James Whitney, the conservative
premier of Ontario, would have preferred that Canada should
contribute the cost of one or two Dreadnoughts to the defence
of the Empire. Another element objected both to a Canadian
navy and to a contribution to the imperial navy, regarding
both proposals as concessions to the military and imperial
spirit. A third opinion was that the two policies should be
combined—Dreadnoughts or their value to be given as an
emergency contribution, and a Canadian navy to be organ-
ized as a permanent policy. In some quarters the govern-
ment policy was attacked on the double ground that it was
expensive for Canada and useless to the Empire.

In the summer of 1909 a conference was held in London
to discuss the military and naval defence of the Empire.
Canada was represented by Sir Frederick Borden, minister
of Militia, and L. P. Brodeur, minister of Marine and
Fisheries. The British Admiralty in a memorandum pointed
out that the maximum of power for a given expenditure would
be effected by all the parts of the Empire contributing
according to their needs and resources to the maintenance of
the British navy. But it recognized that the national senti-
ment of the larger Dominions required the creation of local
naval forces which would contribute immediately to imperial
defence and at the same time serve as foundations for
Dominion navies. The Admiralty suggested that a Dominion
government desirous of creating a navy should aim at forming
a distinct fleet unit, to consist of at least one Dreadnought
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cruiser, three armoured cruisers, six destroyers and three
submarines. Emphasis was laid upon the advantage of unity
of command and direction. It was recommended that there
should be one common standard for the central and Dominion
fleets in regard to shipbuilding armament and warlike stores,
training and discipline.

The creation of a fleet unit was attended with special
difficulties in the case of Canada. Canada, unlike any other
part of the British Empire, has two coasts separated by the
width of a continent, and requiring two distinct systems of
naval defence. Three courses were possible : (1) to establish
two fleet units, one on each coast : (2) to have a single unit,
and to place this unit on the Pacific or on the Atlantic coast ;
(3) to divide the fleet between the two, giving each something
less than a fleet unit. The first course was apparently not
considered. The second was the proposal of the British
Admiralty, which would have preferred to have the entire
force on the Pacific side. The third was that finally decided
upon. It involved an expenditure of three million dollars
a year by Canada, and provided for the maintenance of four
cruisers of the ‘ Bristol ’ class, one cruiser of the ‘ Boadicea ’
class, and six destroyers of the improved ‘ River ’ class. Two
of the Bristols were to be stationed on the Pacific, and the
rest of the fleet on the Atlantic coast. In January 1910 Sir
Wilfrid Laurier introduced the Naval Service Bill, sketched
the history of the imperial conference of the previous summer,
described the force to be created, and laid stress upon the
purely voluntary character of the service.

There was no longer any appearance of unanimity in
parliament, and the bill was severely criticized and attacked
from several sides. R. L. Borden in an amendment set forth
that the government measure did not follow the proposals
of the Admiralty; that there was a dangerous suggestion
that the naval forces of Canada might be withheld from
those of the Empire in time of war ; that the proposed navy
would be expensive and ineffective ; that no permanent naval
policy should be carried out until submitted to the people ;
and that in the meantime there ought to be placed at the
disposal of the imperial authorities, as a free and loyal
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contribution, an amount sufficient to purchase two Dread-
noughts. The suggestion that the matter ought to be referred
to the people in a plebiscite was put more pointedly in an
amendment moved by Frederick Monk, a leading French-
Canadian conservative member. Monk’s speech, though
moderate and argumentative in tone, was strongly anti-
imperial and foreshadowed the violent agitation which was
afterwards carried on in the Province of Quebec.

The question was new and difficult, public opinion was
divided, and the government, striving to take a course which
would unite the country, was attacked both by imperialists
and by anti-imperialists. The crucial question was the
position which the Canadian navy would occupy in time of
war. The naval bill provided that the navy should be under
control of parliament ; that it might, in emergency, be placed
at the disposal of the British government, by the government
of Canada, if parliament were not sitting ; but that parliament
must at once be summoned. Many questions were asked as
to what constituted such an emergency as would bring the
Canadian navy into full co-operation with the British navy.
Sir Wilfrid Laurier said that when the Empire was at war,
Canada was at war ; but that there were conflicts in which it
would not be necessary for Canada to engage ; he instanced
the Crimean War. Later in the session details of the organiza-
tion of the navy were given. There had been purchased from
the British government the Niobe, a cruiser of 11,000 tons,
with 33 guns and 2 Maxims, with 40 officers and 659 men,
and the Rainbow, a cruiser of 3600 tons, with 18 guns and
4 Maxims, with 17 officers and 252 men.

In the Province of Quebec an agitation against the navy
was set on foot by Henri Bourassa early in 1910, and carried
on vigorously. The results were seen in the Drummond
and Arthabasca election in October. The constituency was
rendered vacant by the resignation of Louis Lavergne,
appointed to the Senate. The government candidate was
J. E. Perrault ; he was opposed by Arthur Gilbert, a farmer,
who described himself as a liberal but opposed to the navy.
The nationalists conducted a fiery campaign. They declared
that the government had surrendered to the imperialists.



172 THE LAURIER REGIME, 1896-1911

They persistently averred that there would be conscription
for the Canadian navy, and drew harrowing pictures of the
habitant torn from his family and dragged on board the ships
to fight the enemies of England.

On November 3 the nationalist candidate was returned by
a majority of 207. The result was a surprise to the country,
and newspaper speculations as to its meaning took a wide
range. The liberal newspapers treated it as a blow at national
unity, and urged that an educative campaign should be carried
on in Quebec, to explain the true character of the naval law,
and to reconcile French Canadians to its provisions. The
conservative papers saw in it a blow at the prestige of Sir
Wilfrid Laurier, and a disappearance of the ‘ Solid Quebec’
which had supported him. Sir Wilfrid Laurier addressed a
letter to La Presse of Montreal, laying stress upon the fact
that there was no conscription, and that Canadian autonomy
was amply protected.

TaE FISHERIES QUESTION !

During the summer of 1910 the Hague Tribunal, a perma-
nent international court established by the persistent efforts
of advocates of peace, considered the differences which had
arisen in connection with the use of the Atlantic fisheries of
Canada and Newfoundland by the fishermen of the United
States. The submission of this question to the Hague
Tribunal was important in two aspects. It provided a means
of settling differences which had arisen at intervals during a
century and a quarter. It also recognized and strengthened
the authority of the tribunal, aided in the development of
international law, and gave an impulse to the movement for
the substitution of arbitration for war. A brief history of the
fisheries question will be convenient at this point.

The treaty of peace made after the close of the American
Revolution in 1783 allowed the people of the United States
‘ to enjoy unmolested the right to take fish of every kind on
the Grand Bank and on all the other banks of Newfoundland,
and also in the Gulf of the St Lawrence and at all the other
places in the sea where the inhabitants of both countries used

1 See ¢ The Fishery Arbitrations’ in this section.
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at any time heretofore to fish.” This provision has been
criticized severely as a weak surrender to the United States.
It must be remembered, however, that Great Britain was not
at this time in a position favourable to the strict enforcement
of her rights. It is to be borne in mind, also, that the Ameri-
cans have at various times put forward a moral claim to the
use of the fisheries. They claimed that they had discovered,
exploited and developed the fisheries while they were British
subjects, and also that they had assisted in the taking of
Canada from the French, an event which at the time of the
Revolution was less than twenty years old. Before that time,
from the first settlement of the New England colonies, the
fisheries of Canada and Newfoundland had been a source
of living to British colonists in Massachusetts and other
New England states. They considered that these fisheries
had been won by their enterprise and by their courage in
facing the dangers of war and of the sea. In 1783 they main-
tained that their rights to the use of these fisheries were even
stronger than those of the new British subjects in Nova Scotia.

After the War of 1812-14 Great Britain contended that
the American fishing rights had been forfeited by war, while
the Americans contended that they held those rights in per-
petuity, in the same way that they held their independence.
As no agreement could be reached the Treaty of Ghent was
silent on this point. In 1818 Great Britain and the United
States made a new agreement called the London Convention.
Great Britain was now in a strong position. Her great life-
and-death struggle was over, and Napoleon was a prisoner at
St Helena. She was now in a position to dictate terms, and
the convention of 1818 was less favourable to the United
States than the treaty of 1783. Nevertheless, without ad-
mitting the extreme contentions of the United States, Great
Britain conceded the liberty to fish in certain waters, on
condition that the United States renounced the right to fish
elsewhere. The fishing limits assigned to the United States
were the shores of the Magdalen Islands and that part of
the north shore of the Gulf of St. Lawrence extending from
a point nearly opposite the Métis end of the island of Anticosti
to the intercolonial boundary between Canada and New-
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foundland, at about the southern entrance to the Strait of
Belle Isle. In other words, the Americans retained fishing
liberties in portions of Newfoundland, Quebec and Labrador,
and renounced the right to fish in Nova Scotia, New Bruns-
wick and Prince Edward Island. The renunciation clause
was as follows :

And that the United States renounce for ever any
liberty heretofore enjoyed or claimed by the inhabitants
thereof to take, dry, or cure fish on or within three marine
miles of any of the coasts, bays, creeks or harbours on
Her Britannic Majesty’s Dominions in America not
included within the above-mentioned limits.

Out of this clause arose the momentous questions, ¢ What
is a bay ?’ and ‘ How are three marine miles from a bay to be
measured ?’ The American claim was that their fishermen
could follow the sinuosities of the coast, and could fish at
any point within a bay so long as they kept three miles from
the coast. They could thus enter any bay that was more
than six miles wide at the mouth and proceed until they
reached a point three miles from the shore.

The Hague Tribunal decided (substantially in accordance
with the British contention) that in the case of bays the three
marine miles are to be measured from a straight line drawn
across the body of water at the place where it ceases to have
the configuration and characteristics of a bay. This means
that each bay must be described and the place where it loses
the configuration of a bay specified. As to this, the tribunal
recommended the adoption of the delimitations given in the
rejected treaty of 1888. Where the bay is not specified by
name the rule is to draw the line three miles seaward from the
first point where the width does not exceed ten miles. Two
bays were excluded from the decision by previous agreements
—the Bay of Fundy, at the instance of the Americans, and
Hudson Bay at the instance of the Canadians. As to the
latter the treaty says, ‘saving the rights of the Hudson’s Bay
Company,’ and it was thought better that there should be
no appearance of questioning those rights, which had been
asserted by Canadian legislation.

Another question was whether a Canadian or Newfound-
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land law passed with regard to the fisheries enjoyed in common
should be binding on the fishermen of the United States.
The United States contended that Canadian regulations
(apart from the prohibitions of the criminal law) did not bind
their fishermen. They even went so far as to contend that
the United States had a better right to legislate with regard
to these waters than Great Britain, and could even send
armed vessels into Canadian harbours to protect the rights
of American fishermen. They contended that the liberties
of fishery granted to the United States constituted an ‘ inter-
national servitude ’ in their favour over the territory of Great
Britain, thereby involving a derogation from the sovereignty
of Great Britain, and that thereby Great Britain is deprived,
by reason of the grant, of the independent right to regulate
the fishery.

The tribunal said that the right of Great Britain to make
regulations without the consent of the United States in the
form of municipal laws, ordinances or rules is inherent to the
sovereignty of Great Britain. The exercise of that right by
Great Britain was, however, limited. The regulations must
be bona fide and must not be in violation of the treaties. In
this case the words of the British contention were adopted.
It was declared that regulations must be appropriate or
necessary for the protection and preservation of fisheries,
or desirable or necessary on the ground of public order and
morals ; they must not unnecessarily interfere with the
fishery itself, and they must be equitable and fair as between
British and American fishermen. As to existing fishery
laws, it was declared that the United States may give notice
to Canada of enactments which they contend are opposed
to the true meaning of the treaty. The tribunal, instead of
deciding this point, referred the regulations to a board of
experts who were to report to the tribunal. Sir Allen Ayles-
worth, in explaining the decision to the house, said that having
regard to time, labour and expense, he did not desire to see
the tribunal meet again in this case, as he trusted the
matter could be settled by negotiation. This hope has been
realized by an arrangement arrived at between Canada and
the United States.
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REcIPROCITY

The revival of the question of reciprocity was due to two
causes, one arising in Canada and the other in the United
States. In the summer of 1910 Sir Wilfrid Laurier made a
tour through the prairie provinces. He met a number of
deputations of farmers who made requests for legislation of
various kinds, and among these requests reciprocity had a
prominent place. In December of the same year a very large
delegation of farmers from Ontario and the West visited
Ottawa, and again the demand for a reciprocity agreement
with the United States was strongly pressed. In reply to the
delegation Sir Wilfrid Laurier said : ¢ At this moment we are
negotiating with the American authorities to do this very
thing you ask for—to improve our commercial relations with
our neighbours.” He added : ‘I think that if we can improve
the relations in the direction of having more markets for
natural products and farm products, the country will be
immensely benefited.” There would be more difficulty in
regard to manufactures. Finally he said: ‘ The country is
ready to respond fully to the advances that are made to us
for reciprocity.’

It will be necessary now to go back to the previous year
in order to show how the advance came to be made. The
Payne Aldrich law, enacted by Congress in 1909, contained a
maximum and a minimum tariff to be applied to the imports
from various countries according to their treatment of imports
from the United States. Substantially, Canada was entitled
to the minimum tariff, or at least to favourable treatment
from its neighbour. Technically, by the terms of the law,
the president might have been obliged to apply the maximum
tariff. At the suggestion of President Taft the difficulty was
overcome by the reduction of a few unimportant duties by
Canada. At the same time it was intimated that there
would be negotiations for a measure of reciprocity with the
United States.

In the speech from the throne at the opening of the
Dominion parliament on November 17, 1910, the negotiations
were referred to in these terms :
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The desirability of more equitable tariff arrangements
between the United States and Canada has been long
felt on this side of the border. The commercial policy
of the Republic has not hitherto favoured imports from
Canada. We have bought largely from the United
States, but they have bought less from us in return. It
is gratifying to find that a more liberal policy is now
favoured by the neighbouring country, and that the
government at Washington express a desire to establish
better trade relations with the Dominion. Following
the negotiations which took place some months ago
between the United States and my government, the
results of which were at the time communicated to parlia-
ment, a further conference between representatives of
the two countries has been held at Ottawa. While no
conclusions have been reached, and no formal proposals
made, the free discussion of the subject that has taken
place encourages my government to hope that at an
early day, without .any sacrifice of Canada’s interests, an
arrangement may be made which will admit many of the
products of the Dominion into the United States on more
favourable terms.

The negotiations having been thus publicly and officially
announced, it may seem strange that in the controversy
which arose over the agreement, it was frequently stated that
there was something surreptitious in the proceedings and
that the intentions of the government were concealed.

The explanation is that the country was surprised by the
extensive nature of the agreement. Some previous negotia-
tions had come to nought because the Congress of the United
States would not make extensive reductions in its own tariff.
In 1891 the government of the United States stated clearly
that an agreement relating to natural products alone would
not be entertained. It was commonly supposed that the
negotiations of 1911 would result in a similar way, and that
the United States would be unwilling to make any reductions
which would form an inducement to Canada. In the language
commonly employed, they would want to ‘take everything
but give nothing.” There was therefore general surprise when
it was found that the United States had agreed to admit
most of the staple farm products duty free, and to admit
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secondary farm products and some other articles at very low
rates, identical with those to be imposed on the Canadian side.

On January 26, 1911, W. S. Fielding, minister of Finance,
announced the result of the tariff negotiations with the
representatives of the United States. The agreement was of
a far-reaching character. It covered some manufactures ;
in the main it provided for absolute free trade in grains,
fruits, vegetables and farm animals, and for reduced duties
on meats, and other secondary farm products. The house
and the country were surprised by the extent of the reductions,
and especially by the fact that the representatives of the
United States had agreed to free trade in natural products,
involving the removal of very high duties on the American
side.

The agreement was not a treaty. The proposed tariff
changes were to be made by legislation in Canada and the
United States which either parliament or Congress might
repeal or modify at pleasure. No time was specified for the
duration of the arrangement ; but the hope was expressed
that its benefits would be such that it would remain in opera-
tion for a considerable time.

The reversal of a policy which had prevailed in the United
States since the abrogation of the Elgin Reciprocity Treaty
in 1866 was due largely to the increase in the cost of living in
the republic. The revised tariff of 1909 had disappointed
the American people, who had expected greater reductions in
the taxes on food and other necessaries of life. By reciprocity
with Canada President Taft saw an opportunity of amending
this error, improving the position of the republican party,
and at the same time bettering the general commercial
relations with Canada, whose rapid growth and prosperity
had attracted widespread notice. The November elections
had gone heavily against the republican party, owing to
discontent with the tariff and to the high cost of living. In
the new House of Representatives there would be a large
democratic instead of a republican majority ; but under the
American practice the old members would hold their seats
during one more session. The president was desirous of
having the agreement ratified during that session, the last of
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the 61st Congress. If this hope were disappointed he
intended to call the new Congress immediately, in special
session.

The agreement was one which a few years before would
have been eagerly accepted by Canada. Both political parties
were on record in favour of reciprocity in natural products.
An offer of such reciprocity was attached to the protective or
‘National Policy’ tariff introduced in 1879, and remained
there until modified by the tariff of 1894. The reason
assigned for the dissolution of parliament by the Macdonald
government in 1891 was the desire to obtain popular approval
of negotiations with the United States for reciprocity in
natural products. The strong opposition offered to unre-
stricted reciprocity at that time was based not upon com-
mercial but upon political reasons; namely, that it would
involve dependence upon Washington and discrimination
against Great Britain.

But although neither party had expressly repudiated
reciprocity, there had been a movement away from it. Canada
had grown tired of seeking freedom of trade with her neigh-
bour and receiving such replies as the Dingley and M¢Kinley
tariffs, increasing instead of lowering the duties on Canadian
farm products. ¢ Cultivate the British market’ became the
watchword of Canadian public men, and this was emphasized
by the British preference of 1897 and by the movement in
Great Britain for a reciprocal preference in favour of the
colonies. Even without such a reciprocal preference, Canada’s
position in the British market was much improved. Owing
to this, and also to the remarkable growth of the home market
of Canada, increased trade with the United States became
relatively less important and less an object of desire to
Canadians than it had been a few years before.

Hence, in spite of the unexpected liberality of the conces-
sions made by the United States, the agreement was not
received with unmixed satisfaction in Canada. The opposi-
tion was not entirely of a partisan character. Clifford Sifton,
formerly minister of the Interior, made a strong speech
against the measure, and was joined by two other liberal
members of parliament, William M. German of Welland
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and Lloyd Harris of Brantford. A large deputation of fruit-
growers from the Niagara Peninsula went to Ottawa and
protested against the removal of the duties on fruit, which
they said would expose them to ruinous competition from
the United States. The Toronto Board of Trade pronounced
against the agreement by an overwhelming majority, and
most of the Ontario Boards of Trade took similar ground.
A protest against it was signed by eighteen Toronto liberals
prominent in finance and commerce. They included Sir
William Mortimer Clark, formerly Lieutenant-Governor of
Ontario, John C. Eaton, head of the well-known departmental
store business, Sir Edmund Walker, president of the
Canadian Bank of Commerce, and W. T. White, vice-president
of the National Trust Company.

The grounds of opposition were these : Having for many
years been denied access to the market of the United States,
Canadians had at great expense built railways and established
lines of communication and trade running east and west.
Large amounts of British capital had been invested in these
enterprises, and this investment was still going on. Reci-
procity with the United States would divert this trade into
channels running north and south, and thus impair the value
of the national investments in railways and check the inflow
of British capital. With free wheat, milling would be
diverted from Canada to the United States. There would be
danger to the ports, the commercial and industrial cities and
towns of Canada. The United States having drawn too
largely upon their own natural resources would use those of
Canada, which would thus be placed in the position of a
hewer of wood and a drawer of water to its neighbours.

It was also urged that neither the farmer in Canada nor
the manufacturer in the United States would be satisfied
with an arrangement which covered mainly natural products.
The farmer would demand that he should be as free to buy
imported manufactures as others would be to buy imported
farm products. The American manufacturer would demand
free access to the markets of Canada, and in a few years the
United States Congress might support him in this demand,
and threaten to end the agreement unless it were extended to
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manufactures. If Canada yielded, there would be so close a
commercial union between the two countries that political
union might follow. Canada was prosperous. Why not let
well alone ?

It was argued on the other side that these fears were
exaggerated, and that the inferences were too broad for the
facts; that trade conditions would be modified but not
revolutionized, and therefore that there would be ample
business for the transcontinental railway systems and for
eastern and western trade as well as for trade north and
south. Canadian farmers ought not to be denied access to
the American market merely because of a fear that manu-
facturing industries might be affected at some future time.
Experience and history showed that free commercial relations
did not tend towards political union. No such result had
been observed during the period of the Elgin Reciprocity
Treaty. There was an annexation movement in 1849, but
the Elgin Treaty, by producing prosperity and content, had
destroyed annexation sentiment. It was pointed out that
Canadian patriotism had already stood the test of a very
extensive trade with the United States. Half of Canada’s
total trade was already done with that country. This trade
had been trebled in twenty years, and in the same period there
had been a stream of public opinion not towards but away
from political union.

As the discussion proceeded the ground was in one respect
shifted. There was at first a disposition on the part of the
opponents of reciprocity to admit that it would result in
greatly increased sales of Canadian farm products in the
United States. But later on this admission was withdrawn.
It was denied that the Canadian farmer would be benefited
by the agreement, and it was contended that the Canadian
market would receive the surplus products of American
farms, and also of several countries which were entitled to
favoured-nation treatment. This meant that the appeal
was being made more directly to the material interests of
farmers. At the same time the contention that reciprocity
would eventually lead to political union was not abandoned,
and in the end it proved decisive.

CT INLIR CICLIFD AN
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In the United States, also, much attention was paid to
the farmer. Persons speaking or professing to speak on his
behalf protested against the agreement as unfair, because
it deprived the farmer of protection and exposed him to
Canadian competition, while leaving untouched the heavy
duties on manufactures and other articles consumed by the
farmer. To meet this attack strong efforts were made by
President Taft to prove that the American farmer would gain
by the exchange of products with Canada.

This American controversy had a curious reflex influence
on the discussion in Canada. The protests made on behalf of
the American farmer were quoted by Canadian advocates of
reciprocity, in order to show that the balance of gain would
be in Canada’s favour. The attempts to reassure the
American farmer were used as evidence that the Canadian
farmer would be injured by the agreement.

On February 14 the bill embodying the agreement was
passed by the House of Representatives of the United States
by a large majority. The bill was then transmitted to the
Senate, and referred to the Finance Committee of that body.
It had not reached its final stage on March 4, when the 61st
Congress expired. On the same day the president called the
new Congress, and a month later it assembled. The new
Congress was different in composition from the old. The
House of Representatives contained a large democratic
instead of a large republican majority. In the Senate the
democrats had gained somewhat on their opponents; they
were about equal in number to the regular republicans, and
there were about a dozen ‘insurgents,” that is, republicans
who held advanced views on the tariff and other questions
and were not amenable to party discipline.

The bill was passed by the new House of Representatives
on April 21. More opposition was encountered in the Senate.
President Taft worked hard, and used all his powers of per-
suasion with the senators, but it was not until July 23 that
the bill was passed. The majority was nearly two to one.
Twenty-one republicans and thirty-two democrats supported
the bill ; twenty-four republicans and three democrats voted
against it. The majority was therefore due to the democrats,
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whose low-tariff opinions must have overcome their objection
to helping a republican administration.

While the bill was making its way through Congress there
were incidents which had an effect upon public opinion in
Canada. Champ Clark, a leading democrat, who succeeded
J.G. Cannon as speaker of the House of Representatives, made
a speech in which he expressed a hope for the annexation of
Canada. It was afterwards explained that the remark was
jocular. A more serious matter was a speech made by
President Taft at a banquet of the Associated Press and
American Newspaper Association at New York on April 27,
1911. In this speech he confined himself strictly to trade
relations, and declared that the talk of annexation was
ridiculous. But, unfortunately for his own cause, he touched
upon the question of imperial trade. He remarked :

I have said that this is a critical time in the solution
of this question of reciprocity. It is critical because
unless it is now decided favourably to reciprocity, it is
exceedingly probable that no such opportunity will ever
come again to the United States. The forces which are
at work in England and Canada to separate her by a
Chinese wall from the United States and to make her
part of an imperial commercial bond, reaching from
England around the world to England again by a system
of preferential tariffs, will derive an impetus from the
rejection of this treaty, and if we would have reciprocity,
with all the advantages that I have described, and that I
earnestly and sincerely believe will follow its adoption,
we must take it now or give it up for ever.

In another speech made at Atlanta, Georgia, the president
made use of the expression, ‘ Canada is at the parting of the
ways.” This phrase, and the passage quoted from the New
York speech, were published repeatedly by Canadian news-
papers, and were exceedingly effective weapons in the hands
of the opponents of reciprocity.

The opposition to the agreement in Canada gathered
strength. In the House of Commons it was resisted to the
point of obstruction. In May an imperial conference was
to be held in London, and three courses were open to the
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prime minister. He might abandon the intention of attend-
ing the conference. He might go to England and allow the
parliamentary discussion of reciprocity to proceed in his
absence ; or he might have parliament prorogued. The last
course was adopted and parliament was prorogued.

When parliament met again in July the obstruction was
renewed, and in a few days the government determined to
abandon the attempt to carry the agreement in that parlia-
ment, and to appeal to the country. The nominations were
fixed for September 14 and the elections for September 21.
A hard battle followed. R. L. Borden had the assistance
of Sir James Whitney, prime minister of Ontario, and his
colleagues, and also of the conservative governments of
Manitoba, British Columbia and New Brunswick. In
Quebec the battle was fought over the navy rather than over
reciprocity. Henri Bourassa made a strong campaign against
the naval policy of the government, and on this point the
Quebec conservatives and nationalists were in agreement.

The election resulted in a decisive defeat for the govern-
ment and for reciprocity. Looking at the number of members
elected on each side, the defeat did not appear to be over-
whelming, the majority being less than that recorded in 1874,
1878, 1882 and 1904. But the remarkable fact was the
enormous conservative majority in Ontario, which left the
liberals with only a handful of members from that province.

There were several leading causes for this result. The
country was exceedingly prosperous, and it had prospered
under a policy which was regarded as being the reverse of
that involved in reciprocity with the United States. ‘Let
well alone’ was a powerful election cry. Manufacturers
teared that reciprocity in natural products would be followed
by reciprocity in the products of factories, and their workmen
seem to have shared in this fear. The combined power of
capital, as represented by the banks, the manufacturers and
the railways, was directed against a proposal which threatened
to disturb existing conditions.

But, above all, a majority of the electors adopted the view
that the agreement with the United States involved political
consequences ; that its acceptance would have imperilled the
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national independence of Canada, and would have given
impetus to continental as opposed to British ideals. It was
in vain that the liberals argued that trade and national destiny
were not bound up together, that more than half the trade of
Canada was already done with the United States, that this
trade had trebled in twenty years, and that annexation
sentiment, so far from growing in that period, had disappeared.
The misgiving could not be removed. It was one of the
elemental forces against which argument throws itself in vain.
The result must have come about largely through liberals
voting against reciprocity or refraining from voting. There is
no reason to suppose that these voters doubted the patriotism
of their leaders, or the sincerity of their assurances. But
they were not assured, and they were determined to take no
chances.

This distrust was partly due to the fact that the enlarge-
ment of trade was to be made by agreement, and involved
joint legislative action, and a certain intermingling of the
politics of the two countries. What was said in the United
States in advocacy of the agreement strengthened Canadian
public opinion against it, and this was especially true of
President Taft’s maladroit remark regarding the ‘ parting of
the ways.” Even more the distrust was due to the geographi-
cal proximity of the two countries. Treaties have been made
with France and other nations without raising the question of
national independence, for the simple reason that the political
union of Canada with France or any other country than the
United States would be out of the question. But with a nation
whose boundaries march with those of Canada for several
thousand miles, a nation speaking a similar language, having
in many respects like institutions, a nation from which Canada
is receiving hundreds of thousands of immigrants, the fear of
political union is easily aroused, and there is a tendency to
be jealous and suspicious of anything which might possibly
lead to annexation.

The rejection of the agreement was received in good part
by the newspapers and public men of the United States,
while in Canada those who had been foremost in opposing
reciprocity hastened to give assurances that the decision
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implied no ill-will to the republic, but was simply an expres-
sion of Canada’s determination to go her own way.

THE NATIONALISTS

In the Province of Quebec the significant feature of the
election was the strength of nationalism. The government,
instead of sweeping the province as in the previous three
elections, retained thirty-five seats out of sixty-five, the re-
mainder going either to nationalists or to conservatives who
had accepted the nationalist programme and owed their seats
largely to nationalist votes. When the new government came
to be formed nationalist influence was so powerful that the
ministry was described with at least approximate accuracy
as a conservative-nationalist coalition. Nationalism thus
became an important factor in the political life of Canada.

The aims of nationalism as described by Olivar Asselin,
in a pamphlet which is regarded as authentic, are :

1. In Canada’s relations with the mother country, the
greatest measure of autonomy consistent with the main-
tenance of the colonial bond.

2. In Canada’s internal relations, the safeguarding of
provincial autonomy on the one hand, and the con-
stitutional rights of minorities on the other hand.

3. The settlement of the country with a sole view to
the strengthening of Canadian nationhood.

4. The adoption by both the federal and provincial
governments of provident, economic and social laws,
that the natural resources of the country may be a source
of social contentment and political strength.

As to imperial relations, the nationalist view is that little
change is required. An imperial parliament is regarded as
impracticable. The colonial conferences are approved, with
the reservation that their decisions must not be regarded as
binding on the participants. The best service Canada can
render to the Empire is to strengthen Canada. A false
imperialism may result in grave perils. ‘Let us,’ says Henri
Bourassa, ‘ before all and above all be Canadians; let us
English-speaking and French-speaking Canadians unite our
forces, let us develop our resources, let us build up a great
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country in which the rights of all shall be respected, let us
carefully guard our autonomy and we shall be rendering the
best service, not only to Canada but to the whole Empire.
That is the aim of the nationalist movement.’

British preference is approved with the conditions (1) that
the agreement may be terminated if convenient, and (2) that
the normal growth of Canadian industries be not hindered.
The latter condition the nationalists regard as an insuperable
barrier to a fiscal zollverein ; that is, they do not think it pos-
sible to give any great advantage to British imports without
interfering with the normal growth of Canadian industries.

As to defence, the nationalist opinion is that a colony does
its full duty by providing for the defence of its own territory.
It is generally opposed to Canadian participation in wars
outside Canada, holding that Canada is under no obligation
of this kind, and also that it is impossible for Canadians to
form a sound judgment as to the justice of every war in which
Great Britain may engage. It was opposed to the sending
of Canadian contingents to South Africa and to the naval
organization adopted by the Laurier government.

Nationalists take strong grounds as to the rights of the
French and Catholic minority. They hold that in education
the provincial authorities are not supreme, but that ‘the
Canadian constitution explicitly ensures the right to separate
schools—that is, national schools with religious teaching—
to the Protestants in Quebec and to the Catholics in Ontario
or other provinces.” Any minority, they say, has the right to
set up separate schools, in which they can teach their own
religious beliefs while complying with state standards of
secular education. The condition they attach is that the
teaching is not subversive of social order or fealty to the state.

As to language, they hold that French is one of the
official languages of the whole country. During a discussion
on bi-lingual schools in Ontario, Armand Lavergne, a leading
nationalist, said : ‘I firmly believe that we are entitled by
the treaties and by the British North America Act to bi-lingual
schools in all parts of the Dominion.’

Nationalists favour the filling up of the West with native-
born Canadians rather than with immigrants. The national-
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ization of railways and the conservation of public resources
are parts of their programme which are not often discussed.
Their opposition to an advanced imperialism, and their
championship of separate schools and the use of the French
language, are the features of their programme which raise large
issues.

IMPERIAL CONFERENCES

During the summer of 1911 Sir Wilfrid Laurier was
attending the Imperial Conference held on the occasion of
the coronation of King George v. This conference was one
of a series of gatherings of representatives of the United
Kingdom and the colonies.

The first of these had been held in 1887, on the occasion of
the jubilee of Queen Victoria. At this meeting the question of
naval defence was discussed. The Australian colonies wished
for a larger squadron and more extensive harbour works in
their waters than the British Admiralty considered it could
afford. Accordingly, it was arranged that an auxiliary
squadron should be stationed in Australian waters, and that
the Australian colonies should contribute £126,000 a year
towards its cost.

Canada at this time could not agree to make any contribu-
tion. Her representatives quoted the agreement made during
the negotiations preceding Confederation that the British
government should provide naval defence for Canada, and
that Canada should spend not less than £200,000 on her own
land defence. It appeared that this was as far as Canada
was prepared to go at this conference.

At the same meeting J. H. Hofmeyr, of South Africa, made
the remarkable suggestion that the various parts of the Empire
should levy a special tax of two per cent on foreign imports,
and that the revenue should be devoted to the general defence
of the Empire. No resolution was passed on this or any other
topic.

The second conference, held at Ottawa in 1894, considered
commercial relations and means of communication within the
Empire. It passed resolutions favouring the project of laying
a Pacific cable, establishing a monthly steamship service
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between Vancouver and Sydney, and customs arrangements
for promoting trade between Great Britain and her colonies.

The conference of 1897 was more formal than its predeces-
sors. It was held in London, and was presided over by
Joseph Chamberlain, the colonial secretary and an advanced
imperialist. The Canadian representative, Sir Wilfrid
Laurier, was the head of a new government which had adopted
a preferential tariff in favour of Great Britain. It was the
year of the Diamond Jubilee, the sixtieth year of the queen’s
reign, and the air was filled with imperial enthusiasm. The
membership of the conference was for the first time confined
to prime ministers, who, as they could command a majority
in their parliaments, felt a strong sense of responsibility for
any action taken in the conference. Chamberlain was eager
for an advance along imperial lines. He proposed that the
informal conference should give place to a great council of
the Empire. He raised the question of defence. But the
colonial representatives saw no necessity for an imperial
council, or for any change in the political construction of the
Empire, and they made no progress in regard to defence.
They favoured the granting of trade preferences by the colonies
to the United Kingdom, and asked for the denunciation of the
German and Belgian treaties which stood in the way.

At the next conference, in 1902, Chamberlain again pressed
for the creation of a council of the Empire, and also for the
assumption by the colonies of a greater share of the burden of de-
fence. The conference decided that its meetings should be held
atintervals not exceeding four years—a slight gain in formality
and regularity. The Australasian and South African colonies
agreed to contribute towards the general maintenance of the
navy, while Canada preferred a local naval force in Canadian
waters. At the same time the Canadian ministers declared
that they fully appreciated the obligation to make increased
expenditures for defence, corresponding with the growth of
the country, and to relieve the taxpayer in the United King-
dom. They expressed their willingness to co-operate with the
imperial authorities, and follow the advice of imperial officers,
so far as was consistent with local self-government. The
subject of inter-imperial trade was discussed. The conference



190 THE LAURIER REGIME, 1896-1911

decided that free trade within the Empire was not practicable,
but that the colonies should do their best to give preference
to the products of the United Kingdom. The imperial
government was also urged to give preferential treatment to
colonial products.

At the conference of 1907 the organization and construction
of the conference was very thoroughly discussed. There was
always a party in the conference that was moving consciously
or unconsciously towards the creation of a new imperial
government and imperial parliament. Its views had been
frankly expressed by Joseph Chamberlain in 1902, when he
suggested that the council which he proposed to substitute for
the conference should have executive functions and perhaps
legislative powers. Although the proposal was rejected in
1902 it was not abandoned. In April 1905 the Right Hon.
Alfred Lyttelton, representing the imperial government, sent
a dispatch to the colonial governments suggesting that the
name Imperial Council be substituted for Colonial Conference,
and that there should be a permanent commission, to which
the Imperial Council might refer questions for examination
and report. This commission would have an office in London
and an adequate secretarial staff, the cost of which His
Majesty’s government would defray.

The governments of Australia, Natal and the Cape
returned favourable answers. Canada’s reply was un-
favourable. The term ‘ council,’ said the Canadian govern-
ment, indicated a more formal assembly than ‘conference,’
and in conjunction with the word ‘imperial ’ suggested ‘a
permanent institution which, endowed with a continuous life,
might eventually come to be regarded as an encroachment
upon the full measure of autonomous legislation and ad-
ministrative power now enjoyed by all the self-governing
colonies.” Canada thought also that the proposed com-
mission might conceivably interfere with the working of
responsible government. Lyttelton then said that it would
be desirable to postpone the discussion until the next con-
ference. Meanwhile a change of government occurred in
England.

In the conference of 1907 resolutions favouring an imperial
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council and a secretariat were proposed by the Hon. Alfred
Deakin, prime minister of Australia. In the discussion
which ensued Sir Wilfrid Laurier pressed for a clear definition
of the functions of the secretariat. He pointed out that in the
intervals between the conferences the secretariat could not act
upon the suggestions of the colonial premiers, because these
would be absent in their own colonies. There would thus be
a tendency for the secretariat to become an independent body,
and to this he, like Lord Elgin, then secretary of state for
the Colonies, who presided, was opposed. The question was
settled by placing the secretariat under the colonial secretary.
The name of ‘conference’ was retained, and its work would be
to consider questions of common interest. Meetings were
to be held every four years ; subsidiary conferences might be
called for emergencies. The prime minister of the United
Kingdom, the secretary of state for the Colonies, and the
prime ministers of the self-governing dominions were desig-
nated as the ex-officio members of the conference ; the prime
minister of the United Kingdom, or in his absence the secretary
of state for the Colonies, should preside. Other members
besides prime ministers might take part in the discussion,
but each government would have only one vote. The pro-
vision for the secretariat was in these words :

That it is desirable to establish a system by which
the several Governments represented shall be kept
informed during the periods between the conferences in
regard to matters which have been or may be subjects
for discussion, by means of a permanent secretarial staff,
charged, under the direction of the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, with the duty of obtaining information
for the use of the Conference, of attending to its resolu-
tions, and of conducting correspondence on matters
relating to its affairs.

These resolutions of 1907 may be regarded as the written
constitution of the conference, if it may be said to possess a
constitution.

A liberal government, pledged to the maintenance of free
trade, was now in power in Great Britain, and this influenced
the discussion of trade questions. The Right Hon. Herbert H.



192 THE LAURIER REGIME, 1896-1911

Asquith said that the government could not consider any
arrangement which involved the abandonment of free trade.
He declared that free trade in England was not a dogma or a
shibboleth. It was based upon practical considerations.
The commercial predominance of Great Britain was due to
three causes: (1) to the industrial activity of the people ;
(2) to the profits derived from keeping open to the whole
world a great market, making London and England a centre
for the intermediate business of the commercial world ;
(3) to the earnings of shipping, which does the carrying trade
for more than half the world. Untaxed food and raw material
were essential. ¢ Curtail the source of supply, raise the cost
of supply, and you strike a deadly blow at the very foundations
of our industrial system.” As a result of the discussion the
conference reaffirmed the resolutions of 1902, recommending
the granting of preferences within the British Empire, the
British government dissenting in so far as it was implied that
the fiscal system of the United Kingdom should be altered.

In the discussions on naval defence the Hon. Alfred Deakin
for Australia and the Hon. Louis P. Brodeur for Canada spoke
strongly in favour of local control. Dr Smartt of South
Africa moved a resolution declaring it to be the duty of the
colonies to contribute to the British navy, either by a grant
of money or by local naval defence. Sir Wilfrid Laurier said
that he would be obliged to oppose the resolution, and it was
abandoned.

As to land defence the Right Hon. Richard Haldane, British
secretary for War, emphasized the necessity of organizing home
defence forces throughout the Empire on common lines, and
for this purpose recommended the creation of an imperial
general staff selected from the forces of the Empire as a whole,
to study military science, collect military information and
send it to the various governments, prepare schemes of com-
mon defence, and without interfering with local control, give
advice to such governments as request it. To this the
conference assented cordially, without committing any of the
governments represented.

At the conference of 1911 Sir Joseph Ward, prime minister
of New Zcaland, moved a resolution favouring the constitution
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of ‘an Imperial Council of State, with representatives from
all the constituent parts of the Empire, in theory and in fact
advisory to the Imperial Government, on all questions affect-
ing the interests of His Majesty’s Dominions overseas.” His
speech went farther than his resolution. His scheme was
virtually one of imperial federation, and he said that the body
he wished to see formed might be called an Imperial Parlia-
ment of Defence. This council or parliament would provide
for a uniform system of sea defence, and fix the contribution
to be made by each part of the Empire. He proposed that
the United Kingdom and the oversea dominions should elect
to the new parliament one representative for each two
hundred thousand of their people. He hoped that there
would be developed in this way, eventually, ¢ a true Imperial
Parliament’ with local autonomy for the national divisions
of the United Kingdom as well as for the dominions. This
far-reaching proposal took the conference by surprise, and
nearly every expression of opinion was adverse to the scheme.
H. H. Asquith, the president, said that it would impair the
authority of the government of the United Kingdom as to
foreign policies, treaties, peace and war. The resolution was
therefore withdrawn.

Sir Joseph Ward next made a proposal to reconstitute the
Colonial Office. He wanted the department of the Dominions
separated from that of the Crown Colonies, and each depart-
ment placed under a permanent under-secretary. He would
have had the Dominion department incorporated with the
staff of the secretariat already established in connection with
the conference. He proposed also that the high commissioners
of the dominions should attend meetings of the Committee of
Defence, consult with the foreign minister, and become the
sole channel of communication between the imperial and
dominion governments. In referring to these proposals Lewis
Harcourt, secretary of state for the Colonies, offered to set up
a Standing Committee of the Imperial Conference, which
would contain the secretary of state, the under-secretaries
and the high commissioners. Sir Wilfrid Laurier looked
doubtfully at the proposition, expressing himself as satisfied
with the existing means of communication between the home
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government and the dominion governments. The discussion
was postponed, in the hope that some agreement could be
made, but in the end no resolution was passed.

The Hon. Andrew Fisher, prime minister of Australia,
introduced the subject of the Declaration of London, an
international agreement regulating naval warfare. His re-
solution expressed regret that the dominions had not been
consulted, and also disapproval of article 24 of the Declaration
defining what foodstuffs were contraband of war, and of
articles 48 to 54 permitting the destruction of neutral vessels.

This resolution led to discussion on two lines—first, as to
the merits of the Declaration, and, secondly, as to the question
whether the colonies should be consulted in the negotiation
of treaties by the British government. As to the first Sir
Edward Grey, the British foreign minister, contended that
both as to foodstuffs and the sinking of neutral vessels there
was a clear gain for neutral powers. Sir Wilfrid Laurier said
as to foodstuffs : ‘ Up to the present time there has been no
law upon this point, except what was the will of a nation who
was the belligerent power. But now you have certain rules.
These rules seem to me to be extremely humane and in the
best interests of humanity. The rule as it is laid down is
that foodstuffs are not to be contraband of war unless for the
purpose of feeding the forces actually engaged in the war.’
He declared also that there was an improvement in the pro-
cedure for proving whether certain food is contraband of
war ; that the new rules were more favourable for neutrals.
He avowed his belief that ¢ the Declaration of London is
humane in every respect.” He flatly opposed the proposition
that the colonies ought to have been consulted before the
Declaration of London was agreed to. He said :

In the proposition which was moved by our colleagues
from Australia, especially as commented upon by Mr
Fisher, certain principles were laid down which seemed
to me to be very far reaching. If I understand him
correctly, the proposition he laid down was that the
Dominions should be consulted upon all treaties to be
negotiated by His Majesty. There are two sorts of
treaties between nations. First of all there are com-
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mercial treaties ; and secondly, there are treaties of
amity, which are calculated to prevent causes of war, or
to settle afterwards the effects of war. With regard to
commercial treaties, His Majesty’s government has
already adopted the practice of never including any of
the Dominions beyond the seas, except with their con-
sent. That implies consultation prior or afterwards.
Liberty is left to us to be included or not included in such
a treaty as that, and I think that is very satisfactory.

In Canada, I may say, we have gone further and
claimed the liberty of negotiating our own treaties of
commerce, and, so far, since the time we applied for this
privilege, which was given to us, of course the negotiations
have been carried on with the concurrence of the Foreign
Office in conjunction with the Ambassador, but at all
events our liberty was not restricted at all in that respect.

Coming now to the other class of treaties, which I
characterized as treaties of amity, it would seem to me
that it would be fettering, in many instances, the home
government-—the imperial authorities—very seriously,
if any of the outside Dominions were to be consulted as
to what they should do on a particular question. In
many cases, the nature of the treaty would be such that
it would only interest one of the Dominions. If it
interested them all, the imperial authorities would find
themselves seriously embarrassed if they were to receive
the advice of Australia in one way, the advice of New
Zealand in another way, and the advice of Canada,
perhaps in a third way. Negotiations have to be carried
on by certain diplomatic methods, and it is, I think, not
always safe for the party negotiating to at once put all
his cards on the tabie and let his opponent know exactly
what he is after.

I noticed particularly what was said by Mr Fisher a
moment ago, that the British Empire is a family of
nations, which is perfectly true ; but it must be recog-
nized that in that family of nations by far the greater
burden has to be carried on the shoulders of the govern-
ment of the United Kingdom. The diplomatic part of
the government of the Empire has of necessity to be
carried on by the government of the United Kingdom,
and that being so, I think it would be too much to say
that in all circumstances the Dominions beyond the seas
are to be consulted as far as the diplomatic negotiations
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are concerned. That is what I understand Mr Fisher to
desire.

After some conversation with the prime minister of
Australia, Sir Wilfrid Laurier resumed :

Yes, but now let us apply this general doctrine to the
Declaration of London. This is a thing which, in my
humble judgment, ought to be left altogether to the
responsibility of the government of the United Kingdom,
for this reason : This is a treaty which lays down certain
rules of war as to in what manner war is to be carried on
by the Great Powers of Europe. In my humble judg-
ment, if you undertake to be consulted and to lay down
a wish that your advice should be pursued as to the
manner in which the war is to be carried on, it implies of
necessity, that you should take part in that war. How
are you to give advice and insist upon the manner in
which war is to be carried on, unless you are prepared to
take the responsibility of going into the war ?

Mr? Fisher.—Do not we do that in a manner by coming
here ?

Sir Wilfrid Laurier.—No, we come here to discuss cer-
tain questions ; but there are questions which seem to
me to be eminently in the domain of the United Kingdom.
We may give advice if our advice is sought ; but if your
advice 1s sought, or if you tender it, I do not think the
United Kingdom can undertake to carry out this advice
unless you are prepared to back that advice with all
your strength, and take part in the war and insist upon
having the rules carried out according to the manner in
which you think the war should be carried out. We
have taken the position in Canada that we do not think
we are bound to take part in every war, and that our
fleet may not be called upon in all cases, and, therefore,
for my part, I think it is better under such circumstances
to leave the negotiations of these regulations as to the way
in which the war is to be carried on, to the chief partner
of the family, the one who has to bear the burden in part
on some occasions, and the whole burden on perhaps
other occasions.

The result of the discussion was, first, that the Treaty .
of London was ratified by the conference, upon the motion of {
the premier of New Zealand. All the delegates agreed except
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the prime minister of Australia, who abstained from voting.
Secondly, on the motion of Fisher, the following resolution
was passed unanimously :

(@) That the Dominions shall be afforded an oppor-
tunity of consultation when framing the instructions to
be given to British delegates at future meetings of the
Hague Conference, and that conventions affecting the
Dominions, provisionally assented to at that conference,
shall be circulated among the Dominion Governments
for their consideration before any such convention is
signed : (b) That a similar procedure, where time and
opportunity and the subject matter permit, shall as far
as possible be used when preparing instructions for the
negotiations of other international agreements affect-
ing the Dominions.

Passing to another topic, Sir Wilfrid Laurier moved a
resolution asking that ‘His Majesty’s government be re-
quested to open negotiations with the several foreign govern-
ments having treaties which apply to the Oversea Dominions,
with a view to securing liberty to any of those Dominions
which may so desire to withdraw from the operation of the
treaty without impairing the treaty in respect of the rest of
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